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NATURE OF THE CASE

Johnny Flournoy, petitioner-appellant, appeals from a judgment denying

him leave to file his successive petition for post-conviction relief.

An issue is raised concerning the sufficiency of the post-conviction pleadings.
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ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Whether Johnny Flournoy’s claim of actual innocence based on Romano

Ricks’s and Elizabeth Barrier’s affidavits is cognizable under the Post-Conviction

Hearing act even though these two affidavits are also the basis of Flournoy’s other

post-conviction claims.

2. Whether Johnny Flournoy’s successive post-conviction petition stated

a colorable claim of actual innocence based on newly discovered exculpatory

affidavits – one from a witness who recanted his testimony that Flournoy admitted

being the shooter, and one from a witness who would testify that Reginald Smith

confessed to her that he killed Sam Harlib.

3. Whether Johnny Flournoy’s petition also established cause and

prejudice at the leave-to-file stage that the State violated Flournoy’s due process

rights when it concealed evidence that Romano Ricks received consideration for

his cooperation and Ricks lied about Flournoy’s alleged admissions to Harlib’s

murder.

4. Whether Johnny Flournoy’s petition established cause and prejudice

at the leave-to-file stage that he was denied the effective assistance of trial counsel

based on information provided by Elizabeth Barrier showing that trial counsel

failed to interview her, even though she could have provided exculpatory evidence,

and misrepresented to the trial court that he had contacted and spoken with her.
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STATEMENT OF FACTS

Procedural Background

Johnny Flournoy was convicted of the November 14, 1991 first degree murder

of Samuel Harlib and the armed robbery of his used car dealership and sentenced

to a term of natural life. (C. 4, 33; C. 109; R. 960) His convictions and sentence

were affirmed on direct appeal. (C. 119) People v. Flournoy, Rule 23 Order, 1-94-4427

(November 15, 1996). Flournoy’s first post-conviction petition was dismissed at

the first stage on April 10, 1997. (C. 157, CI. 502, 596) The dismissal was affirmed.

People v. Flournoy, 1-97-1987 (June 30, 1999). The petition for leave to appeal

was denied on February 2, 2000. People v. Flournoy, No. 88505. (C. 235) The instant

petition presenting newly discovered evidence of actual innocence, and alleging

several other constitutional violations, was filed on February 21, 2021. (C. 155

et seq.) Attached to the petition, inter alia, were affidavits from Romano Ricks

and Elizabeth Barrier supporting Flournoy’s claims. (C. 303, 310) The circuit court

denied Johnny Flournoy leave to file his petition. (C. 329-54) The appellate court

affirmed the circuit court’s denial of leave to file. People v. Flournoy, 2022 IL App

(1st) 210587-U.

Trial

Incident

In November of 1991, Samuel Harlib was the owner of Ron/Mar Auto Sales,

a used car dealership located at 3845 N. Western Avenue, in Chicago. (R. 411)

Raphael Mendoza was employed there as a porter. (R. 411) Mendoza testified that

shortly after 5:30 p.m., on November 14, both he and Harlib were in the sales

office when he noticed a man looking at a car and went to talk to him. (R. 415)

The car the man was interested in needed a jumpstart. (R. 417)
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According to Mendoza, after he and Harlib started the car, Mendoza went

to put the jumper cables away, while Harlib headed toward the office with the

man. (R. 419-20) When Mendoza approached them, Harlib was laughing and asked

him to get the “slim jim” because he had accidentally locked the keys in the car with

the engine running. (R. 421) Mendoza went outside and unlocked the car. (R. 422)

As soon as Mendoza returned to the office, the man with Harlib pointed

a silver revolver at him and ordered him to sit down. (R. 424-25) According to

Mendoza, when he went to put the “slim jim” down, Harlib jumped for the gun

and it went off, firing into the floor. (R. 428) The offender then shot at Harlib

numerous times, grabbed money that was on the desk (between $1000 and $1500),

fired repeatedly in Mendoza’s direction, but did not hit him, and left. (R. 428-31)

Harlib subsequently died as a result of a single gunshot wound to the chest.

(R. 440, 657) 

Mendoza described the offender as dark-skinned, 5'8"or 5'9" tall, 175 to

180 pounds, in his late 20's or early 30's, and wearing a jean jacket, jean pants

and a snow hat. (R. 438, 458-59, 489) In November of 1991, Johnny Flournoy was

in his 40's, light-complected, weighed about 200 pounds, and was six feet tall.

(R. 459, 551-52, 699, 722) 

Officers Place Reginald Smith and Romano Ricks in Lineup

Steven Spritz, Harlib’s partner, testified that on the day after Harlib’s murder,

Reginald Smith came to the lot to make a payment on a car he had previously

purchased. (R. 402) Smith was dark-skinned, 5'6" and 160 pounds. (R. 466) He

paid one hundred dollars toward his two hundred and fifty dollar monthly payment,

even though it was not his regular payment date. (R. 402-03) Smith asked Spritz
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what had happened, and Spritz told him that there had been a robbery and that

Harlib had been shot. (R. 407)

On December 5, after speaking with a woman named Elizabeth Barrier,

whose name he obtained through an anonymous phone call, Detective Lawrence

Akin placed Smith and another man, Romano Ricks, in a lineup viewed by Mendoza.

(R. 538-39) Mendoza did not identify anyone as the shooter, but knew Smith as

an acquaintance of Harlib’s who had bought a car from him and came in periodically

to make payments. (R. 441, 465, 540, 554) After the lineup, Detective Akin told

Ricks that they were conducting an investigation, gave him a card, and asked

him to call if he heard anything unusual. (R. 566) Ricks did not provide any

information about the murder to Akin at that time. (R. 561)

Romano Ricks Contacts Detective Akin, and Johnny Flournoy Becomes a Suspect

Two months later, in February 1992, Akin said that Ricks contacted him

from jail to provide information about the shooting because he wanted to be placed

in protective custody. (R. 562) Ricks never told Akin that Flournoy admitted to

him that he shot Harlib, but only relayed information that he said Reggie Smith

had told him. (R. 562, 569) Ricks signed a written statement on March 6, 1992,

attesting that Smith, not Flournoy, told him information about the offense.

(R. 563-64)

At trial, Ricks testified that he actually learned about the shooting

from Flournoy himself, not from Reggie Smith. (R. 585-89) Ricks said that in

October 1991, he was living in Detroit where he met Flournoy for the first time

through his friend Nate. (R. 577-78) At this first meeting, Flournoy lent Ricks

five hundred dollars. (R. 579-80) On November 21, 1991, Ricks came to Chicago
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for Flournoy’s wedding. After the wedding, Flournoy asked Ricks to pay his debt.

(R. 580-82; 616-17) When Ricks did not have the money, Flournoy told Ricks that

he could pay his debt by committing an armed robbery. (R. 583) When Ricks refused,

Flournoy moved his coat to the side to show Ricks that he had a gun, and told

Ricks he did not have a choice. (R. 584) 

Ricks said that in the course of explaining how to commit an armed robbery,

Flournoy told him not to pull his gun, and then admitted firing his weapon at

a guy during a recent robbery at a “car place” he committed with “Reginald”.

(R. 585-89) Later that day, Ricks and Reggie Smith were arrested for an October

armed robbery of a Jewel grocery store in Blue Island. (R. 590-91) The December 5

lineup that Mendoza viewed was held after Ricks’s and Smith’s arrests. (R. 591)

A few weeks later, while Ricks was in jail for the Jewel grocery store robbery,

someone tried to stab him with a small shiv. (R. 593) He thought Flournoy had

ordered the attack because he refused Flournoy’s request to take the fall for the

armed robbery case to save Smith from a long prison term. (R. 621) Ricks was

not injured during the attack because after he refused Flournoy’s request, he had

begun wearing a homemade protective vest fashioned from magazines. (R. 620)

It was after the stabbing attempt and threat that Ricks contacted Detective Akin

to give him information about the shooting at the car dealership, and only in

exchange for being placed in protective custody. (R. 592-93; 605-07) Ricks never

mentioned that he received any other consideration, such as help with sentencing

on his armed robbery case, in exchange for his testimony. He said he only testified

to “see justice done.” (R. 609-10)

After Ricks spoke with Akin, Flournoy became a suspect in Harlib’s murder.

Flournoy was arrested on March 5, 1992. (R. 541) He was placed in a line up.
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(R. 544-46) Mendoza was brought in from a separate room, and identified Flournoy

as the shooter. (R. 441) Mendoza also identified Flournoy in court at trial. (R. 415) 

The Defense Presents Several Alibi Witnesses

Flournoy’s wife, Cathy, provided an alibi for the day of the armed robbery.

She said that her husband picked her up at 3:25 p.m. and they went to a bar called

Cheers, ran various errands, went to Flournoy’s mother’s house and got home

at 5:20 p.m. (R. 687-695) Cathy’s daughter, Laura, was home and went with Flournoy

to run another errand. (R. 695-96) Cathy said Flournoy did not drink while he

was at Cheers, that he rarely drank, that he did not wear or own jeans, and that

he was wearing a suit on November 14. (R. 690-95) These facts were corroborated

by Herbert Webb, the night manager at Cheers. (R.728-29) Flournoy’s mother,

Bertha, testified that he and Cathy were at her house that day. (R. 735-36)

Laura and another step-daughter, Roberta, confirmed that Cathy and

Flournoy arrived home on November 14, 1991 just after 5:10 p.m., and that Laura

left with Johnny about 10 or 15 minutes later. (R. 718-720; 741-42; 757) According

to Laura, they ran some errands related to Flournoy’s perfume business. They

stopped at two restaurants and a Baskin Robbins. (R. 743-45) They did not go

to a car dealership, and they were home by 7:10. (R. 747, 757)

Johnny Earl Lewandowski, Flournoy’s boss in the perfume business, testified

Johnny Flournoy arrived at the 124th and Harlem office at 5:30 or 5:35 p.m., and

left between 5:45 and 5:50 p.m. (R. 763-765) He said that Flournoy normally wore

suits, that he was always a very sharp dresser, and that he never saw him wear

blue jeans. (R. 766)

The State presented rebuttal evidence that in March of 1992, Cathy and

Laura told police that they did not know where Flournoy was on November 14, 1991.
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The State presented additional rebuttal evidence that Roberta Hughes, Herb Webb,

and John Lewandowski previously said that they did not know where Flournoy

was on November 14, 1991. (R. 798-803)

Verdict, Post-Trial Motion, and Sentence

During deliberations, the jurors requested Romano Ricks’s written statement -

because they wanted to know exactly what Ricks said in the statement - as well

as a transcript of Mendoza’s testimony. (C. 385-386) The court responded that

the jury had all the evidence before it and instructed the jury to continue to

deliberate. (C. 385, 387) After further deliberations, the jury found Johnny Flournoy

guilty of first degree murder and armed robbery, but not guilty of the attempt

murder of Mendoza. (CI. 4, 33; C. 109; R. 960)

Flournoy filed a pro se post-trial motion alleging, inter alia, that trial counsel

was ineffective when he failed to call Reginald Smith and Elizabeth Barrier as

witnesses. (CI. 328-347, R. 1171) In response, trial counsel explained to the court

that he had located Barrier in Florida and spoken with her. He determined that

her testimony would only have been helpful to impeach Smith’s testimony if the

defense had called Smith, and he testified to something other than what the defense

wanted him to say. However, the defense did not call Smith because a lot of what

he said would have been damaging to Flournoy. (R. 1178-79) The trial judge denied

the motion for new trial without comment. (R. 1179) The jury initially rejected

a death sentence. (CI. 395) After a hearing before the judge, Flournoy was sentenced

to a term of natural life. (CI. 377)

Direct Appeal and Post-Conviction Proceedings

Flournoy’s conviction was affirmed on direct appeal. People v. Flournoy,

Rule 23 Order, 1-94-4427 (November 15, 1996). Flournoy filed a post conviction
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petition alleging, inter alia, that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to call

Elizabeth Barrier as a witness and failing to impeach Romano Ricks and Detective

Akin regarding statements Ricks allegedly made to Akin. (CI. 502-03, 516, 520, 526)

The only affidavit attached to the petition was Flournoy’s and there were no

affidavits provided from either Ricks or Barrier. (CI. 544) The first-stage dismissal

of this initial post-conviction petition was affirmed. People v. Flournoy, 1-97-1987

(June 30, 1999). (C. 219) Petition for leave to appeal was denied on February 2,

2000. People v. Flournoy, No. 88505. (C. 235)

The Instant Petition

On February 21, 2021, Flournoy filed a successive petition presenting newly

discovered evidence of actual innocence based on affidavits provided by Romano

Ricks and Elizabeth Barrier. (C. 155, 172-76, 303-08, 310-14) These affidavits

were obtained after Flournoy secured the assistance of legal counsel with the

resources to obtain evidence. (C. 316-18) Based on information in these affidavits,

Flournoy also claimed that the State fabricated the evidence that constituted

Romano Ricks’s testimony and concealed exculpatory evidence involving whether

Ricks negotiated for leniency in exchange for his testimony. (C. 177-79) Flournoy’s

third claim was that the State knowing relied on perjured testimony in its case-in-

chief at trial. (C. 179-80) Finally, Flournoy claimed that trial counsel was ineffective

for failing to interview Barrier, a potentially exculpatory witness that counsel

knew had been interviewed by the State, and for misrepresenting to the trial court

that he had spoken to Barrier prior to trial and decided not to call her. (C. 180-81)

In support of the Brady claim, in addition to the aforementioned affidavits, Flournoy

attached three police reports, a written statement given by Ricks in March of 1991,

and Detective Akin’s testimony at Flournoy’s federal parole revocation hearing
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in July of 1992. (C. 238, 240, 246, 248, 264) Additional support for the ineffective

assistance of counsel claim was provided by an ARDC disposition disbarring trial

counsel. (C. 322)

Romano Ricks’s Affidavit

In his affidavit, Ricks said he met Johnny Flournoy and Reggie Smith through

a mutual friend. (C. 303) Ricks participated in an armed robbery with Smith and

two other men. (C. 304) After his arrest, he was approached by some people asking

him to take the fall for the robbery so that his co-defendants could go free, and

he refused. (C. 303) He was put in a lineup with Smith, and after that lineup,

was questioned by Detective Akin about Sam Harlib’s murder. Akin described

the murder to him and Ricks said he knew nothing about it. (C. 303)

After he spoke with Akin, he was beaten by fellow jail inmates because

he would not take responsibility for the robbery. He thought either Smith or

Flournoy had ordered the beating. (C. 305) After he was assaulted again, he called

Akin and told him he was willing to help with the murder investigation. (C. 306)

Detective Akin had Ricks brought to the station and told Ricks how the

shooting occurred. (C. 306) Ricks told the detective that Reggie Smith had confessed

that he and Flournoy planned the armed robbery together. (C. 306) Sometime

later, Akin told Ricks “that they could not bring a case against Johnny unless

[Ricks] testified that Johnny [– not Reggie Smith –] told [Ricks] about being involved

in the murder.” (C. 307) (emphasis added) Ricks then “made up” a story about

Johnny telling him that he and Reggie had robbed a car dealer and Johnny shot

the owner. (C. 307)
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In his affidavit, Ricks swore that neither of these stories were true – Smith

never told Ricks that he and Flournoy committed this offense together and Flournoy

did not make any admissions. Ricks said he only implicated Johnny “because I

believed that he was involved in ordering the attacks of me at jail, and I was angry

at him.” (C. 306) He also swore he “specifically asked Detective Akin if he could

help ... on [his] pending armed robbery case. Detective Akin [responded] that he

couldn’t ‘officially’ help [Ricks], but that he would see what he could do to get me

a lesser sentence. He also told me that he would help me get into a work release

program.” (C. 307)

In the final paragraph of his affidavit, Ricks explained that he was aware

he was risking a potential perjury charge: 

I have consulted with attorney Paul DeLuca, 1S450 Summit Avenue,

Suite 140, Oakbrook Terrace, Illinois, regarding this affidavit.

Mr. DeLuca has informed me of the potential penalties for a perjury

conviction. Mr. DeLuca has agreed to represent me pro bono in any

legal proceedings arising horn this affidavit. Nevertheless, I am

coming forward with this information because I feel guilty about

testifying falsely against Johnny at his trial.

(C. 308)

Elizabeth Barrier’s Affidavit

Barrier met Reggie Smith in a rehabilitation program in the early 1990's.

He was 5'8" tall, 180 pounds, dark-skinned, and had dark curly hair and a

moustache. He came to her home one night in November of 1991, bringing cocaine

and heroin. (C. 311) He told her he had recently robbed a used car dealership and

shot the owner in front of his safe. (C. 311) Barrier explained that, if she told police

that Smith confessed to committing the offenses with Flournoy, as reflected in

a police report, that was not the truth. (C. 312) She said she was unavailable to
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testify at trial because she had slipped back into addiction, moved to Florida, and

was a vagrant. (C. 312) She never heard of Johnny Flournoy until she was contacted

by an investigator on his behalf. (RC. 313) She was unaware that Flournoy had

been prosecuted for the murder of the car dealer Smith confessed to committing

and she had assumed that Smith had been the one convicted. (R. 313) 

To that end, Barrier denied trial counsel’s representation, made at the post-

trial Krankel hearing, that he talked to her prior to trial. (C. 312-313) She reviewed

the transcript where trial counsel McCaffrey stated in open court that he found

Barrier in Florida after speaking with her parents, that he had spoken with Barrier

on the phone, and that she was present and prepared to testify at trial. (C. 313)

These were all lies because her parents did not know where she was, she did not

have a phone, she was never contacted by McCaffrey about testifying, and she

was not present and ready to testify at Flournoy’s trial. (C. 313)

Denial of Leave to File

The circuit court denied leave to file, finding no cause and prejudice for

the constitutional claims, and determining that the affidavits did not constitute

newly discovered evidence that would change the result on retrial. (C. 358-63,

R. 1199) The appellate court affirmed, holding that Flournoy could not allege actual

innocence and other constitutional claims based on the same new evidence. The

court went on to address the merits of Flournoy’s claims and found that for the

actual innocence claim, Flournoy did not establish that the new evidence would

change the result on retrial, and, for the other constitutional claims, he did not

meet the cause and prejudice test at the leave-to-file stage. People v. Flournoy,

2022 Il App (1st) 210587-U, ¶¶ 42, 46, 62, 67-68.

This Court granted leave to appeal on March 29, 2023.
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ARGUMENT

I.

Johnny Flournoy’s Claim of Actual Innocence Based on
Romano Ricks’s and Elizabeth Barrier’s Affidavits is
Cognizable Under the Post-Conviction Hearing Act Even
Though These Two Affidavits also Form the Basis of Flournoy’s
Other Post-Conviction Claims.

In his successive post-conviction petition, Johnny Flournoy presented newly

discovered evidence of his actual innocence in the form of affidavits from Romano

Ricks, the State’s key witness at trial, and Elizabeth Barrier, a witness who did

not testify. These affidavits would prove that Ricks testified falsely that Flournoy

confessed to the shooting, and that the shooting was actually committed by Reggie

Smith. In addition to his claim of actual innocence, Flournoy also relied on these

affidavits to support several other constitutional claims – claims that the State

committed a Brady violation and that trial counsel was ineffective. The appellate

court affirmed the circuit court’s denial of leave to file, in part holding that Flournoy

could not allege his actual innocence along with his other constitutional claims

based on the same newly discovered evidence. People v. Flournoy, 2022 IL App

(1st) 210587-U, ¶¶ 29-30. In so holding, the appellate court relied on this Court’s

opinion in People v. Hobley, 182 Ill.2d 404, 443-44 (1998). 

The appellate court’s decision is contrary to this Court’s holding in People

v. Washington, 171 Ill. 2d 475 (1996) – in which this Court for the first time

recognized that Illinois defendants had the right to raise a claim of actual innocence

in a post-conviction petition as a violation of due process – as well as more recent

decisions of this Court such as People v. Coleman, 2013 IL 113307 (2013). This

Court’s precedent establishes, and fundamental principles of due process demand,

that a petitioner should not be forced to choose which of two constitutional

claims to raise just because they were based upon the same piece of evidence.
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Accordingly, the dismissal of Johnny Flournoy’s petition should be reversed and

this cause remanded for second-stage post-conviction proceedings.

The question posed here appeared to have been resolved years ago in

Washington, 171 Ill. 2d at 475. In that case, the defendant, who had been convicted

of murder, filed a post-conviction petition alleging that his trial attorney was

ineffective for failing to investigate evidence that someone other than him had

committed the murder. 171 Ill. 2d at 479. This claim was supported by affidavit.

After an in camera hearing where the affiant testified, Washington amended his

petition with a claim of actual innocence based on her testimony, which constituted

newly discovered evidence. Id. at 478-79. The appellate court dispensed with the

ineffective assistance claim on the grounds that trial counsel testified that he

could not get hold of the witness in question and, in light of a strong alibi defense,

exercised reasonable trial strategy in not investigating this witness further.

However, the court found that defendant’s actual innocence claim warranted further

review. Id. This Court agreed with petitioner that this same evidence was the

basis of an entirely new “actual innocence” post-conviction claim, which this Court

held required a new trial. Id. at 489-90. 

In affirming the lower court’s order remanding the case for a new trial,

the Washington Court characterized defendant’s actual innocence claim as

“freestanding.” However, the Court used this term only to distinguish it from his

ineffective-assistance claim, his other claim that was supported by the same newly

discovered evidence: 

[t]he issue is not whether the evidence at trial was insufficient to

convict Washington beyond a reasonable doubt. The appellate court

rejected that challenge on direct appeal. The issue is whether

Washington’s claim of newly discovered evidence can be raised in a

petition under the Post–Conviction Hearing Act to entitle Washington

to a new trial.
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Id. at 479. In making the distinction, the Washington Court never intended to

prohibit a petitioner from raising both types of claims based on this same evidence.

Rather, recognizing that in Herrera v. Collins, 506 U.S. 390 (1993) the United

States Supreme Court rejected the notion that a “free-standing” claim of innocence,

rather than a “gateway” claim, was a cognizable post-conviction claim under federal

law, the Washington Court held that under our State constitution, Illinois petitioners

had greater due process rights than under the Federal Constitution. Id. at 487-88.

In its analysis, the Washington Court looked to the language of the Illinois

Constitution – that no person “shall be deprived of life, liberty or property without

due process of law.” Ill. Const. 1970, art. I, § 2. This Court recognized that this

language did not differ from the Federal Constitution, but found that it was under

no constraint to follow federal precedent in “lockstep.” Id at 485; People v. McCauley,

163 Ill.2d 414, 440 (1994); Oregon v. Hass (1975), 420 U.S. 714, 719 (1975) (It

is unquestionable that State courts have the authority to interpret their respective

constitutional provisions more broadly than United States Supreme Court

interpretations of similar Federal constitutional provisions). The Washington Court

concluded “that ignoring a claim of actual innocence based on newly discovered

evidence would be ‘fundamentally unfair’ as a matter of procedural due process.”

171 Ill. 2d at 487. The Court also determined that imprisonment of the innocent

would so shock the conscience as to implicate substantive due process. Id. at 487-88.

But, the Washington Court never held that a defendant was required to choose

between bringing an actual innocence claim and raising another constitutional

challenge, one at the expense of the other, where both claims rested upon the same

evidence. See People v. Harris, 206 Ill. 2d 283, 301-13 (2002) (addressing petitioner’s

-15-

129353

SUBMITTED - 23874244 - Rachel Davis - 8/8/2023 1:48 PM



claims of actual innocence and ineffective assistance of counsel beoth based on

affidavits supporting petitioner’s alibi defense).

Nevertheless, in People v. Hobley, 182 Ill. 2d 404 (1998), this Court read

the opinion in Washington as intending to force post-conviction petitioners to choose

among claims based on the same evidence. This was a misreading and misapplication

of Washington. In Hobley, the petitioner was convicted of first degree murder and

arson for allegedly setting a gasoline fire that killed seven people. 182 Ill. 2d at 426.

Hobley consistently maintained his innocence throughout trial and all post-trial

proceedings. In a post-conviction petition, he argued that the State had committed

a Brady violation for suppressing a fingerprint report on the gasoline can that

it introduced into evidence at defendant’s trial, suppressing a second gasoline

can found at the scene of the fire, and destroying said can after defense counsel

demanded its production during post-conviction proceedings. Id. at 428-29. He

also raised an actual innocence claim based on this same evidence. In rejecting

petitioner’s actual innocence claim while remanding his Brady claim for further

proceedings, Justice Bilandic, writing for the Court, created the artificial construct

that Hobley could not raise a claim of actual innocence based on the same evidence

as his due process claim. Id. at 443-44.1The Hobley Court purported to follow a

purported rule it believed was established in Washington, limiting the types of

actual-innocence claims a petitioner can raise to “free-standing” claims, i.e., those

not supported by evidence also relied upon as a basis for other constitutional claims.

171 Ill. 2d at 447-48. Again, as previously explained, Washington established no

1 It should be noted that the petitioner in Hobley was subsequently found to be
actually innocent. https://tinyurl.com/mhobley  
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such rule. Furthermore, to read Washington in this way would thwart this Court’s

reading of the Illinois Constitution to provide greater due process than the Federal

Constitution. Washington, 171 Ill. 2d at 487-88.

Notably, despite the decision in Hobley, a line of appellate court decisions

correctly recognizes that a petitioner may plead and argue a claim of actual

innocence along with other claims of constitutional violations. See e.g., People

v. Williams, 2012 IL App (1st ) 111145, ¶41 (defendant made a substantial showing

of freestanding claim of actual innocence” based on new evidence that also supported

a Brady claim); People v. Lofton, 2011 IL App (1st) 100118, ¶ 33 (actual innocence

claim was “legitimate,” even where same evidence was alleged to support an

ineffectiveness claim); People v. Sparks, 393 Ill. App. 3d 878, 882, 887 (1st Dist. 2009)

(reversing dismissal of petition seeking relief on actual innocence claim, though

same affidavit also used to support Brady claim); People v. Tate, 2012 IL 112214,

¶¶ 17, 23-25, 29 (reversing dismissal of petition seeking relief on both theories

supported by the same affidavits; although the court reversed only on the basis

of cause and prejudice, it made no mention of either a freestanding requirement

or of any deficiency stemming from the overlapping evidence).

Moreover, in People v. Coleman , 2013 IL 113307 (2013), this Court affirmed

and clarified its holding in Washington and resolved any confusion caused by the

opinion in Hobley regarding whether petitioners may base an actual innocence

claim on the same evidence as other constitutional claims. In Coleman, the State

again urged this Court to adopt the “freestanding”/“gateway” dichotomy that prevails

in federal law when analyzing claims of actual innocence based on newly discovered

evidence. Coleman, 2013 IL 113307, ¶¶ 85-89. This Court rejected the State’s
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proposal, stating, “The State simply assumes that this court, like the United States

Supreme Court, has recognized two types of actual-innocence claims. We have

not.” Id. at ¶ 89. Rather, the Court explained, “[w]e departed from precisely this

approach in Washington”:

The assumptions that led the Court to distinguish between

freestanding and gateway claims, and the legal construct that springs

from those assumptions, are integral parts of the federal due process

rubric that we declined to follow, as a matter of state constitutional

law. We may have used the label “freestanding” to describe the claim

in Washington, but not as an alternative to the label “gateway.”

Id. at ¶ 90. To make the matter even clearer, this Court stated:

In Illinois, a postconviction actual-innocence claim is just that—a

postconviction actual-innocence claim. Where a defendant makes a

claim of trial error, as well as a claim of actual innocence, in a

successive postconviction petition, the former claim must meet the

cause-and-prejudice standard, and the latter claim must meet the

Washington standard. See Ortiz, 235 Ill.2d at 330, 336 Ill.Dec. 16,

919 N.E.2d 941 (“where a defendant sets forth a claim of actual

innocence in a successive postconviction petition, the defendant is

excused from showing cause and prejudice”). There is no anomaly

in our case law because the evidentiary burden for an actual-innocence

claim is always the same whether or not it would be considered a

freestanding or gateway claim under federal law.

Id. at ¶ 91 (emphasis added). This Court concluded by saying, “An actual-innocence

claim should be treated procedurally like any other postconviction claim.” Id. at ¶ 92.

That is the exact point made in People v. Martinez, where the appellate court noted,

“Coleman’s explanation of a freestanding actual innocence claim contemplates

that the claims be independent, not that the actual innocence claim be independent
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of the evidence underlying his other constitutional claim or trial error.” 2021 IL

App (1st) 190490, ¶ 104 (emphasis in original).

In Martinez, the defendant appealed from the dismissal of a successive

postconviction petition that alleged constitutional violations and actual innocence.

2021 IL App (1st) 190490, ¶ 2.The claims derived from the same underlying evidence,

namely, evidence of a police detective’s pattern and practice of engaging in

misconduct and new expert testimony regarding witness identification. Id. at ¶ 46.

In holding that the defendant can raise both claims, the Martinez court

acknowledged Hobley, but determined that Hobley “deviated from both the spirit

and the letter of the law as set forth in Washington.” Id. at ¶ 102. Furthermore,

Hobley identified “no principle or purpose” that prohibited “a defendant from using

the same evidence to assert both a constitutional claim of trial error and an actual

innocence claim.” Id. The Martinez court also noted that Hobley was inconsistent

with Coleman. Id. at ¶ 104; See also People v. Danao, 2022 IL App (1st) 210287-U,

¶¶ 61-64 (recognizing that pursuant to Coleman, 2013 IL 113307, ¶83 and Martinez,

2021 IL App (1st) 190490, ¶104, petitioner’s claims must be independent, but

not the actual innocence claim need not be independent of the evidence underlying

any other constitutional claim of error).2

In affirming the dismissal of Flournoy’s petition, the court below found

that the discussion in Coleman rejecting the State’s request to adopt the federal

dichotomy between freestanding and gateway claims had no relevance to this

case, and did not overrule Hobley. First, Coleman is relevant here where, in

2 As required by this Court’s Rule 23(e)(1), a copy of People v. Danao, 2022 IL App
(1st) 210287-U is furnished in the Appendix to this brief. Ill. S. Ct. R. 23(e)(1)
(eff. Feb. 1, 2023). (App. at A-66-85)

-19-

129353

SUBMITTED - 23874244 - Rachel Davis - 8/8/2023 1:48 PM



confirming that Illinois does not recognize the legal construct of “free-standing”

and “gateway” claims of actual innocence, the Coleman Court affirmed that a

petitioner can argue his actual innocence along with his other constitutional claims,

but each claim had to meet a different legal threshold to survive. 2013 IL 113307,

¶ 90, 91. Next, to the extent that Hobley does conflict with Washington and Coleman,

that conflicting portion should be overruled. See People v. Sharpe, 216 Ill.2d 481

(2005). In Sharpe, this Court abandoned cross-comparison analysis when evaluating

proportionate penalty sentencing claims. In so holding, the Sharpe Court discussed

principles of stare decisis and determined that departing from those principles

was justified because the governing decisions relied on a questionable citation

that was never supported by any reasoning other than stating that the court has

used it in several cases. 216 Ill. 2d at 520-21. Similarly, in this case, the Hobley

Court’s declaration forcing a petitioner to choose between two constitutional claims

was an artificial construct that was not well-reasoned and, as explained herein,

did not derive from this Court’s holding in Washington. Moreover, to restrict

Washington in this way would be antithetical to its holding giving petitioners

“additional process.” 171 Ill. 2d at 487.

Indeed, a rule that requires a defendant to forgo one constitutional claim

in order to present another would violate federal due process. A State cannot

require someone “to forfeit one constitutionally protected right as the price for

exercising another.” Lefkowitz v. Cunningham, 431 U.S. 801, 805 (1977); see Legal

Servs. Corp. v. Velazquez, 531 U.S. 533, 546 (2001). U.S. Const. Amends. V, XIV.

The State of Illinois therefore cannot condition a defendant’s ability to raise an

innocence claim on his relinquishment of his right to argue constitutionally-based

-20-

129353

SUBMITTED - 23874244 - Rachel Davis - 8/8/2023 1:48 PM



fair trial claims. See Dist. Attorney’s Office for Third Judicial Dist. v. Osborne,

557 U.S. 52, 68 (2009) (state post-conviction laws that allow a petitioner to raise

a claim of innocence creates a “liberty interest” in fair procedures, and must comport

with due process). As Washington and Coleman demonstrate, this Court created

no such rule. 

Moreover, barring petitioners from raising certain constitutional claims

in a petition contradicts the language of the Post-Conviction Hearing Act itself.

The Act limits a petitioner to one petition, with few exceptions. 725 ILCS 5/122-3;

People v. Flores, 153 Ill.2d 264, 273 (1992). Thus, under the Hobley rule, a petitioner,

oftentimes representing himself, who discovers new evidence that both supports

his actual innocence as well as another constitutional claim, would be forced to

forgo one of these claims in his petition. This is untenable and would represent

an anomaly in criminal jurisprudence where the same evidence often supports

more than one claim or defense. For instance, at a murder trial, the same evidence

can support defendant’s acquittal by self-defense, or a conviction for second degree

murder, a lesser offense based on imperfect self-defense. 720 ILCS 5/3-2; 5/9-1(a);

5/9-2(a)(2), 5/7-1.

In the post-conviction context, Washington itself is illustrative. In Washington,

the petitioner’s allegation of ineffective assistance of counsel for failure to interview

a witness was based on that witness’s testimony, which also supported his innocence

claim. Washington, 171 Ill. 2d at 479. Similarly, the same evidence can support

a Brady claim and an actual innocence claim. The difference between each claim

is the standard by which they are decided. An actual innocence claim must be

based on “new, material, noncumulative evidence that is so conclusive that it would

probably change the result on retrial.” Coleman, 2013 IL 113307 at ¶ 96.
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An alternative constitutional claim raised in a successive post-conviction petition

warrants leave to file if the petitioner can show why he did not raise the claim

earlier and he was prejudiced by the constitutional violation. Notwithstanding

whether the basis for these two claims is the same, it is for the court to determine

which of petitioner’s claims, if any, has merit. See People v. Jarrett, 399 Ill. App. 3d

715 (1st Dist. 2010) (addressing post-conviction petitioner’s Brady and newly-

discovered evidence claims based on the discovery of witness who saw an individual

point a gun at petitioner); People v. Harris, 206 Ill.2d 293 (2002) (addressing

petitioner’s claims of actual innocence and ineffective assistance of counsel both

based on affidavits supporting petitioner’s alibi defense).

 In conclusion, the appellate court’s decision in this case which deprived

Johnny Flournoy the opportunity to argue all of his constitutional claims, including

actual innocence, does not comport with the holding and spirit of this Court’s decision

in Washington, and runs contrary to this Court’s holding in Coleman. Moreover,

to limit a petitioner’s rights to bring claims in this manner is contradicted by

statutory language and federal constitutional law, and is bad public policy.

Therefore, this Court should reverse the appellate court’s holding that Johnny

Flournoy was barred from raising all of his constitutional claims in a successive

petition.
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II.

Where Johnny Flournoy’s Successive Post-Conviction Petition
Stated a Colorable Claim of Actual Innocence Based on Newly
Discovered Exculpatory Affidavits - One from a Witness Who
Recanted his Testimony that Flournoy Admitted Being the
Shooter, and One from a Potential Witness Who Would Testify
that Reginald Smith Confessed to her That He Killed Harlib -
the Circuit Court Erred in Denying Him Leave to File his
Successive Post-Conviction Petition.

Johnny Flournoy was convicted of shooting Samuel Harlib during an armed

robbery at a car dealership. At trial, the State’s case against Flournoy rested in

significant part on the testimony of Romano Ricks, who testified that Flournoy

admitted to him that he was the shooter. In his successive post-conviction petition,

Flournoy alleged his actual innocence. In support, Flournoy attached the newly

discovered exculpatory affidavits of Ricks and Elizabeth Barrier. In his affidavit,

Ricks recanted his trial testimony that Flournoy made admissions to him about

the offense. In her affidavit, Barrier swore that her friend Reginald Smith confessed

to the shooting, and, contrary to his representations, defense counsel never contacted

her to testify. These affidavits, when viewed alongside the trial evidence, support

Flournoy’s claim of actual innocence. 

The appellate court determined that the evidence was not so conclusive

so as to lead to a different result on retrial. People v. Flournoy, 2022 IL App (1st)

210587-U, ¶ 39. The court found that Ricks’ affidavit would not probably lead

to a different result and that Barrier’s affidavit only negated the intentional and

knowing murder charges, not the felony murder charge, as it said nothing about

Flournoy’s participation in the robbery. Flournoy, at ¶ 45. The appellate court’s

conclusions as to these issues are wrong. Accordingly, this Court should reverse

the appellate court’s affirmance of the circuit court’s denial of leave to file Flournoy’s

successive post-conviction petition.

-23-

129353

SUBMITTED - 23874244 - Rachel Davis - 8/8/2023 1:48 PM



The Post-Conviction Hearing Act (“Act”) provides a statutory remedy for

criminal defendants who claim their constitutional rights were violated at trial.

People v. Edwards, 2012 IL 111711, ¶21; 725 ILCS 5/122-1 et seq. The Act

contemplates only one post-conviction proceeding, but a petitioner may seek leave

to file a successive post-conviction petition if he states a colorable claim of actual

innocence, Edwards, 2012 IL 111711, ¶¶22, 28. People v. Robinson, 2020 IL 123849,

¶¶ 44; 725 ILCS 5/122-1(f). In order to be successful, a claim of actual innocence

must be based on evidence that is “newly discovered; material and not merely

cumulative; and of such conclusive character that it would probably change the

result on retrial.” People v. Ortiz, 235 Ill. 2d 319, 333 (2009). Leave to file a claim of

actual innocence “should be denied only where it is clear from a review of the petition

and supporting documentation that, as a matter of law, the petition cannot set

forth a colorable claim of actual innocence.” People v. Robinson, 2020 IL 123849, ¶ 44. 

In Robinson, 2020 IL 123849, this Court set the standard for when newly

discovered evidence establishes a colorable claim of actual innocence to survive the

leave-to-file stage. Citing People v. Coleman, 2013 IL 113307, ¶ 97, this Court held, 

Ultimately, the question is whether the evidence supporting the

postconviction petition places the trial evidence in a different light

and undermines the court’s confidence in the judgment of guilt. The

new evidence need not be entirely dispositive to be likely to alter

the result on retrial. [citations omitted]. Probability, rather than

certainty, is the key in considering whether the fact finder would reach

a different result after considering the prior evidence along with the

new evidence.

Robinson, 2020 IL 123849, ¶ 48 (emphasis added). Moreover, neither the rule

against hearsay nor an affidavit’s tendency to conflict with trial evidence should

-24-

129353

SUBMITTED - 23874244 - Rachel Davis - 8/8/2023 1:48 PM



be considered when evaluating whether the new evidence would probably change

the result on retrial. Id. at ¶¶ 73, 77-78. Rather, “the well-pleaded allegations

in the petition and supporting documents will be accepted as true unless it is

affirmatively demonstrated by the record that a trier of fact could never accept

their veracity.” 2020 IL 123849, ¶¶60, 65. When determining the meaning and

application of “taken as true,” it is not enough to assume the truth of an allegation

that certain evidence could have been presented or a witness would have testified

a certain way; rather, it must further be assumed that this evidence would have

been accepted by the jury as true. People v. Brooks, 2021 IL App (4th) 200572,

¶ 44. And, at this stage, “the court is precluded from making factual and credibility

determinations.” Id. ¶ 45; People v. Warren, 2016 IL App (1st) 090884-C, ¶77;

People v. Coleman, 183 Ill. 2d 366, 372 (1998). The decision whether to grant leave

to file is reviewed de novo. Robinson, 2020 IL 123849, ¶ 39.

Johnny Flournoy’s petition presented a colorable claim of actual innocence

based on information contained in two affidavits that presented new, material,

and non-cumulative evidence, not rebutted by the record, that puts the trial evidence

in a completely different light. At the leave-to-file stage, Flournoy has demonstrated

that this evidence would probably change the result on retrial.

A. The Evidence in the Affidavits is Newly Discovered.

“Newly discovered evidence is evidence that was discovered after trial and

that the petitioner could not have discovered earlier through the exercise of due

diligence.” People v. Robinson, 2020 IL 123849, ¶ 47 (citing People v. Coleman,

2013 IL 113307, ¶ 96). Although the trial court determined that the affidavits

were not “newly discovered” where Flournoy was aware of Barrier and Ricks at
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the time of trial, the court below did not decide this question. Flournoy, 2022 IL

App (1st) 210587-U, ¶ 39. (C. 339) However, this is of no import where Flournoy’s

affidavit demonstrates his due diligence.

Flournoy complained that Ricks was lying and had been given consideration

for his testimony prior to filing this petition, but he had no way of proving it.

(CI. 335, 502-03, 516, 520, 526) Ricks did not recant his testimony and admit to

being offered consideration for it until 2018, when Flournoy’s counsel contacted

him. (C. 317) Moreover, Flournoy could not have communicated with Ricks post-trial

or prior to filing his initial post-conviction where he did not have contact information

for Ricks at that time, nor did he have any reason to believe that Ricks would

admit his lies when his first post-conviction petition was filed. (C. 317) In addition,

Flournoy swore that he had no outside evidence to prove that Ricks lied until he

came forward. (C. 318) And Flournoy also explained that he tried for years to

investigate on his own through the mail system, but he did not have the addresses

of any witnesses or the ability to locate and/or contact them while he was

incarcerated until he found counsel who was willing to investigate and find Ricks.

(R. 316-17) Therefore, no amount of due diligence from Flournoy could have

discovered this evidence sooner. See People v. Barnslater, 373 Ill. App. 3d 512,

523-24 (1st Dist. 2007) (Even if a petitioner knew that a witness was perjuring

himself during trial, he will not be precluded from using the witness’s recantation

as newly-discovered evidence, unless the evidence was available at the time of

trial to demonstrate that the witness was lying). As stated above, this evidence

was not available at the time of trial. Thus, this petition presented newly-discovered

evidence.
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Similarly, despite speaking to the police during the investigation, Barrier

did not testify at trial. Moreover, as alleged in the petition, trial counsel was

Flournoy’s only resource to find Barrier at that time. However, counsel made false

representations to the court about having spoken to Barrier and determined not

to call her as a witness, where, in response to Flournoy’s post-trial motion, counsel

said that he had spoken with Barrier and determined that she was not a good

witness for Flournoy. (C. 311; R. 1178-79) In her affidavit, Barrier contradicted

trial counsel’s representation, saying he never approached her at all. (C. 313)

As Barrier’s affidavit must be taken as true at this juncture, trial counsel’s

representations to the court were not reliable. Robinson, 2020 IL 123849, at

¶¶60, 65. Counsel’s unreliability is further supported by the fact that he was

disbarred for lying to other courts. In re Joseph Patrick McCaffery, 12PRO123.

(C. 321-22) Finally, as with Ricks, Flournoy could not find or interview Barrier

until he found a lawyer who would do the leg work for him on the outside. Any

information in Barrier’s affidavit was not available to Mr. Flournoy until long

after trial and the filing date of Mr. Flournoy’s first post-conviction petition.

B. The Information in the Affidavits is Material and
Noncumulative.

 
Evidence is material if it is “relevant and probative of the petitioner’s

innocence”; it is noncumulative if it “adds to the information that the fact finder

heard at trial.” People v. Robinson, 2020 IL 123849, ¶ 47 (citing People v. Coleman,

2013 IL 113307, ¶ 96). The circuit court briefly discussed this factor and found

Flournoy’s petition lacking, but ultimately denied leave to file for other reasons.

(C. 58-63) The reviewing court did not discuss this factor at all. This Court should

recognize that both of these affidavits contain material evidence of Flournoy’s

innocence that is not cumulative to evidence adduced at trial.
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Ricks’s Affidavit 

In his affidavit, Ricks disavowed his damaging trial testimony that Flournoy

provided a detailed admission to the shooting. He was motivated to falsely testify

against Flournoy because he thought that Flournoy was behind a beating Ricks

took while he was in jail, and he cooperated with the police in exchange for possible

consideration in his own pending armed robbery case. (C. 305-06) The circuit court

judge dismissed the affidavit as unreliable simply because it was a recantation.

(C. 350) However, the circuit court’s credibility finding was premature as Ricks’s

affidavit must be taken as true at this juncture. Robinson, 2020 IL 123849, at

¶¶60, 65. Moreover, Ricks’s recantation is reliable as it is supported by other

attachments to the petition that corroborate his affidavit.

In his written statements, Ricks said that it was Reggie Smith who told

him about Flournoy’s admission. Detective Akin, at Flournoy’s federal parole

revocation hearing, confirmed this when he testified that the only knowledge Ricks

had of the shooting was what Smith had told him. (C. 296-97) In his affidavit,

Ricks reported: “Detective Aikin (sic) told me that they could not bring a case against

Johnny unless I testified that Johnny told me about being involved in the murder.”

(C. 307) Subsequently, Ricks made up another story and testified at Flournoy’s

grand jury proceedings and trial that it was Flournoy who confessed to shooting

Harlib. (R. 585-89, 594)

Barrier’s affidavit

Barrier swore in her affidavit that one night shortly after Harlib’s murder

– possibly that night – Reginald Smith came to her home with cocaine and heroin

and confessed to her that he had robbed a use car dealer and shot him in front
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of his safe. (C. 311) This information is materially different from the information

contained in the original police report and the other evidence adduced at trial.

However, Barrier’s account of Smith’s statements in her affidavit ring true where

Smith and Barrier were friends, his statement was made shortly after Harlib’s

murder, the statement was spontaneous, and Smith better fits Mendoza’s original

description of the shooter to the police. (R. 438, 458-59, 466, 489, 722)

Both of these affidavits repudiate evidence presented by the State at trial.

Moreover, they contain evidence that was not put before the jury, which “creates

new questions in the mind of the trier of fact.” People v. Williams, 392 Ill. App. 3d

359, 369 (1st Dist. 2009) Accordingly, the information in both affidavits is material

and non-cumulative.

C. The New Evidence Is of Such Conclusive Character That
it Would Probably Change the Result on Retrial.

The court below proceeded as if the evidence was newly discovered, but

determined that it was not so conclusive so as to warrant a different result on

retrial. People v. Flournoy, 2022 IL App (1st) 210587-U ¶39. Turning to Ricks’

affidavit, the appellate court found that because the affidavit did not name another

shooter, it would only remove one piece of damaging evidence against Flournoy

upon retrial. Id. at ¶41. On the contrary, at the leave to file stage, under Robinson,

Ricks’s affidavit sufficiently supports his claim at this stage. Ricks’s affidavit,

which must be taken as true, directly recants the most damaging piece of evidence

told to the jury: , i.e., that Flournoy confessed to Harlib’s murder. A confession

is a truly damaging piece of evidence. “There is nothing more damning than a

confession. Its effect has been described as ‘incalculable’ [People v. Miller, 2013

IL App (1st) 110879, ¶ 82]. Indeed, confessions constitute the strongest possible

-29-

129353

SUBMITTED - 23874244 - Rachel Davis - 8/8/2023 1:48 PM



evidence the State may offer in the course of a criminal case.” People v. Hughes,

2013 IL App (1st) 110237, ¶ 2 , reversed on other grounds, Poeple v. Hughes, 2015

IL 117242, ¶40.

Moreover, Ricks’s affidavit disavowing Flournoy’s confession rings true,

while his trial testimony was unreliable where Akin testified that when he first

spoke with Ricks, Ricks only reported what he claimed Smith told him. (R. 561,

563, 564) Likewise, in his written statement to the prosecutor, Ricks was clear

that any information he received was gleaned from Smith. (C. 249, 306) This

information was of little use, however, since Ricks could not have testified to Smith’s

account of Flournoy’s alleged admission as related to Smith, since Smith did not

testify and his alleged conversation with Flournoy would have been inadmissible

hearsay. People v. Smith, 256 Ill. App. 3d 610, 615 (1994). Ricks’s affidavit

convincingly explains that he changed his story after Akin told Ricks that a case

could not be brought against Flournoy unless Ricks testified that Flournoy confessed

to him. He then testified in front of the grand jury and at trial that Flournoy

confessed to him when he visited just after Flournoy’s wedding. (C. 307) Where

the lead detective himself acknowledges that prosecuting the petitioner would

require significant embellishment of a witness’s account, recantation of that same

account certainly “places the trial evidence in a different light and undermines

the court’s confidence in the judgment of guilt.” Robinson, 2020 IL 123849, ¶ 48.

Absent Flournoy’s admission, all that remains of the State’s case is Mendoza’s

identification of Flournoy as the shooter. However, Mendoza’s identification of

Flournoy was not so rock solid that jurors had no choice but to accept it. See People

v. Lerma, 2016 IL 118496. In Lerma, this Court found that the trial court abused
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its discretion in denying a defendant’s request to allow expert testimony on the

reliability of eyewitness identifications and this trial error was not harmless. 2016

IL 118496, ¶¶ 32, 33. In so holding, this Court found that a cross-racial identification

by a witness who has no prior familiarity with the offender, in a stressful situation

such as when a weapon is present, is worthy of scrutiny. 2016 IL 118496, ¶ 26.

Many of these factors are present in this case. This was a cross-racial identification

where Mendoza was Hispanic and Flournoy, African-American; Mendoza had

never seen the shooter before; Mendoza did not know Flournoy; and the offender

fired a gun at Harlib and pointed a gun at Mendoza. (R. 415-17; 424-25; 428-31)

Under these circumstances, Mendoza’s identification of Flournoy was not dispositive

of Flournoy’s guilt. 

Further, Mendoza’s original description of the shooter describes Smith more

closely than it does Flournoy. Immediately after the offense, Mendoza described

the shooter as a dark-skinned African American, in his twenties, at 5'8" tall, and

175 pounds. (R. 457-59) At the time of the shooting, Flournoy was a light-skinned

African American who was 41 years old, 6' tall and 200 pounds. (R. 459, 551-52,

722) Smith, however, at 5'8", 180 pounds, and dark-skinned, matched Mendoza’s

description. (R. 466)

In addition, Flournoy presented a credible alibi of where he was on the day

of the shooting. His family and business partners all testified that he was with

them running various errands related to his jewelry business when the shooting

occurred. (R. 687-95, 718-20, 728-29, 735-36, 741-45, 747, 757) Therefore, Ricks’s

affidavit supports a colorable claim of actual innocence.
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Turning to Barrier’s affidavit, the court below acknowledged that it was

conceivable that the information contained in her affidavit would provide a possible

defense to “some counts of the indictment.” Flournoy, 2022 IL App (1st) 210587-U,

¶ 44. The appellate court then considered that Flournoy was charged not only

with intentional and knowing murder, but with felony murder for causing a death

during the course of the commission of an armed robbery. Id. Pointing out that

Barrier’s affidavit said “nothing about defendant’s participation in the robbery,”

and that the jury returned a general verdict, the court held her affidavit did not

show there would have been a different result on the verdict of felony murder.

Id. at ¶ 45.

The reviewing court’s reasoning is incorrect. The State’s theory of guilt

for both the armed robbery and the murder – whether intentional, knowing, or

felony murder – was that Flournoy was the lone offender who robbed the dealership

and shot the decedent. The jury instructions make his clear, demonstrating that

jurors were never instructed on the law of accountability and therefore would

not have been permitted to convict Flournoy on a theory of accountability. People

v. Millsap, 189 Ill. 2d 155, 166 (2000). And the only suggestions of second offender

came from Ricks’s claims about what he was told by others, claims he has now

sworn were false and that he fabricated to curry favor with Detective Akin – a

recantation that must be accepted as true. Thus, if Barrier testified at a new trial

definitively saying Smith confessed, and did not implicate Flournoy, that would

most certainly “place[ ] the trial evidence in a different light.” Robinson, 2020

IL 123849, ¶ 48.
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D. Conclusion

Johnny Flournoy’s motion for leave to file a successive post-conviction petition

and the supporting documentation establish a colorable claim of actual innocence

sufficient to warrant granting leave to file. Robinson 2020 IL 123849, ¶¶57-59.

Accordingly, this Court should reverse the appellate court’s affirmance of the circuit

court’s denial of leave to file Flournoy’s successive post-conviction petition and

remand the cause for second-stage proceedings with counsel.
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III.

Johnny Flournoy’s Petition Also Made A Prima Facie Showing
that the State Violated His Due Process Rights When It
Concealed Critical Evidence that Romano Ricks, the State’s
Key Witness, Testified in Exchange for a Promise of Leniency
on his Armed Robbery Case, and Ricks Lied on the Stand
About Flournoy’s Alleged Admissions to Harlib’s Murder in
Exchange for This Promise.

Johnny Flournoy argued that in addition to presenting evidence of actual

innocence, Ricks’s affidavit also establishes that Flournoy was deprived of his

due process right to a fair trial. The trial court will allow a petitioner to file a

successive petition alleging a deprivation of his constitutional rights provided

he can establish “cause” for his failure to raise the claim in the initial post-conviction

petition and prejudice resulting from that failure. 725 ILCS 5/122-1(f); People

v. Pitsonbarger, 205 Ill. 2d 444, 462 (2002). A petitioner is not required to establish

cause and prejudice conclusively to be granted leave to file a successive petition,

and instead only needs to allege adequate facts for a prima facie showing of cause

and prejudice. People v. Smith, 2014 IL 115946, ¶29; People v. Bailey, 2017 IL

121450, ¶25. A judge should deny leave to file only “when it is clear, from a review

of the successive petition and the documentation submitted by the petitioner, that

the claims alleged by the petitioner fail as a matter of law or where the successive

petition with supporting documentation is insufficient to justify further proceedings.”

Smith, at ¶35. The decision whether to grant leave to file is reviewed de novo.

Id. at ¶21. Flournoy’s petition establishes cause and prejudice in this case.

In affirming the dismissal of Flournoy’s petition, the appellate court first

concluded that Flournoy was procedurally barred from arguing this issue where

this issue is based in the same evidence as his actual innocence claim and the court
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determined that the actual innocence claim had greater merit. Flournoy, 2022

IL App (1st) 210587-U, ¶ 52. Counsel has responded to this in Argument I, supra.

The Court then went on to consider the merits of this claim.

A. The State Concealed Exculpatory Evidence that Ricks
Received A Promise of Consideration for His Testimony
Against Flournoy. 

A criminal defendant’s right to due process under the Fifth and Fourteenth

Amendments to the United States Constitution is violated if the State

knowingly fails to disclose exculpatory or impeaching evidence to the accused.

U.S. Cont. Amends. V, XIV; Ill. Const. 1970, Art. I, §2; Brady v. Maryland, 373

U.S. 83, (1963). A Brady violation occurs when the State fails to disclose evidence

materially favorable to the accused. Youngblood v. West Virginia, 547 U.S. 867, 869

(2006) Brady’s protections and obligations extend equally to both exculpatory

and impeachment evidence. Youngblood, 547 U.S. at 869. Contrary to the appellate

court’s order, the affidavits attached to the petition show cause that the State

committed a Brady violation that prejudiced Flournoy by depriving him of his

due process rights.

In his affidavit, Ricks swore that he knew nothing about Harlib’s shooting

until Detective Akin told him about it after the December 5, 1991 lineup, when

Akin agreed to see what he could do when Ricks requested “help” on his pending

armed robbery case in exchange for his testimony. (C. 303) This was not disclosed

to defense counsel. In other words, the affidavit supports a showing that the State

concealed evidence that Ricks either did, or thought he was going to, receive

consideration for his cooperation with the State in its case against Flournoy.

Interestingly, Ricks was eventually sentenced to work release after serving only

two years of a 10-year sentence for armed robbery. (C. 308) 
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The court below concluded that the State never hid this from the defense,

and thus cause was not satisfied, because Akin testified in Flournoy’s federal parole

hearing that Ricks was requesting help, and because Ricks never directly stated

that his work release detail was in consideration for his testimony. Flournoy, at ¶ 61.

But it was not Ricks’s request for help that needed to be disclosed, but rather

Detective Akin’s promise to try to help Ricks by seeing what he could do to get

him a lesser sentence, something that was never disclosed. Despite the reference

to Ricks asking for help at the parole hearing, the prosecutor never disclosed any

deal, or potential deal, to the defense. And, it was not until Ricks submitted his

affidavit that Flournoy had any indication that there could have been any deal.

Moreover, contrary to the appellate court’s finding, Ricks’s affidavit provided

sufficient information to make a prima facie case that a deal had been made where

he received work release for his armed robbery sentence after agreeing to testify

against Flournoy. A true determination of the nature of the deal can only be made

after an evidentiary hearing. People v. Colasurado, 2020 IL App (3d) 190356, ¶45.

At this stage of proceedings, Ricks’s allegations that he asked Akin for assistance

with his own case and may have received that help must be considered true.

Robinson, 2020 IL 123849, ¶¶ 44; Brooks, 2021 IL App (4th) 200572, ¶ 44.

The reviewing court also determined that Flournoy cannot demonstrate

prejudice from the failure of the prosecution to disclose a deal where the jury heard

evidence that Ricks had motive to testify falsely, and a new trial with testimony

that there was another motive would not in all probability change the verdict

on retrial. Flournoy, 2022 IL App (1st) 210587-U, at ¶ 58. The jury did hear that

Ricks called Akin asking to be placed in protective custody. But, because it was
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not disclosed to the defense, the jurors did not hear that Ricks requested or may

have received sentencing relief on his armed robbery case, that Detective Akin

promised to do what he could to get Ricks a lesser sentence, or that his written

statement about Smith’s admission, which was not, and could not have been

introduced as substantive evidence at trial, in addition to his testimony about

Flournoy’s admission, were lies. (C. 385) The introduction of all of this evidence

probably would alter the result on retrial.

B. The State Knowingly Relied on Perjured Testimony
in its Case-in-Chief.

A criminal defendant’s right to due process includes the right to be free

from the State’s knowing use of perjured testimony. The use of perjured testimony

to obtain a criminal conviction violates due process of law. People v. Olinger, 176

Ill.2d 326, 345 (1997). Even where the prosecution did not solicit false testimony,

but allows it to go uncorrected when it appears, due process is violated. Napue

v. Illinois, 360 U.S. 264, 269. (1959). Knowledge of a police officer is reasonably

imputed to the State. People v. Rish, 344 Ill. App. 3d 1105, 1115-16 (3d Dist. 2003).

“[A] conviction obtained by the knowing use of perjured testimony is fundamentally

unfair, and must be set aside if there is any reasonable likelihood that the false

testimony could have affected the judgment of the jury.” U.S. v. Agurs, 427 U.S. 97,

103 (1976) (footnote omitted). Ricks’ affidavit supports two instances of State witness

perjury.

The first instance of perjured testimony involves Ricks’s lie about his motive

for testifying. At trial, Ricks testified that he had not been promised anything

in exchange for his testimony, and that his sole motive for taking the stand was

to “see justice done.” (R. 332, C. 166, 179) In his affidavit, Ricks said his testimony
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had not been true. In fact, he did ask for help and Akin responded that “he would

see what he could do” to get him a lesser sentence and get him into a work release

program. (C. 307) Ricks said he received work release after only serving 2.5 years

of a 10-year sentence. (C. 307, 308) In addition, Flournoy supported this allegation

with testimony from he federal parole revocation hearing, held four months after

his arrest in this case, where Akin testified that Ricks asked for help on his armed

robbery charge. (C. 165-66, 294-95) The state’s attorney who prosecuted Flournoy

was present at that hearing, and was thus aware of Akin’s testimony, but did

not speak up at Flournoy’s trial. (R. 166)

The appellate court found that Flournoy could not establish “cause” for

this claim where he was aware of the information from the parole revocation hearing

when he filed his first petition. Flournoy, 2022 IL App (1st) 210587-U, at ¶54.

But Flournoy was not aware that Detective Akin promised to see what he could

to help Ricks secure a lesser sentence. Napue v. Illinois, 360 U.S. 264, 267 (1959)

(where witness testified he had not been promised consideration, but in fact the

prosecutor promised to help do what he could to reduce the witness’s sentence,

defendant was denied due process).

The next instance involved Ricks’s testimony that Flournoy admitted he

was the shooter. As outlined above, Ricks recanted his trial testimony that Flournoy

himself admitted he was the shooter. He fabricated his statement that Smith told

him that Flournoy had admitted the shooting to him immediately after it happened

and told this to Akin. (C. 306) This is corroborated by Akin’s testimony at Flournoy’s

parole revocation hearing that the only knowledge Ricks had of the shooting was

what Smith had told him. (C. 296-97) Ricks swore in his affidavit that he changed
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his story and said that Flournoy admitted the shooting directly to him after Akin

told him that would be the only way Flournoy could be prosecuted. (C. 307) 

The appellate court held that Flournoy failed to show that the State was aware

of this perjury at the time of trial, and therefore, was under no obligation to disclose

any information. Flournoy, at ¶ 53. On the contrary, Akin, who was the lead

detective in this investigation, was, according to Ricks’s affidavit, the origin of

his perjury. Akin was a State witness who testified that Ricks contacted him and

told him that Smith had made admissions that he and Flournoy had committed

the crime together. (R. 562, 569) Under these circumstances, the prosecution cannot

escape its duty under Brady by contending that the suppressed evidence was known

only to a police investigator and not to the prosecutor at trial. Kyles v. Whitley,

514 U.S. 419, 438 (1995); People v. Vasquez, 313 Ill. App. 3d 82, 97 (2000)

Moreover, contrary to the reviewing court’s order, the failure of the State

to disclose this evidence was prejudicial. Akin and Ricks both testified that Smith

provided information about the murders, but the jury did not hear Smith’s

statements as they would have been hearsay. (R. 562) However, Ricks testified

that Flournoy actually admitted to the offense. This was the only purported

admission by Flournoy, as he made no admissions to police. “[A]confession is the

most powerful piece of evidence the State can offer, and its effect [on the trier

of fact] is incalculable.” People v. R.C., 108 Ill. 2d 349, 356 (1985); People v. Davis,

393 Ill. App. 3d 114, 133-34 (1st Dist. 2009) see also People v. St. Pierre, 122 Ill. 2d

95, 114 (1988) (stating that the erroneous admission of a confession is rarely

harmless error). In his affidavit, Ricks disavowed Flournoy’s admission and swore

that he made it up at Akin’s direction. This new information would have undercut

the purported admission, and in all probability, resulted in a different verdict.
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C. Conclusion

Johnny Flournoy’s successive petition made a prima facie showing of cause

and prejudice that the State committed a Brady violation, and knowingly suborned

perjured and/or fabricated testimony in his trial. When this claim is juxtaposed

against the trial evidence, Johnny Flournoy’s petition and supporting documents

make an adequate showing of both cause and prejudice sufficient to warrant granting

leave to file his successive post-conviction petition. As such, this Court should

reverse the appellate court’s ruling which affirms the trial court order denying

leave to file, and should remand the cause for second-stage proceedings.
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IV.

Johnny Flournoy’s Petition Made a Prima Facie Case that
He was Denied the Effective Assistance of Trial Counsel Based
on Information Provided by Elizabeth Barrier that Flournoy’s
Trial Counsel Failed to Interview Her, When She Could Have
Provided Exculpatory Evidence, and Misrepresented to the
Trial Court that He Had Contacted and Spoken with Her.

In addition to his other claims, Johnny Flournoy argued that Elizabeth

Barrier’s affidavit supports a claim that trial counsel was ineffective. Just like

his due process claims, this claim also meets the cause and prejudice test to survive

the leave-to-file stage. 725 ILCS 5/122-1(f); People v. Pitsonbarger, 205 Ill. 2d 444,

462 (2002). A criminal defendant has the right to effective assistance of counsel

pursuant to the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States

Constitution. U.S. Const. amends. VI, XIV; Ill. Const. 1970, art. I, § 8; Strickland

v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 694 (1984). To establish ineffective assistance

of counsel in a successive post-conviction petition at the leave-to-file stage, a

petitioner must make a prima facie showing of counsel’s deficient performance and

a reasonable probability of a different outcome. People v. Baily, 2017 IL 121450, ¶ 24.

Whether defense counsel was ineffective for failing to interview and/or call

a defense witness is determined by the value of the evidence that was not presented

at trial and the closeness of the evidence that was presented. People v. Morris,

335 Ill. App. 3d 70, 79 (1st Dist. 2002). Attorneys have an obligation to explore

all readily available sources of evidence that might benefit their clients. Id. Failure

to conduct investigation and develop a defense can amount to ineffective assistance.

Id.; see also People v. Wright, 111 Ill. 2d 18 (1986); People v. McCarter, 2021 IL

App (1st) 181714-U, ¶46.
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In this case, as explained in Argument II, the information contained in

Barrier’s affidavit was not available to Flournoy at the time of trial or when he

filed his first petition. Despite being part of the initial police investigation, she

did not testify at trial. Prior to trial, she drove to Florida and was not in contact

with anyone. (C. 312) Trial counsel would have been Flournoy’s only resource

to find Barrier. And, contrary to trial counsel’s representations, Barrier attested

in her affidavit that counsel did not speak with her at all before trial. (C. 312)

Therefore, Flournoy’s petition established that counsel’s performance was

unreasonable as well as cause for not bringing the claim sooner.

In her affidavit, Barrier swore that Reggie Smith admitted to her that he

committed the shooting when he came to her home with cocaine and heroin “one

night” and said that “he had robbed a used car dealer, and that he had shot the

car dealer in front of his safe.” (C. 311) He never mentioned Johnny Flournoy,

as Barrier had never heard of him. (R. 311) Barrier said that she may not have

told police the truth when they interviewed her because she was afraid of Smith.

(C. 312) She also said that at the time of Flournoy’s trial, she had slipped back

into addiction, moved to Florida, and was a vagrant. Trial counsel did not and

could not have contacted her through her parents because her parents did not

know where she was. (C. 312)

The appellate court held, as it did when discussing the actual innocence

claim, that Flournoy could not have been prejudiced by the failure to call Barrier

because Flournoy was charged with felony murder and Barrier’s testimony would not

have cleared him of that charge. Flournoy, 2022 IL App (1st) 210587-U at ¶66.

On the contrary, and as previously asserted, this holding defies reasib considering
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the State’s theory of the case. The State tried the case on the theory that Flournoy

committed these crimes alone and all of its evidence was focused in that direction.

The jury would have had no basis on which to find that Smith and Flournoy

committed the crime together. The information in Barrier’s affidavit indicates

that Reggie Smith confessed to the shooting on his own. Taking that to be true,

especially in light of the information in Ricks’s affidavit – that Flournoy did not

confess and Smith did not tell him he committed this offense with Flournoy – there

is a reasonable probability that the result at trial would have been different. 

The reviewing court also assumed that defense counsel did not call Barrier

as a matter of trial strategy where she may have been unreliable and her testimony

would have been hearsay. Flournoy, 2022 IL App (1st) 210587-U at ¶ 67. First,

at first stage proceedings, speculation about counsel’s strategy based on Barrier’s

credibility is not a consideration when determining whether to advance a petition

to second stage. Pitsonbarger, 205 Ill. 2d at 455.

Nor is potential admissibility is not a consideration when evaluating the new

evidence. People v. Robinson, 2020 IL 123849, at ¶¶ 73, 77-79; Ill. R. Evid. 1101(b)(3)

(Rule against hearsay did not apply to determination whether witness’s affidavit,

in which she averred that someone other than defendant had confessed to killing

victim, was sufficient to raise colorable claim of actual innocence). What is dispositive

is trial counsel’s failure to interview her despite his representations to the contrary.

(R. 1178-79, C. 312) Indeed, trial counsel was disbarred for the same exact type

of infraction. (C. 321-24) Therefore, this petition must be advanced to further post-

conviction proceedings.
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Elizabeth Barrier’s affidavit establishes a prima facie case that Johnny

Flournoy’s trial attorney was ineffective for never even interviewing her despite

knowing that Reginald Smith spoke with her about the shooting. This violation

is all the more galling given that trial counsel lied to the trial court about

interviewing Barrier in order to cover his own tracks. Thus, Johnny Flournoy’s

successive post-conviction petition made a substantial showing that trial counsel

was ineffective. When this claim is viewed, along with the Brady violation, as

juxtaposed against the trial evidence, Johnny Flournoy’s petition and supporting

documents make an adequate showing of both cause and prejudice sufficient to

warrant granting leave to file his successive post-conviction petition. As such,

this Court should reverse the appellate court’s order vacating the denial of leave

to file his petition, and should remand the cause for second-stage proceedings

with the appointment of counsel.
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CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Johnny Flournoy respectfully requests that this

Court reverse the appellate court’s affirmance of the denial of leave to file his

petition, and remand this cause for further proceedings with the appointment

of counsel.
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Deputy Defender
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,,, .. 

IN THE CIRCUlT COURT OF COOK :01.JNIY, ILLIN9iS 
COUNTY DEPARTMENT, C!!.!:.~. -...,AL DMSI9N\ • 
. . . 

. • J l>EOP~ O.F 1HE STAIB OF ILµNOIS,. 

Plaititi.ff:RespondeI¢,­

. •. . J 
( ~ v. 

.JOHNNYFLOURNOY,: 
( .. 

. . 

Defendalit-i>etitiQnei-. 

r ; . 
: • ' 

'· 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) .- . 
) 
) 

i. 

ORDER 

. ·. 

Successive Post~on.viction· 
9.2 CR.07449-01 •• 

on.James Liim, 
Qdge Presiding .. ) 

• ·Pet;mone~, Johnnyl<'-lo-qrnor,,-seeks post-co~·~iction r lief~.;,m ~e judgment of coriviction • 

entere<\ ~gainst h)m o~ September' 2-Z; 1994. ·_Following a j 
" . 

. trial, petiti<?il.er. was found guilty of 

.murd~r ~ d arin,ed robbery; Petitioner .was· subsequentlyse tented to fifu imprisonment in.tti,e 
: / . • • . • . . •... • • : . . . . . ) . . . . 

: :; Illinois Department ofC,orr.ections. ·A$ groun~ for post~do 'ction ~elie( pet;itioner claims: (1) . .. , ~ . . . . . 

. / 
actual inn:oceD;ce 'b@sed on newly discovered evid~ce;_ .(2) e Sta~ :fabricated inculpatory· 

~vidence _aga~t ~ and concealed ~xculpatory aµ~or _cbment evidence; in violation of . 
... . 

petitioner' s right to due process oflaw; '(3) the_ Sm.te ~o • yused material, perjured, . 

. ~$timony in violation of pe~tioner' s.,ight to due:pro~s of aw; ~d (4) ineft'ective assistance·.of 
., ·. ·, .. .. , 

• trial counsel. 

. · / 

• ' .BACKGROJnW 
,· 

Petiti.o_ner' s ·conviction· stem's from his inV9l~~i·· tlft:.armed robbery and murder of • 
# • •• 

Samuel Harlib and ·his w;ed car dealership .. On.November 1 ·,, l99i, Hariib and ano1h~r ~b 
I • • • • 

'I 

\ 

1 . • ' / 

_, 

A-6 

t . 

---- . -- ___ ..... __ --, . -.. -... --'. - . -, .. -. . . - - -. -.. -.. - - ----.-. - .. -. .. ~ .. ,--...,......_,..,;_ ..,.,. __ ,..,_, ._,.., __ ,,.,. .. _= ·-"""· ,;.,. .. -- --------~- • •• , .. ·· - . 
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named Raphael Mendoza were worJdng at Ron/Mar Auto s es, a used car lot located at 3845 

North Western Avenue in Chicago, Illinois. Shorf:ly after 5: Opm, Mendoza testified that he and 

Har lib were in the sales office when he noticed a man ioo • g at a cat. After ·Mendoza went to 

wait Qn the· man, the man told him that -he was interested in a Regency, .and that he had. $600 fur 

a down payinent. Mendo2a testified that although it was +g dark and slightly raining, the . • 

lights were on, and he was .standing only two or three feet±· y :from the man. Harlib- fµld the 
. . . . . . 

man later went into the office while Mendoza opened the ca • with a slimjim. Mendom returned 

to the office~ where th.¢ man ordered him to sit down. The n was holding a silver revolve~. He 

later fired two shots at Harm,, grabbed two stacks of mone :from the desk, and took steps 

towards the door. The man then pointed his gun at Mendq_ and fired two shots at him as well, 

but he -missed, and the bullets hit the wall. After the ma:n le .Mendoza called. 91 l and the police 

arrived a few minutes later. Mendom told the police what ppened and gave the following 

' description of the offender: the man ~s 5'8" to 5'9" tall, 1 5 to 180 poW1ds, in bis-late 20's or 
. . 

~ar ly 30 's, and ~s wearing a jeanjacket, jean pants, and snow hat. Harlib later died :fr~m his 

iajuries. The day after the murder, a man named Reginald r came to the lot to make a • 

payment on a car be had previous!}' purchased, eveii thougj it was not his regular payment date. 

He asked Steven Spriu:, Harlib's partner, what was happe • g, and Spritz told him that Har lib 

had been -shot and killed during a robbery the previous day. 

Af the time of early December 1991, Reginald Smith s incarcerated at Cook County 

Jail for an armed robbery. He and one of his co:.clefendants, R,omano Ricks, were placed in a 

lineup for ltai'lib's murder and armed robbery onDecembe ; 5. The lineup was viewed by 

Mendom,: the only witn~ to the shoqting. Mendom did not • dentify anyone in the lineup as 

Harli~'s. shooter, but he did say that Smith was an acquain nee QfHarlib's and that he bad 
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bou~ta car from him and would come to the lot and Jlnake ayments. Chicago Police Detective 
' 

Lawrence Akin spoke with Smith about his conversatidn wi Mendoza but did not discuss the 
. I 

incident with.Ricks. He only told Ricks that they were ~ond cting an investi'gation; gave him.his 

card, and told him to call him ifhe h~rd anything regf d' the case. 

In February 1992, Romano Ricks contacted D~tecti e-Akin :from Cook County Jail and 

said he would like to discuss Harlib's murder. Then, o? :Ma. ch 6, 1992, Ricks s~gned ~ 
• I 

, handwritten statement regarding the incident. He stateµ tha Q.e was awaiting trial on an 
. I 

unrelated matter when he and Reginald Smith were tal¢n to Area 6 to ~nd in the lineup. Ricks 

stated that while they were there, he asked Smith why they ere in that lineup, and Smith replied .. 
! 

that it was fur a murder that he and ~•Johnny'' ·did. Riclcs ed that he knew Smith was referring 

to petitioner, Johnny Flolll'Iloy. It was after Ricks coriuicted etective Akin that petitioner 
- ' ' ! . 

became a suspect. Petitioner was placed in a lineup in jMar 1992 and Mendoza identified him 
' 

almost immediately, shouting "That's him. That's him. jToat s the last guy. The last guy on the . . 

right is him" 

Petitioner was charged with multiple counts of tnurd r, attempted murder, armed 
. I • . 

. t 
robbery, armed violence, aggravated discharge of a .firear aggravated unlawful restraint, 

I 

unlawful restraint, and unlawful use of a weapon by a fulon. Ricks later testified at both 
! 

' 
petitioner's grand jury hearing.and trial regarding his State , nt and knowledge of the shooting. 

l 

! 

Ajury later found petitioner guilty of first-degree murd¢r an armed robbery on September 22; . ! 
1994. The. jury acquitted petitioner ·of ~~mpted murdet. He s sentenced to life imprisonment 

on November 9, l 994~ 
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I 

. On direct appeal, petitioner .claimed that: (l) 4is cot· cti.on should be reversed because 

the evidence was ~uffi~ient to convict him beyond-a i easo. ble doubt; (2) the trial court 

committedreversible error by.allowing Ric~ to~ to , admissions regarding the crimes in 

this case, by failing to give the jury a limiting instruc~on, a d by allowing certain comments in 
; 

the State's closing arguments; and (4) the questioning\ofhi wife and step-daughters about their . ; 

. 
fu.ilure to testify before the'grandjury and speakto an\inve ·gator was inappropriate because 

the State argued their silence demonstrated that they 4iere • g, he was pr~judiced by these 
i 
' 

errors, and fur~r., that they required a reversalofJ4 con • ction and a new_ trial. On November 

1 s, 1996, the First District Appellate Court affirmed_ 1s co viction. The Illinois Suprei:µ.e Court 
.., 

denied petitioner' s petition for leave to appeal on Aprµ 2, 997. 

Petitioner filed his fust pro se post-conviction petiti -non February 13, 1997. In that 
i 

petition, petitioner claimed: (1) the_-State used perjur~ test ny to obtain the convictions; (2) 
I 

the State suppressed evidence fuvorable to the defense'; an . (3) he received iueffective assistance 
' 

of counseh'll,ere: (a) couose1 withdrew a motion to •+ prt eyewitness identification testimony; 

(b) counsel withdrew a DiQtion to quash arrest; _( c) C01fDSel '3lled to obtain a parole revocation 

I 
hearing tape much counsel could have used to impea~h Ro o Ricks ~d Detective Akin; ( d) 

. counsel failure to cond,uct adequate discovery; ( e) coup.set iled to. call Elizabeth Barrier as a 
• I 

. l 
witness at trial; (f) counsel fu.iled to call Regina1d Smi~ as witness at trial; (g) counsel was 

! 

unfamiliar with the number of peremptory challenges ~vail ble .in a capital case; (h) counsel 
. ! 

I 

failed to 11)8.ke a Batson obj~tion; and (i) counsel fallb<i to ve an identification e:xperi'testify at 
• J 

' 
trial. Petitioner's pro se petition was dismissed at the first ge on April 10, 1997. The First 

I 

District Appellate Court affirmed the dismissal of peti~one '-s prose petition on June 30, 1999. 
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, i 

'.Petitioner'$ petition for rehearing was also denied. 04 F.eb uary·2~ 2000, the Illinoi;; Supreme . , i 
Court denied petitioner's petition for leave. to appeal. i 

"- .. . , . . :~ . ' . .. .. : : !. ' . ' 
Petitioner filed the instant successive petition on Fe ruazy 22, 2021. 

✓ 

• J.,, + • • 

. . . . The l'ost-O>nviclion ~ Act eAcl'~ enab\;. · :Fl etitioner to. seek conaterai relief for a 

su~an~~ violation o~rigllts· under the Ill4iois or Uni,ed ·s -· s CQnstitutions. • 7',l,5 ~CS 5/122-1 
• • . . l , 

•.• et seq.; People,'~. Alie~, 2015. IL ll~l35, 1 20: The 4 seis ~rth b ~•s'of ~ew. Peoi,le ~-

Edward$, 1.91 Ill. 2d 239,. 244 (2001). At·the second 8l38e, , e cow:t must detemnne whether the 
• 1 

. petition. and any aroompanying documents make 1 sub!tan~al showfug ~(a· constituti~_nal 

, . ~olation. Id at 246. 'When making_ this det~on, e trial court must ~sume that ·the 

allegatio~s in affidavits br bther:doc~ents ~ ~ : P~opt ·V, Ward, 1~7 Ill. 2d 249, 255 {1999) 
• . • ' ' ! • . ,. . . . 

(citing People v. CqbaJlero, l2~ ID. 2d -248, 259 (19~9)}. If the petitioner maJ(es a substan~ 
i 

• . . f , 

showing of a constitutional violation, the petitio~ is li4v~ d to 1he third stage, where the court 
. I . . . • ' • . i J • 

conducts~ evidentiar.y hearing. 7';.5 JLCS 5/122-6 (L~XIS 2010); People v. Joh,iso~ 191 Ill. 2d 
. . . .j . • ' , 

257,_"268-(2000) •• A ~ubstantial sho~g ~f .a · constjrno laf .~iolation is ''a ~~tire _or ~~ial : 

sufffoien_cy of the petition; s well-plecf '..ill~gatio~:of a to • . • onal violation,' which if proven at 

an evidentiaty hearing, would entltle·petitionertorelie~" Pe tple :v. Domagalf:Z, 2013 IL) 13688; 1 •• 
. . -· 1 ' ' 
35, Unsupported, concl1,1SOry-.all~tions in a petition.are not · cient to ~equire a·post.;convi~tion 

evidentiary·h~g µndetthe ~ct Peop~ev. Pierce,-4·8 ID. 48, 50-(1971); People v. Hysell, 48-

Ill. Ed 522,527 (1971 ). Post-conviction ~vi~w,is limi«r. to 1 · ~~anal.issues that w~~:i,_:-i ~d • 

could not, be previo~ly raised on:~t appeal or m ptjo~ p~st-convictloti proceedings. People _v. 
. . . . . . . . . . . . . . ~ i . I . , 

. McNeal, 194·m. 2d.135, 14() (2001);People v." King, ~92 . 2d--18~, 192 (2000). A~corduigly, 
. . . ' ' 

A-10_ 
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rulings on issues that w~ previously raised at trial or j n + appeal ~ barred by res judicata, 

and issues that could have been raised, but were not, are wai ed. People v. Davis, 2014 IL 115595, 
' • . 

if 13. 
' ' 

Additional barriers to a hearing exist when a p~titio is successive. The Act contemplates 

the filing of only one petition. People v. Bailey, 2017 ~ 121l 50, 1 15. Any claims thai could have 

been included but we~ omitted from ~ initl~ petitio~ . .;. irfei~ Pe~~le v. English, ~13. IL 

112890, ,r. 22. As previously stated, this 1s petitioner's third successive petition for post-conviction 
l . 

. relief. The Post-Conviction Hearing Act generally Ipnits a petitlonet to the filing of but one 

petition. People v. Holman, 191 Ill. Zd 204, 209 (2QOO). owever, to bring a new claim in a 

successive petition, a petitioner must demonstrate ?SUS an objective factor that impeded 
l 

in?lusjon of the claim in the initial petition- and resul~g ~udice-that the new claim renders 
, : 

I 

the petitioner's conviction or sentence a violation ofd~e pr cess. 725 ILCS 5/.122-l(f); People v. 

Pitsonbarger:, 205 lll. 2d 444,459 (2002). Indeed, the l~gisl ture in its amendment to section 122-

1 of the Act, 725 ILCS 5/122-1 (West 2003), mandated: 
' 

(±) Only .op.e petition may be filed by a p~titioner under this article without 
leave of the court. Leave of court may l?e gr~ted only if a petitioner 
demonstrated cause for his or her failure to !bring the claim in his or her 
initial post-conviction proceedings and ~reju ice results fr.om that failure. 

i 

. Moreover, in adoJ:>ting the "cause and prejudice ~est," subsection (f) codifies tbe holding of 

' 
the Illinois Supreme Court in People v. Pitsonbarger, 205 ill. 2d 444 (2002). That is, as the statute • 

I 

i 

provides: 

(1) a prisoner shows cause by identifying an o~jecti e factor that impeded his or 
• her ab.ility to raise a specific claim d~g hi or her initial post-conviction • 

' proceedings; and • . i 
(2)· a prisoner shows prejudice by demonstratingjthat e claim not raised during his 

or her initial post-conviction proceedi:hgs infected the trial that the 
resulting conviction or sentence violatedj due rocess. 
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f 

'. • 

L Cause and .• Prejil.dice . 
• . • ~ ~ . . .- . I . . ·- : . ., • . ... , . 

As noted, this is pefit,io~er~s ~nd petition fut post;COn : ction·~ellet. 'Jh.e Illinois Legislature, . 
. • . • i • . ' · ' . . . . 

. • . t 
in its amendment to section: 122,-1 of the Act, 725-ILC~ 5/1 4 (West.20,03)1 mandated: • 

: J 

. . . ; 

. .. . .I . . . • • • . . - · ·. 
(t). Orily :one petition ~y-be filed.b,y'a PFtitio er: und~~ this ~rticle without leave of 

, :. , . the ~urt .. Leave ?f oourt mar- be gtan~~ o1f1y ~ .a petitiom;.r,, ~enx)nstrat¢ ~~se 
• • for • ~s or ,J1~ :@lilute .to brmg the cl~llll 11@. or her·· J.llltial post-:eonviction 

proceeding.s and prejudice result$ J'OJll ~at ilure. ,. .. . . I 
j . 

. • ' . i 
'.Moreover j in ~dopting the "cause ~d prejpdice tesJ:,.11 su section (f) ·codifies the holding of the 

• ' • I • ~ • .' t • •• .. 

• •• !Uinois Supr~me Coµr( in People' V. ,Pitsonbarger; 20~ Ill: 444 (2-002). That 'is; as the $tute 

Provi. • des~ , ! 
/ ! 

. . . . ! • . . . 

. • (1) • a prison~r slio:ws cause by i~tifyfug an.obj~\I . factor that ~pededhis or her ao.ility 
• • t9 raise.a specific .claim ~ing ~ .or he1 ilµtial ost..convictiorl, proceedings;. and 

- ~ ! ' ·, . ,. 
{2) ·a prisoner shows prejudice. by d¢monstratiµg. •• t the claim not raised ,during his or 
. • .her initial }>Ost-convictio~ proceedipgs.so .infe • the·.trial ~t th~ resulting.co11viction • 
. or. s.enten~ violated due pr.opess. • 

..• '. . • ·. ·. . .• . : . . . . . . ·. < . ' . . . . 
In th.e present case,.petitjoner ~s failed fo ,deino~at t:lµit the i,-ule protubiting ~u,xessive- :• 

• • '"' I .i • • 

petitions·sliould be relaxed, Althoush: th~,fa~I /lSS~rJons 
1

elied ~n by petitioner in the instant .. 
• . . . •. . II I . . • , • • • ; 

• , . ' . . 
_peptfon wen,: available to him at the. time· his ini~l pe~tiod • .. filed; he ]:tas·fu.iled to identify any . 

• . ' 

. -legitimate ,obJ,ective fa~toi's which ~~ded· his. eftb~~ to\Fais• tbeda~ in ilie ea.die,; P,r~ce~gs 
• • ,! ~ 

. •• ' • ,. • . i . i • . •. 

besides his 'incarcer.ati91i' ~d indi.s~qy,. I~ is ~ et ap ~ent: tha,t petitioner bas .. miled· to 
. . : . . ·: l . 

·demoost:tat;e thatany prejucli,~ inur~ from failure.to a$ert es~ claims ~rlier. Had these claims 
, • , . . . . : . . . . l ·. . . • .· · .. 

been. pres.en~d-·in the:· initial petition; . the:i;e is ·scant • pro ability that petitioner would have : • . . . . ,·. . • . . . r . 

prevailed. .... 

/ 
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... • j,· :._~-.. . ' .'··• 
. • . ~ ' • . ! • . ' .' ' . 

. . . The:_petitionet .b~g the burden· in a P9S\.:cQ.nvicµon . ·roceedillg t9 ·es~blish a ~bstantj~l . • ... . 
: ! • • • • • • • • • ~ •. ; .. ' ~ , • . ..J • • •• ' ' ' ~~ •• • ' ~ ' ; : .. ' • • ' . • ' '.· • • ' _; •.• ' . .. : .. ; • • • •. , : ., 

• .deprivatio.Q:_o~his con,stitutional rights. ·People-v. Col'{ ~9(,·tll, 2d ~(:it~·277 -(20~)>.Wlille·a. • . • . 
• • . • • ;. • .· . ·, • . . ... . . •. ~ • , .. : .... ·.'- i , • ·,' ··, ' ' . . ... 

·prose pe#.tj.onei: ~gJSost-conviction relief.~:·!'not ~- · tedtQ. construct_le~l argµments, cite .. • . . 
. · . • ••. . . . • . . : · . • . . . . . • . ' ... . . i · , 1- . : •. . . :)-· . . ::· . . : . . : ·_ . .. .. 

: l ega}. a~~rity, or ~~fi [b.i~l ~titio.n as artfiiny ~ f<>ul counsel,". 'toe pro /se __ peti.ii~~' iµust ·: • .' 
• • • , • , • • • ~• • , • • • • ♦ ' .- • .~ ~ • •: • : • • r• ,~ •' , • • • ,, •• • : , , • • ; : '\. 

··< plead sufficient met&. to present the "gist''..ofa ~lid constitu 'onal cla:im._ . .Peop?e V. Edwar_~,_-197 • 
• . • • . • • . • • , .. • • • • • • • • • • • • 1· • l . · · / · · . · . ·~· · . · ... • . 

·::· • • Ill. 2d 239:--244 (2ooi1:·pe.titi~ner has-~tiffur~•Ji~;~~e)udi.- ·.·i,; not in~l~ ~ese cla~ 'in 1tls · • • ·: : , • 
. • ' ·• ' • •. •. I • • • . 

. . . . . ! .. . . . ., 
·initial petitions. C9nclusively; petitlQiier makes no :shpwin •. tlmt the absence• of the eta~ now . 

. ::: • .. . : · .. :····~_..:,. -:: •• .. : . _ .. • . • .•· · . · . .-: .~·:.· . l· ... : ._.: .. ·:.· : . .. :· •.·• .• . • ~. 
-,.:· .• presen,ted so infected the µial that.his.restil.fuig.CQtiyicµo~ 'olated.due·pi:o~. •• . • . . 
~ • . • ' .: . . .. ; . : ~ .. ~- '~ 

• . , . • , • • .., ~· , . . . .. ' . • . . •• • . . ..... ·; • • ,, ,.. • • ' t ' ..;._. 

. ·,.: . . 

n. Afljdavif ·ofElizabeth, Bamer.(Foster): . . · .. I -. . ·, ','_ • •: . · . . •• • 

• · : . -i>~ti~6~~dir~ a~G~~ ab ~fli~~t-~~iir'~~i~ he~~~ ~~r ~~ow~~~~ ,by~rria~e)~·The •• ;: .; •• • .- • • 

;· :a~~)i~ts·:i.~~d>~~-andIJ~~4:~y·J'o, 20is)1>~~ on~--cl~~-~t:theiffi~~i_oi. • 
. . .,".· ' . ·• ... _ _ ,... :. •, : • . • • : ••. ,· ·. · ., • . • • ·\ •. ;_ . . . • .. •. . . . • ... .. • ... 

• Elizabeth ban:ler constitutes: (1). newly' discovered evid~c. of a,ctoaIJ.nnocence~. and (2) ~ewiy : ;. 

:. • · ;• . discoverea evide~ -~~ ~etitio~er,:wa~ ~~ed _ins -~~~tu. , nal-rigbt\ ~:~~tivi a"-i~~ of. .. ~-· 
. .,, . •• • . • . -. • ,...... . • •. • '. .: · ... -. ·_ .• .• ; , . . · -· .• •• ·\_. • . • . • • .· · .• . •. · ~ ... -·~ ·.,. •• .. • 

· ·counse· • 1·. ·. • : ~-. · ... ·•~ = .-_. .. · · · .... . • • ' .,. : ' .. . ' • • ;: ; 

: : .' •• / · l 

·!n her·affi.davi4 Bar:d~:stat~. that while li~~'at-~ ~ . y ·house dui~g:ian: inpa~~t.~~hab 
· . . • · . . . .... ..... . •• _.:: ·.' . • _ _ , ·, :_ . • ;·_<\ . .. __ :. ,.· ... • ...... . 

• . •• •. pr9gtam in Ghi~go,, sh~ met' Reginald(" ~e'~) Smffi:l~ e describes him as a Black male • · .: ... • 
• • :. . • ·· ::•: , • • :, :··· , •. · · : . • , ·•. !~~- :. · 1 .. • · . ~ . . ,I . • '( . . . , , .. - •. 

~o was,about 5''8" -and 180-lbs., with.a datk~rople~o~ s Ort turlybair: .~~d a inustaSb~: She · . • 
• • • • • . • • . ' . ' . ! . . . ~ < • : ', • .. :, 

. •. ·-st?tes. that in late i-991, Reggie $ho~·up.at her 4~~t " • drugs.' It.~~ the.ii that.~ggie · ' 
·: •• • : .' : . . : •. • :· •.• . · : . • . ·: :. ·' . .\ ' . : .. · _· , •• ··. : . •.• • ;: : .. ,, . 

. ,told Bat~ier thathe.lui:4.robbed a us~tf.cat dealer.ship, ~4 • U1e had shot the ·car dealer i.ti •. • 

• . _.front ofhi~ sa~,'.~rri~~ ~~ tbat~~~ldeked·~~e di,t o ~ ~pa~~~-15~use~~he ~s .. · .. • •. ·'.·: ( : . ·, 
' ~ :· " · , .. . ,: ·'· • • : . ·:,'' ... • . ,. · . .. ~-·~-- ~ •• .. .. · ~ .. ,; : , .. . , : .. •• _ _. • ,; .. ·-~·.·_.· ·:: .·.·.· ,, 

• • _ • , • . scarecl-ofwhathe ha~:1--said. She e?q>lains that she:told~noth r ftieJ1.d; Jo~_a:bout ffllatReggie . ·.-- •.'··_. • ' 
• . . • .: •. . ~ .· •. ·, ' . . .. : ' ..... . • • . ..... _ ... J ... ·:· · ... · : ~~ ~ .~ ,, ·· • ·. . ..,'< .. • • \ ' • _ ... i 

• . pad iold'hei:. Johll thep.{_conta'ttedJhe police..andtold-th;em· :. • t B!trrier knew.about the. · .. ·._ • • ••• 
• • f • ' • i ' . ,: . • • 

. :: . . : 

. ·. : ..... < • ';f.' ... ' , • • 

8,: 

A~·l 3i, .: • : ; L · ·:.;: • 

.. ·; . .. . ·. 

. . .• 
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t . ' .. . : 
• • ' • I 

refused·to aps._.anfque$tlons. ~i was·because sh~ ~4 ~t-wa.nt. to ~QO~ in.voiv~ h). lUl 
' • . • . ' . • . ·:• • . • : • • \, • . •t, .' . 

investigation, as sh~~bad relapsed,.~d furth~r; -~he:_~ed . g~e. · . ' . . , . • .; ' 

Bard~ goe~ on to. say that sh~ 
0

understa~4s tp~e ~ ·a: p Ii~~ _rep~rt ~~i suppose<Ji;.t.~fl.ects • • : ·:_. : 
. ' . . • , ' { ! • 

~at ~Ji~ told ~lice-ab~~ ~e's-sta~ment. Ho~vfl'~ 4•, s~tes that~ report is n6t ,-. • •• - • 

tQnsis~~t with her ~mor,y ofthat day. This is. ~us¢ she r.~calls refusing to. tell the poli~e 

. . anything; lhe gees on u,' UY that if~ poti~report d~ • ~ alely iefieci ~t she !old police, 

•• • jhen she 'di4 not t~ll the full truth; because Reggie .specjjicaf Y.~ld her he had r,obt;ed the.'~ 

.• dealership ~~die car dealer. &trier ·~~~ h y~(!er she spoke,_;Ulpollre1 ~e ; 

.. • relapsed.bac~ ~to her .. a~di~tion ~~~~~-~--~lo~~ :Ild J~ed as: a ~~~t: _ Sh~ stat~s·~t s~e 

never spoke with a lawyer, representing petjtioner, ·norihad she heard of petitioner or knew that 
. . , • .. \_ • . . . • . . -~ . ; . • . ~ ' , . 

.. , ~ ' ·, \ .: . 
' he was convic~ of the inµrder Reggie .ro~ssed to her. & riet sta.tes f:ba{sh~ has-reviewed a. 

·. •. · :· ·tf~~ript in-~~h,petitl~~~i'$ a~~Y, Joseph:Mcej ~ry -~ld ~j~e:~e-l9Ca1~ lier.in· ·:· 
. .. . . . . . . . . - . . ' . •,. . . i . . . . . .. :- ' . : . . . ' 

.Florid!l: tbrough.her parents .and tlµlt he wa~ ·prepared.~<> ca > her as a witness. She.state~ that 
'• ~ l l, 

!,hese,sta~t$ ate-.:6;1i$e, l>eca~: (1) her_par~nts .. di4'nQf . QW'fflere-she\vas; (2).s~~-did not . 
. · . . ' . . . i . . ' . 

have a phone; .. an.d.(3) she'wasnevei:'contacted tobea~ti.i s: .• : 
.. . •.• • . • :·:, . : • \ ... .-: .. ~_:,:·1 . ·1 . ,' , · ·· .. . • .·• 

, .• , : • •.. •• -~· Actuallm,i~nce.Bas~.Qn Ne'!fly])is<over. • l;videlice ; -'. •. 
. . . ' . . . ! . . " 
•• Petition~ first cl~inis actµal ll1ilo~nce based on newly: iscovered evidence based on the 

. . •.. . , ~ • • .. : . . .! ' . . .. . lo • . ... • 

.a:6idaviofEli2.abeth &trier. • . i • .. • 

. . • ' , • ' • : : ·:· . ~ i ~ • • ., ' . ; • . 

FundaJ;J1eµtal mirness requires that an excep'tit>n.'to!tb~- use-and prejudi~ test is tQ<be ma.de 
. . : . ... : ) I . . .. . 

• in a showing:of a~tQal lt:µ1ocen~. ~~ople ·v. Pi~;nbar~~' . ; ID; 2d ™,, ~59,. 793, N.E.24 :609 . • 
• • . ·. \ 1 .• ·: - • • • • • • ,l • •, • • • ' ~ . . . . • • • • • .. ' . : • . •. • • . 

(2002). The 1:1.li.Q.ois SuP,ie~ Court n,; P~ople v._ .Washlr,g(o , i 71 Ill. ·2d 475; 4$9, ~5 N.E.2d • 
, 1 . • . , ·.- . • . • • _. • • . ' • . i· • : . , • ·: . • . : . • 

-1330'(1~), :first reco~ ~t-" [t}Jie'y.Ton~.'.CQn-yictio of an innocent person viol~tes due 
... • • • '• . • • ' . , _. • • $ • • • ' • : ' 1 . .. . '· • . ' . ~ • ~ • • . • ' ' . 

• process -~det. the Illino.is Constitutio,n;-and, th$; 'a -ft~ta,n ·, • g claim of act_ual innocence:is • 
• • ~ • • ·I • • • ; . • • • • • •.· t .-

-l ; • 
• ' 
. i 
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• I 

l . 
cognizal>le,~et tli~-Po.stiC.o~victio~ He~ing,kt." }e~p ' ;ii: Barnsf~er:·s13 ru. App; ia s12: . . ·- . - . 

• , , • ~· , I 

519, 869 i--tE.2d 29~-(1st.Dist. 2007)~ Th~e i$ a ~mJ,ctio , however, be~n being found ~' not 
. ' • . • • . ' • • • • • : . ' • / •• ·1· • • • . . <' 

\ .. guilty''. and being:" ~ctua~ b;mocent." Tue -c~mJin ~e~pf v. S.avory,.309' Ill_:- App. 3d 40$,-414--
• \ .: . . • '- , . . . f . ,, 

415 (3d Dist 199.9), d~lh;led, '"'acnui'l in.nocence.meanfs J ' ta~vindlcatiP,~,' or· iexoneratj~ir,'~ ) · _. : • 
. . . • ! • . . . ' . . . . 

' .. , ,. .• j 

. not ~t evicbice attdal-~s'.·insuffitient to' cori.vict.-be}ond . I~a~nabfo· dtmbt .• ·Washington, .. 
. ·. • . '. , • :__ : . . . . • • : l , •• . \ . • . . : . • 

. -171 lll. 2d;at479; Br;,rnslater, .373ID, App. 3la~;$20. ! 
• • ~ • • • > I • • • • I • • • • • t. 

hi e~iiing: ~~ti~uei·, s ~lahiiQf a~l intiQ~il~,,-ili,i CQurt follows, tll.e: l'equirements laitl 

. out in W ~hington that·"~ supportmg:·~vid~nce be. ~l, t¢rlal~ non~~a:tlw an4," urost 
• . ' ·..,. • • . • . . ! ·. . ' . .· .. 

' • . • .. t j • ~ • • 

importantly,_ 'ot:,such a ~nclusi~~ chatacter: ~s ~utd! 'pro a~1y change th~ result on retrial."' _,. 
• #.... • , • • ' • • • • .j \ . . . • . 

W ashirzgton; l 7-1 m. 2d at489,. quoting People. ·v: :Mol),a/1, . 01 IU.' 2d 128, 134 (1984). t~ • f . . ' . .. 

People· y.:•Collier, the; Illinois SupieriJe·Court wa~:·exi:t;~hiely clea~ _on \\hat .qµaUfles ·a, tiewi.y 
' l • • 

· . . . •• . . . " . . • • • i . . _- • : ·, I • • • •. ·, 

. •• ~c~vered._e~~~e. ~~~ng:~e ~uc~nes mt jlidl,g.~.I, ~pfac~:~:cen~~e is·-~ · . 

. _ reqwremen~ tha~ the ~V14~~ add~ ~y the·defendatt1 m. -firs.t ~e "newly_~scover~."· ,. 
. .' . • . ; . . • . • . i • .· 

·collier, 3S1 m. App. "Jd.630, 636 (1st'-Pist 400~)~.In.other • . rds, this mearts ,itniust QC evidence 
•• • ,. "7 ~ . • •• ( ~ •• \ • ~ . • . .. · : .. • ,, l . ·. . . ~ . .. ..,, 

"that wa~' not availabl~ ~ta defendalif~s tri~--~tt<\ tbat~e· co . d_ ·9ot ·ha~ cn.scov~e,,d soQ~er . 
~ • • • '> 

through due ·diligence, The evidence iiiust ·also .be ~tetial ._ •• d noncumutalive .. : In addition; .it 
.• . . .• . • . . . . r . . . . • 

must be qf such ~~~lusive-c~acter·tbat it W9\ild pr<>ibly hange :the r~sµlt -~n: ;etrial/' id. at 
. • . • ,,.. ' . . . t 

• . . . . 1 . ,• ; / . 
Ji36, "qUQtiµg People v. Morgan,.212.m: 2d 148, 154'{2904) nd People v: Barrow, 195 Ill. 2d . 

• • I, • 

. . • . . i . 
• 506, 54041 ·(2001). Evitlence .is not newly disco~ed .if it.p, esents facts aliea:dy'lcp.owµ to'Uie· 

• \ • • • • • + : • • • • • •• • • ' • .. • • • : ) ~ • • 1 • . .. . • ~ ,. . ' . • . • . . . • . 
. -· defendant ~tµ-i~l or _priot to. ttial..~e9ple -v. CfJ/er_mm, ,s1 • ~- .App ·3d-.56l,.56~. (l~tDisi. 200&). -. . • . . . . . .. . ). . . . 

~ . Gen~raJly, .evidenc~:;~us· to tneef !he definition of" ~~wr -__ c;lisco~e4" 1f the ~urce of.those· 

• • "mets may")14ve: been uiikno~ -unavail~b1e! or ~cooi{etati -_," as long as:ilie mets ate.:a:4-®-dy. 
\ . . . ,: .- . . . . . ·. . ! . . . . ' 

• known'to tlle petitioner at~ or prior~, jtial. Id Due d(ug e reqUires tbat_thete is_"atl~$t 
,...- • • • .. L : • • • !'.· 

- i 
I 

. 
I ! • 
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' 
$ome l~vel()f deductive reasoning.in an activ~ .~£fort iii, <µ • over: evidence bastxl' on the ·.- : 
.. '• . i 

• , . • • • • -kn~wled~e and 1nrormati~n already poss~ by the µtig . "s.'~ .Id: at.526, ~ting Jh:adley V. • 
, .. .( . ~ 

• . • . . • . • . . . . • : . . • ! ' . • . • ; ' . ,•· . . ~ . . . 

.State, 4S0·$o. 2d _17-3; l76 .(Ala. Crim. Aj;p. _1983) .. F$-the • re, the evi~~ce being relied ~P<?n • 
. •. '· . . . . . : .: . • . . . • • .... • ·. ! ' ,_; . • . . • . . •• ,) • • 

,, • to support a_Jree.:standfug cla:i,m:ofactual tnn~n~ dan1f ,also beU$ecl·JQa~i-t ~ . ; • ::·,. 
' , I • : • • • • ' • . , .,. • • • • • ; # • t • ; •; • • ., • .. • ,,- • ; •• 

constihltiorial viQlaiion withrtspeci: to "the peti~pneri trhl :" Peopl/v; ,r:~wn, 371 in. App. 3d · 
. . . • . • • . . : ·. '.;. ... • . ' .. . , . . ' :·. • • . ,• •. . .. ' • •, • . • . -~ • . • 

• • ,972; 984_Q11 .. App,.~007). • .. ·'! . .• · •.. •• , _. . 

:/ _ _.. Here;·petiti~ner alleg~ that this affi~yit ·co~tu~ p. wly discov~~ea· e'vid~~~ )>~~.he·. _. -· -· . . :--· : 
. . ~ •• : • • • . . l . . . . _. . . 

~ould ~t have lo~ted or contacted ~rier-, n~~ ~ulij he ~~ 6btain~ an affidavii ft~m. her, 
~. . : . . '... ', . . • : . : . . : , ' : . ·., . '.. . .l • . . . • . ' • . • ,; ,,, •. : :. .. ~ ·•·. . . 

• . ·prj9rto-his initial pro ~e ~g dueto··his incarcera,tion an· indigence. ~e-•asserts that the -
• . .. j . . • . •. :. I . • • : • • • _- • •. • : ·: •. .- • .t .- . ·. . . . -.: . . • :. . . 

•• . 'affida,:vit-establishes that~l<lSmithadmitted,to ~ri dhathe shota~d.killed the.victim, 
·. : . • . • . ' ·. . _·,, ••• ••. . • . . ". ,· ·.; . . . 'I ·. . _. • . . . .:· • : ' . . . .·. . 
• . • • a~ it is ·materi~y@ferent ~n tl)e sta~men~· attri~uted . '.her in.the police_ ~ep<;>rt;• Further, he,. • 
. ·, • •. ' , .~ ~ ... ,: ' ' ·. ;. ~ . . .. . ~ • . ,.· ·i . ~ . , J •• • ' 

, · · . -states that this aiJidayft 1s new evi~nce because_i~atr~er: . s unavailablitQ testify at tri~l. 
• : ·. • ' . • • . . ' . . ' • . • ' ~ ·. . 

/ 

: ' Petitioner also claims ~t Smith' s statements to.Battier • ~ ,mdicia of reliability becall$e .S~th' 
·.• : . _: • . . '· ..•• , . . • ·_· . .-:---:.-_.•,j . . .- :, . . . 

• ·f ·' . . and Barrier ·we!e friend$, Sinitlfs .starepient to Bar~er wa .. Jlltl:de the ni~t of the s~oo~g, 'the • 
• ~; '· .: . . . -- . • . . . ;: ; . ·~ . ~ . ., .. . ~ • . . . . . : .. . ·, i . . . •. . . ~' .. . . ,· .-... . •. . ., . . . . 

. :_ . . sta~ment-.was made _spqntaneously,.and Smith :fits the, d.e~ (ptiQh·Mendo2ll- ga:ve to the p~lice the.: ... . . . . . . . . . .. . • ' . : . i • . . • 

, : nighf o~the m.ootiµg. ~ • :,.~ ·_ : •e. · :-: ·, /. ,. !. •. . , ~ .. • •. . : . ; . 
• •.,: • , • • , ' ~ . r , • •~• ' • • • ' ' •••• • •• : • ; • i • • , , ..... :• • ,~ / • • •_. ' , i , ' • 

Unfo~tely,:1,etitionet h~$ ·'not fo~d -a matur~d cl. ~ --of ne'1'.'.1Y ~sqovered evidence. As 
' . : . • . . . . . • . • . . .. _: ; :- • ' . . .. ~. . . . ' . . ' . 

. . . ·stated ~poye; evi.d¢n~ does .n~t'meet th~ tiefi:nj.µon of'n¢ • ·: y di,Syoveted" .. if the source oftJi,ose 
• • • ; • • • • • ' • • . • • ,• ., ••: • I • • , r • . • • • • • , ~ . • • • • ~ • 

~'ia.cts riiay.:have ~n ~'?WO, uiiavallable;-or:rinc~r ti~ ,'.' as lo~g a§ ·th~,mcts ·ar~ already 

;imo~ ~the.~tition~~-a~ or:pri~ ~ ~-~ial.J~e;e:*~er s -~~ea~~~ ~e'U~'U:Flori<bi•: • 
' ', , . • • •• .. . ... ' . . •. • • • I.. . • .- . ! .. • • • 

• ,; ' ·strugglirtg with-h~r acl4ictionwere.~o'W.I½ rrn,kingjher- vailable.afthe time of trial. . . . . . . . . 

Fuitlier, e~~ if-the-hiformatioii hi Barrier's affida~~;js cp sidered "~~wlt (li.s~;ered,:". 'it-is not 
. . • • ., ~-• ~ •· • • • • ." • : •~ • • • , • . ' • • • • j· • •.• •: • • I ., • • •' ' ~ • . • • • • . .. • • 

-~teri.al aI>;d ·no~-c-ati:ve, and .further; it:do~ not, rais . the proqabiljty that in the. light of the .·· • 
• ,•. ' ·./• • I •. ! ~ : . •: 

. : ,, . 

I • 

, 
• - • •- ~" • - •- w~- -

{ ... ' . . 
•·• - ... .,..1:"' . - ~~•N• •N•~• ♦ • •• • · •• ,_;r - • --···· ~-,., ...... ,., 

:, 

SUBMITTED . 23874244 : Rache·I Davis~ 8/8/2023 1:'48 PM 
C 339 

\ 
I 



129353 

. ! 
. f ..... : i 

new evid~~ce, it js more likely than n:ot that.no r~so~bie•j -.or would ·wive convicted petitioner. 
i 

• • • • ; • , : • • •• • I • • ! • 
'nus i~ beca~ th~ qontent and rel~iibility ofthe·affidaFt is recarious ~ d qq¢.Stionaf?leat best, · 

j 
~ . . . : ,, • 1 • • : 

and it fs purely circumstantj~ . . Barrier was a ·se;lttitlec;l ad ct at the timeJ1er alleged 
• • - . 

:. . . I . . 
conv~rsation vvitl1 Smith.occurred, and the conversaqqn als occurred over ·20 years ago . . • 

• . . : . ··i ·, .. : ,,,,.,,, ... • 

Further' although ·sb.e claims Smith told her the tiight Jrtti~ shooting -that lie CQnimitted the 
, ! . . . . 

crime, 'that ~tement 'W9ul4 constltu~ indirect _evidehcie ·an is purely circumstailtiat Lastly; 
• • I • . . 

Barrier ,4id ~ak to .tlie poli~ tegaiding the shooting~ fo e ;md hai a chaµ~ to te~ th¢m what 
,. , . ' 

, •• ~ggietold:her ; howev~~:she failed to.mention ~)1hitlg sad l)y Reggie at that time, \Wi~h is 
, . ! . 

! 
•• • · I • • . • . • 

--reflected in-~ polic¢ Jeport. _Ev~ so, the ,affidavit of~ti • r woWd ·not be enough to change tbe 
• . i •• ; 

i .. 

result on.retrial, especla,:ly. wh~ cpuplW .with the evi~ence gaiilst petition~r pres~ted attrial, . 
, . ' , .. } 

~ch as ~do2a' s immediate eyewitness identificatioJ upo· seeing petition;r in a .lineup, Ricks' 
· / · ' ' . I ' • ,, • . . · I . • ~ ' : • 

. previous hand~itte~_stateine~ tQ pPljce ds~titib~er the shooter, Rieb' gr~nd}ury and 
. . . . . : ·. . . . . . . . . . _, . I , . . . . . . . . , 

trial tes~ny, and petjtio:ner inatclµn.g ~Jldo~'s physica -description of the sbOQter; Courts 
. • ( . . \, ! • . . ~ .~. 

_have macle cl~r ~t "[a] ~lai,m.ofactual.itmocencei~ not ~ sa~ as a-claim·of insufficien~y of 
,. . • • , ·: .; 

. • . . . . i · 

the evid~-9-ce or reasonabl~ dolibtor .mer.~ impeacbme»;'t ·of • fa.I witnesses~· but ad~ of. ,. 
• .• : '.' . • . . . : •. • I . 

:viµdicatj9n or exoneration. ,People v. Gonzalez, Z916 tj:. Ap (1st} 141660, ,i 28. The : .. 
. . i . . " 

·,.,t . . • . i • • . . • . ' 
..., ·.overwh~lming·amount.of e.vidence presented against ¢,titio er at trial ~ i.e1Pre refutes . · • . . l . . . . 

• -petitionei:' s actual innocence cla~ • , . ~ ! . 

j 

\ 

. . . . l . . . 
' .Where, as h,ete, a j:iefendant's successive petition Jl¥lkeS . ~l~iµi of actuai .iP'JlOCence; such~ 

' . . . ~ ; 

. .. ,. . . \ 
claim ~Y .~y ~ ~nsidered if tb:e e.Yidence in suppor~ of e. claim ~s ·newly discoveJed, 

• ' .. i 
. . • i 

material fu the i'isue iuid:not merely c\Ull41~tive ·ofothe, tri • :evidence,_ and ef such a conclusive 
' . . . .. 

character: that it probably would change the result .O,q )etria •,People.-~, Ortiz; 23~ Ill. 2d ·319, : . ~ ·~ . . . [ • ' , ' . 

333,.34 (2009). Petitioneir-fdils to satis~ these elenien~ .. Co elusively, petitioner's cl~iin of· • • ·. , 
. • .. . • . ! . • . .· , . .. . 

. . ., 
; 

i .. 

12 . 
I 

A-17 
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actual innocence based on what he believes to be ne~y dis vered evidence through Eli7abeth 

:F:3arrier 's affidavit mils because it does not meet the r~uir d standards. Thus, this claim is 

dismissed. 

b. Ineffective Assistance of Counsel 
J 

Petitioner next claims ineflective assistance of trial co el based on the newly discovered 

evidence he contends is contained in Elizabeth Barrier,' s a davit. Petitioner asserts that he was 

denied effective assistance of counsel where his trial couns Joseph P. McCaffery, miled to 

conduct a reasonable investigation into Elizabeth Battier a d further failed to interview and 

subpoena her. 

• In examining petitioner's claims of ineffective assi~tan of counsel, this court follows the 
I 

two-pronged test of Strickland v. Washingto~ 466 U.Sl 668 687 (1984). Under this standard, 

petitioner must show that counsel's representation fell~elo an objective standard of 
. .; , . 

l 
reasonableness, and that but fur this deficiency, there i,s a ~r sonable probability that counsel's 

perfurmance was prejudicial to the defense. People .v. !{icr, 2,04 Ill. 2d 585, 613 (200 I). 

"Prejudice exists when 'there is a reasonable probabiijty thr , but fur counsel's unprofessional 

_errors, the re~t of the proceeding would have been differer.'" People -v. Erickson, 18~ 111. 2d 

• 213, 2i4 (1998) (citatidns omitted). A petitioner's fail';U'e t6 make the requisite shoVving of either 

deficient perfurmance or sufficient prejudice defeats a clai of ineffectiveness. People_. v. 

Morgan, 187 Ill. 2d 500, 529-30 (1999). 

Significantly, effective assistance of counsel in a coilstilonal sense means competent, not 

perfect, r~presentation. People v. Easley,J92 ill. 2d 3Q7, 3f (2000). Notably, courts indulge in 

the strong_pr.esumption that counsel's perfurmance fell lwi '1 a wide range ofreasonable 

professional assistance. Strickland, 466.U.S. at 690 (2001). Moreover, "the met that another 
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attorney might have pursued a. different strategy is not a tor in the competency 

determination." People v. Palmer, 162 lll. 2d 465,476 (1 94) (citing People v. Hillenbrand, 

121 ID. 2d 537, 548 (1988)). Further, counsel's strat~gic d isions will not be second-guessed. 
' 

Indeed, to ruminate over the wisdom of counsel's ad'1ce is precisely the kind of retrospection 

proscribed by Strickland and its progeny. See Stri.cklr.;md, 66 U.S. ~t 689 (" [a] mir assessment 

of attorney performance requires that every effort be mad to eliminate the distorting eflects of 

i 
hindsight"); see also People v. Fuller, 205 Ill. 2d 308i, 331 (2002) (issues of trial strategy must 

be vie\\red, not in hindsight, but :from the time of COW1fer s ondQct, and with great deference 

accorded counsel's decisions). Challenges to trial counsel s representation ordinarily are not 

cognizable under the Act unless the claim regards a $ltte outside the trial record. People v. 
I , 

Britz, 174 Ill. 2d 163, 178-79 (1996); People v. Cole1ifan, 67 ru. App. 3d 895, 898-99 (1st Dist. 

1994). 

In general, whether to call a particular witness "i$ a matter of trial strategy." People v. 

Flores, 128 Ill. 2d 66, 85-6 (1989) ( citations omitted): Sucl a claim cannot form the basis for a 

claim of ~effec~ve assistance of counsel unless the tifal s I tegy is so unsound that counsel can 

be said to have entirely :failed to ·conduct any meaningful a ~rsarial testing of the State's 
I 

prosecution. People v. Jones, 323 ID. App. 3d 451, 4~7 (1 Dist. 2001). • "When the defen~t 
. , I 

attacks the c_ompetency of bis counsel fur :failing to cap or onta~t witnesses, he must attach to 

his post-conviction petition affidavits showing the pot~ntia testimony of such witnesses and 
I 
l 

explain the significance of their testimpny." People ~ Ro rts, 318 Ill. App. 3d 719, 723 (1st 

' ' j 
Dist. 2000). Further, counsel's.fuilure to adequately prepa e for trial or to conduct adequate 

investigations may support an ineffectiveness claim. feop v. Witherspoon, 55 ID. 2d 18, 21, 

302 N.E.2d 3, 4 (1973); People v. Coleman, 267 ID. App. 3 895,900,642 N.E.2d 821, 824 (1st 
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! 

Dist. 1994):· However., ·"a particular decision not to :Jives gate must be dir~y. assessed fur . : . ~ • l . . . . . 
• # • • 

reasonableness fa ·an circumstance~~· applying a heavy;mea • • e of deference· to counsel's . . . . ' . . .- ! . . . . . . 
•.• I , . , . 

• judgments." Strickland v. Washingtqrz, 466; U.S .. 668, r 91, ~L. &l 2do74; 695, 1_04 S. Ct,' 

• ' ' • 
2052,.2066 (1984). In addition, "to,prevail on a cla~ of· effective assistance for milllie _to 

' . i ' . . : 
m:vestigate, petitioner ~ust show ~t substantial prejqdice resulted and .that there ·is a 

: - • • • ,, · • · . . 1 • , I · . . . . · · ~ 
reasonable pr_obability that final result would have~ clifrerent had counsel properly 

• l , • • 

• irivestig~ted_.'; People v. Rus~ 294 ill; /PP•-3d 334~ 312<43 63~ N.E.2d,669, 674 (5th Dist. 
( 

1998). 
; ) 

! 

In the 'instant inatter, pe~oner has_miled. to demo4.stra ·tltat_:&rrier'-s affidavit ~onstitutes 
I 

' ' 

newly discovered evidence 9f a. clain1-0f ine:ffective assfstan of counsel that is material, 
. , ! 

noncumulative, and ofsuch conclusive char~cter that i~ wo _d pr~bably change the outcome on_ ' 
. , • _, ! , ' . 

.retrial for :th~ same r~sens stat~. in the pre'1.ous section.. • urther, petitioner· does not even meet 
. • . . ' , ~ ~. . ; . • . . 

the requirements for an ineffective ~ssistance-of counsel cla .because he mils to satisfy either ., . ; . 
·, . 

prong of-Strickland. Petitioner's milure to make the requisi ·showing of either-deficient • · 

• performan~ or sufflcieµ,t prejudice de:rea~ hi~ claim o~ineL~veness. ·As ~~ above, • • • 
i 

: (. 
•. counsel's decision not to·~vestigate must.be directly assess 

• ( • • , • • I 1 
I 

, , i 
• circumstances, .applying a heavy ~stire of de:rerence jto co • 

, ,· . ,, 
• for reas9nableriess in.all 

. ' 

. ~l~s judgments. Here, counsel's· • 
i 

' • • I '~ • 

decision to,not 'investigate into Elimbeth Barrier was not . : easonable under the circumstances. 

As she said herself in her.affidavit,~~ the time ofpeti~Jner' I trial; she was living as a va~~ in 
., . • :. , . , ' . ·-

Flbdda and had relapsed back ~to her -~ddi~oa F oi pios r.easons alo~~; she ~ unavailable 
, . ! . ' . 

and would ~ve bee~ extremely hard to tptc\( down. Further she. was out of state .. ,:makiµg bet •. 

even more difficult of.a witness to co~l to co~ testify: •. • , co~el's :decision not to look . , . . . . : 
. I . 

into 8arder is not a strategy is so UD$Ound that counse~ can· e said to have e~ely railed to 
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conduct any meaningful adversarial testing of the State's p osecution. Further, petitioner cannot 

show that substantial prejudice resulted from the absence o Barrier's-testimony, and that there 

is a reasonable probability that final result would have bee different had counsel properly 

investigated her. It is unlikely that her testimony would have changed th~ result at trial 

Petitioner thus cannot show that counsel's representation ll below an objective standard of 

reasonableness, and that but for this deficiency, there is a r . nable probability that counsel's 

performance was prejudicial to the defense. 

Con¥lU$ively, petitioner's claim of ineffective assisi:an of counsel based on what he' 

believes to be newly discovered evidence through Elizabeth j&rrier'~ affidavit fulls because . 

petitioner has fulled to ~tisfy either prong of Strickla":d· b, this claim is dismissed. 

m. Affidavit of Romano Ricks 

Petitioner next attaches an affidavit from Romano \Qcks The affidavit is signed, dated, and . 

notarized August 9, 2018. Petitioner claims that the afij.davi of Romano Ricks constitutes: (1) 
. . ' 

newly discovered evidence of actual innocence; (2) evidenc that the State fubricated evidence 
I 

' 
against him and concealed exculpatory and impeac~rit e • dence, in violation of his right to 

due process oOaw; and {3) evidence that the State knowing . used mate!ial, perjured testimony, 

in violation .ofhis right to due process of law. 
• : t 

In his affidavit, Ricks states that he is currently incarcer ted ~t the St. Louis Correctional 

Facility in St. Louis, Iv.lichigan. He explains that he met petitioner in November 1991 through a 

mutual acquaintance, Nate Neal. Ric.ks states that a few wee later, he traveled 'With Neal and 

some over :friends ftom Detroit to Chicago for petitioner's ding. On November 22, 199l, 

Ricks states that he pai:ticipated in an armed robbery of~ gr · ery store with Reggie Smith and 
! 

two others. They were all arrested and detained at Coo)c Co ty J~il. Ricks goes on to say that 
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several in~<Juals approached him in jail and tQld hiip. tha • he should·ttke full responsibility for 
·- . . • i . . • ~ 

the robbery, to \'\hlch he respQnded that he would not~ ·so He ~ys ~i sQmetime la:~, he was 

put ill a lineup with Smith. ~, !Uc!<s sti,tos tbat he + q estioned 1>y ~li_;., Akin a);out a . .. 

murd~r,.at a used car-deal~shiJ? on the Ii9rth side-of C~ca· o..• Puring.the questionµig~ Rieb says· . 

toot D~t~ve Akin.told hfm tbafthe ~der occurred ~ur· : ap armed.robbery,and sonJecine 
l 

had bee~ sbot and killed, anq that'Smith :was involved in th . murder. -~foks ~ta.tes that he 
~ . . . . ! . 

. • !· • . ~ 

truthfully re~ponded that he·did qot know anything ahJ,ut th riillrder, after :which Detective Akitt 
. I . 

<Save him his 9a.rd and· as~ that Ricks ~ontact Jiim ifAe :ted. to discuss anythin$ further. 
' .. . . 

After speaking with Detecti~ AIQn,,Ricks says that he sJumpe4 and ~aten by other 

• inn:ia~ in jail. He ~tes that he· initi~lly be~eved that~ ordered tbe hit.on him because he 
J 

would not take pr~y responsibili~ for.1)le robbery ~t . y were both involved ~ so he 
l . i . . 

con:fronted Smith. Rieb says that Smith _denied having ' ny • wl'vement in the beating and told 

Ricks:that petitioner mll$t !Jaye ordered it. He explains t: e-called peµtioner. and conftonted 

• him about the beating,'vmich petitibner denied. After ·s,- cl~ was jumped.again. He state:s 

. that after the £econ_d beating,.he called Detective Akin jllld t ld biµl he wanted to ~ to him • 
j 
I 

regarding the car dealership inuider: l.Ucks says that h~ tol Detective Akin that Sm;.th told him , . . . . t . 

that he had set up the robbery of a car dealer, that he 4r:ove . tit,ioner to the car lot to do the 
• '· .· . . • . . . 1 • • 

robbery, and ·that peµtioner told Smith he shot and killr th· car- dealer. Rieb .e,cpfains-th.at he 

further gave a handvw-'itten statement to a prosecutor s : izing what he told Detective ~n. 
• I . 

. Ricks ·says, that he then' spe~ifically a~ked Detective~ if h could help him on his pending 
• I . 

. • 1' . 

' robbery case, to which the detective r~ponded that.he ~ul , • see what he ~o-µld do to_ get Ricks· a· 
,,. \ . . 

I ' 

lesser sentence. H~ states. that he was later approach~ by · etective Akins agaU4 who told him 
) . . 1· . . . 

they could not bring a caseagainst:petitioner unl~s he) te • ed fQ his statemen~. Ricks· say~ tbis 
• i 

i 

17 
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is when he made up the story about petitioner telling hlm the· and Smith had a robbed a car 

dealership and petitioner shot the car dealer. He furth~r te ed to these statements both at 

petitioner's. grand jury hearing and at trial. 

26 y~ars later, Ricks now says that his statements ~nd ny at the grand jury hearing 

an~ petitioner's 1rial (that Smith. told him he drove pel tionl. t~ the c~r lot, tha.t pe~tioner told 

Sllllth he shot the car_ dealer durmg the robber;7, and ~t p f tioiler also told him he ~ot the car 

dealer) are all false. He states that Smith never actually ma e any sta~ments to him indicating 
. : . . . ' . 

that petitioner was involved, nor did petitioner ever implica e himseff to him. Ricks say~ he gave . 

his handwritten statement and later testimony implicating p titioner because h~ believed 

• petitioner was the one 'Who ordered the attacks on him ~t th jail, and he was mad at him, and 
. : 

further, he wanted help on his own pending case. He ~stly tes that he was sentenced to 1 O 
! 

years for the armed robbery, but "to the best ofhis recpllec 'on,"· he only served 2.5 years. 

a. ~ctual Innocence Based on Newly Dis~over d Evidence 
. I 

Petitio,ner· first claims actual innocence based on n+wly • scovered evidence based on the 

affidavit of Romano Ricks. 
' I 

Fundamental fairness requires that an exception tojthe use and prejudice test is to be made 
I 

. j 
in a sho'Wing -of actual innocence. People v. Pitsonbarger, 5 Ill. 2d 444, 459, 793 N.E.2d 609 

I 
I 

(2002). The Illinois Supreme Court in People v. Washi,zgto , 171 Ill. 2d 475, 489, 665 N.E.2d 
. ! 

. ! 

1330 (1996), firstre~ogniz.ed that ~[t]he wrongful contctio of an innocent person violates due 

process under the Illlnois Constitution, and, thus, a :&eJstan • g claim of actual innocence is 
I 

cognizable under ~e. Post-Conviction Hearing Act" P.,eopl v. Barnslater, 373 Ill. App. 3d 512, 
i • 
I 

519, 869 N.E.2d 293 (1st Dist 2007). There. is a distin?tio~ however, between being found "not 

guilty' and being "actually innocent" The court in Pepple . Savory, 309 Ill. App. 3d 408, 414-
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. ~ . ' ~: ·! .. ' . ' : ~ . 

. 41'5 (3dDist. 1999); defin¢, "·'ac~l hm,ocence meah[sl total vindication;.' or 'exonetation/". • .. . . . . , : I .. . . . . 

not that ev,iden~ :attrfal ~smsufficie~ ro:co~vi~ 11¢yon a·r~sortable d~ubt. ·Washington;. . •• 
·i ' ; 

• 17} Ill., 2d at:4-79;. Bar.nslater; 313 Ill. App. ~4 ad2oi · ... 
• • • • I i . 

' • . . t 

lti examif!ing petitiqner's claim'of aciual i:booc~, . s C?urt µ:,llo~ the tequiremen.ts.laid 
. . 

out in Was~ingt(!n that '~the suppor~ .evidence be n~w,. teriai DOQC\llllulative ana; most 
' . . • • ·.:, , . . . . j . . . . . . . . 

·impptta11tly, 'of sue~ a cpnclusive c~a,cter' as ~ul~ 'pr . bably change the res.ult o,i r~ial.,,, 
• . . • .. [ • , •. . . . • 

.' - • •• • • • • • • ! ..,. ' ~ • ~ .'l • 

Washington, 171 ill. 2d·at489-, quotingPeoplev;_Mol,statl 101 Ill. 2d 128,134 (1984), ·1n •. . 
. . . . •• • • ' ' . . ! .. . •. • . : . -~ .. .. ......... 

People v . .Collier, theJliinois-Supreme.Court:was.extt~l ci~r on what qualifies as'newly 
•. . • • . l . 

. . . discovered evidence: ~·Amohg: ~e.to;ucbs~nes fu~,jud~ing , laims ofa~aHnn~cen~e is the 
• ·. . . .. ·. l ';,•. -

• • requireme~t that.the e~dence adduced by the de~ndabi in fitst be nn~~tY disoov~~•."· • .••.. . . . . . . . :· . . ·1 . . .·. · . 

. • Collier~ 3:~7 Ill~·App., ·~.d;630, 636(1stDist. 2008)~ In~th~r _·'rd.s, tlusmeaiJs.itmusfbe ~videnc~. ·,1 
. . • • . . . . . . · . ., . . • . . • .. : .. .- : • · l • ·: . ·~ . : • • . • 

. \ "that was not available. at a defen<J;3ni's. trial and .th~tlhe C uri net bav.e di~OYe~ed sooner- • 
• • • ¥ • • • .i 

thr9ugh due'diqgence. The evidencenrus.t also be mati rial nd noncUilllll.~tive~ Ih~ddition, it • 
. •. ··. . . • . • : . •. . •. ·. 1 . .. 

· : • • ·must b~ ~(such conciusi.ve c'1ar~cte~·that it ~uld prcib~b.l ·cfui:qge theres1J.).~6n retrlaL".ld .. at 
.: • .. . • • . •. . .. , • ! . . . 

636; qu~fulg-P_eople. v,:M~~gan, .~12 Ill. 2dl48,.J51 (~004 andP~r>ple v. jiarrow, l~S ill. 2d 
: . : · .. ./ . . • , . '. . . •. . . . .. , . . J .. . . ·. . .... .•. : ··. . . .. .. 

so~, 54041 \(2001 ). Evidence is nor newly 'di$GQvered-\ifit. reseQ.ts facts already ki;tow,n to the • 
' • • • • • ~ • • - • • • ! .i . • ' : . . . • 

. , • . . • • . . •, . . ,.. .. t :· 
• defendant.:attriaf.or prior to trial. People_v; Coleman,! 38i ll, ~P 3~ 561, ~68 (lst Dist: :200~). 

. . . •. . . . . • . ... : .• : : . • • .· I . , . ·. . 
. Gener~y,·evi~nce f.\ils· to ~t'the definiµon Of i ne. ··disc.over~'' Jfthe sourc¢ of those •• . 

. • • . . . • • . . • . • -!: .·. . , 
• ~'f4cts ~y~ve. heeq unkno~ ·unavailabl~, o! u.n,cooper~ ·ve~ ,,. as. long as· th~ ~cts are already 

. . . . . ·. • : • . . • . . · . . . . L • •. : . . · . : · : . . . . :. . . . . .. . . . 
kno~to the petitioner at, or prior. to, :trial. 14 Du,e.cµng ~e requires·tbat there is nat l~st ... ••• 

....... • • • • - ~ . - ./ .. • ' • • : ~-~· • + • . • •• .. • .. : ' • 

. :·. ,: . ' 
_$om,e t7vel of d~uctive. :tea$oning ~ an,active. effo~ 19. . • ver ~vidence bas~ on the 

; . 

knowledge. .andjnformati~n a1r~dy pos~s~ .by the 1kga ~? Id. at 526, quoting Bradley v.: 
. . ... . . . .•. . •. . .. • • • • . . • ,,_ •.. ·1 . --. .. \. . . . . ·. . •. . . . . 
-$tate,.450·$o. 2d· f7~, i76 {Ala. Ctini-APp. 19.83);. ·Futth~ .• • re; the eviderice·beit;lg relied upon 

.· . :· . . . . . . : . . ·_. . . . t . . · . . . _· . . : . . . . 

.. :.-- · ! 
'. .1 

.J . . . 
•• 19. ·' ( 

' • ' . .. 
) 

.r . 
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to support a free-standing claim of actual innocence c~nno also be used to assert a 

constitutional violation with respect to the petitioner'sitrial People v. Brown, 371 Ill. App. 3d 
. . ; 

972, 984 (Ill. App. 2007). 

Here, petitioner alleges that this affidavit constitut~ s ne y discovered evidence because 

Ricks did not recant his testimony until 2017, and petitjone - due to his incarceration and 
·. : . 

j . 

indigence - could not have contacted Ricks prior to hi~ initi l pro se filing. Petitioner further 
! 

asserts the affidavit establishes that Ricks' pr~vious cl~im at petitioner was the shooter is 

fabricated. Petitioner claims it is demonstrated that Rick's davit has significant indicia of 
' 

reliability beca~e: ( 1) Ricks did not tell :petective ~ tha petitioner bad made any statements 
l 

admitting to his involvement in ~e sho,o~Jng, but rathe~ he t ld him that Smith had made 
. ·~ i 

inculpatory statements, and therefore, Ricks' failure to;disc se petitioner's alleged inculpatory 

i 
statements to Detective Akin or the felony review pros~cuto casts significant doubt on the 

' ; 
credibility ofboth.his grand jury and trfal testimony; (f) Ri ks' admission that he :fabricated ms 

• I 

testimony in exchange for help on a pending ez.se is coiisist t with what Detective Akin testified 

to during petitioner's par.ole revocatio~ heal'.~; and (p) Ri ks admitted he falsely implicated 
I ' . 

petitioner partly becaU;Se he believed p~ti'lioner arranged to ave another inmate attack him. 
' . ', . ·~ ~ i 

Unfortunately, petitioner has not funned a mature~cla' of newly discovered evidence. 
: I ·, 

Those experienced in the administratit>n of criminal ia\\r we know the untrustworthy character 
·, . . ',>, t: . • ! 
• . i 

of recanting testimony. People v ... Marquis, 344 Ill. 261 i(l 93 ). It is widely held in Illinois that 
. r, \ . I ; -. ' . 

• recantation of testimony is regarded as inherently unreliabl , and a court will not grant a new 
\ ·~ ... { \ . I • -~. l 

trial on that basis ·except in extraordinarj ~ircumstan~s. P ple V. Steidl,. 177 Ill. 2d 239, 685 

(1997); see also People v. Morgan, 2l2 Ill. 2d 148 (20Q4). ere, the reliabilityofRicks' 
• ; • l , . , ' b. ; i 

affidavit, and his recantation in general, is' ~ot strong. ,k s 
; ~J. • / . '>. ·. .. : 

J ' · 

:•. 20 
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. , • \ . . -: 

. Detective ~s back-~ :1992 an,d g~ve ~ haiid~itte~ kate . ~ .mdicating that Smith to~d him 
• _.·_•. . - , - _ • . ::_·._ . , · ·, .. · . 11 ·. ,! _ . • 

• ~th~ ha'd setup the ~obbery and-diove ·petitio11;er to the- • .lot tt,. dO"·the.-robbeiy, arid that .. . I,,' .. ·. . . . 

petitioner. shot the car. ·dealer·. He further fi.-eelf.gave_ ~stim. ny ·at the grandjury hearing and 

• • • .- ~ution~~-ii'1rta1, aga~·.namng.petitio~~r -~~ the·-~oot~r. c~ ls Jpw· J1a~s iri his affidavit 
. ) ~ . • • ' . • . • • . j 

,.. . ov~ 2o·ye_~rs I.atet' ihat he made.up.-:this: story :~rid fab~cate_ • ~ testimony because he.was -~~-• . : > 
, , . I • • • _' • • • • • . •• • ' • • : ? • • J . . . •' 
1 

• _ ~t petitiop~r:and\v~1!-~ help on his ~nding r_ol>~ry :t se: • ~-render~· tbt r~tation. ~pth·: ·_ ••• • 
. .•. . . .. . : . . . • . . •. . .. ... : I . . . , .. . , . -· . 

·suspect and iiiherentlyl,lllX~lia\>le. Next,_in termsJ;,fRidks' . eged motive i\)'lie about peti.tio~~r'.s . 
· · .- . ' . • .· • . • .- · . :·-· I . . · - --· · .. · .·.• · "-.. · 

• involvement, there-is iio conci;et~ ·eyiden~ that hi~ p~epous testimony ii,nplicatib.g petitioner 
I • • • .. • • • • •• + • .I . ' . ~ • • . •. . ,: .• •• • ',' l ' . ' • • ~. ~ . . . • . . • .. . , . 

• -. : .ac~UY:helpedRicks iJ,l terms·of)fis·peiidingrob~ery4<mvi tion, ~s:Rickshilil$~lfcannoteven . 
. . . ,.. . ' ' _... . . •• . . . . • , • ~1 .. ' . • 

. coajidently recall how much time of that sentence oo served . 
•• • • • ." • J • • , • • •, r , . •. : •• • . ., • • . : •. ·! '·. .• • . :/ . •. . • '.', . 

Even if,~~ in(otma~oil in Ri~ks'. affidavit~ be.~psid r.e4 '~newly dtscovered;"'•itis not 
' ;, . , • J • ,, .. , .. ;· . , • 

. • mat~rial or !J;?Il-<?uttni!ative, an~ further~ it d_oes not :r315e ~ pt6babiµty ~t m the li~t.ef the 

. ·. : , • new.evid~ce,. it is· nio;e ,likely~ ~<>t that n~ r~n~bl~j • 6~ woul~-ba~ co~victed p~tion~: 
.... _. . ... , - .. . .. . . . . • . . . : • : -· . . -..-._ . . I . ·_ . . : . . , . . . . . . . •. · . . . 

. _This.js ~~use the .c~nrtent and r_eliabiUty <;>f~~ ~ffi~yit is . esti(>J1able and ~aky at b~ due • 
' • ' ' ' ,. ~ ~ '! ' . ' • . . 

\. . • : . • • . • ;,. • . , . •. • • • i • . • • . . . . 

, • to the fact that'it-is solely recantation of previo'!J$.~stlmony: ~ .previously men~oned, the • ... : . · 
• • . • . . :· : . .. \ · . . • • . ; ... . • . .: •' ! .. _. ;·. . .. : ,- ... ~- :: .'.· •• . . 

. • .·_recantation orrestimony;i.s regarded.~s "biherently'unrtjlfabl , People v. Steidl, ·117 I11. id-239, 
• • . • , • . i , • • • • , r 

. . . ·• . •• . ~ . . • . • . .:_, • . . . , • . .' l . . 
_ , , {j8~ .(1997); Sf{e tr/so People ·v. Mor.gar,, 212 m. 2d "148! (2'0 . ).' ~cks•· affidavit_ would not be. 
' • ' ·. , ' ~ :~'".. . :· ,.., ' .. " ~ :- '. _: •. . ' ' ... , ' . .i . .. : .· . . . ' .. . • ,• . ' . 

·-enou_gh .to c~ge· the .r~$ult on retrfaJ, especi.a:Jly·when\cou • led with:the evidence against-. 
.. . . ... ·. . . ... ' . . . -~ . ·.. :·. ~ .. . . : . . . . .. ... ·., .'.. r·. . . . . .. _· -~ . . . ... : ·. ~- . . . . . ·. :·· . .. . . 

. petitic;_,o,et. pt:c-s~nted at trial, such as l\1endom 's ~ate .. ye:witness identiii~tion upon seeing • 
• • _. • .· • • . •.. • ·.. · . .- : • . . . • .- . . . , : :.- . : \ . • .. . . : . _. . . . . -· 
: • .. petitiojl.(1 in.a ~eup,_Ricks' previous'hllndwritten-stat~men; to police ,:iaming-petitioneni~ the 

_. • . • . ·:- _.. . .·_ ·. . . . . . . . •. . .I· .. · . . . _. · .··._· ·_· . -.-. 
.shooter, Ricks'.PteviQus'·grand.jury an4 trial testimon~ and. etitioner ®tclihig ?vfendoxa's 

• : , · • ·{ • . • • I • • 

~-. . ' · -~ . • . • ;. : ' , . . ·. .• . . . . . . 

• ,physical-~escri¢.on. ofthe shooter. Cotitts ~~ inade {I~ar . .• t ".(a]_ claim1~f ac~l inn_~5cente _· : 
),- : • • 1 • • ' • • • ! · . " . ·, • . .•• 1 

• is no't:th~ 'sanie as a ct'a.im.ofmsufficienty_9ftp.e.~Yidenbe or te~sonable;.doubfor-µie~e • . 
.,... . , . .. . . . . . ,• ., . 

/ .. 21 •. _: , 
C. 

·.: A-26 • ~ ' . 
---~,,,..,..,..- ...... . -. .. .. ,,,.,_. ·"""··•""·· _...,, __ ,..,,,_ . ...,,..,,.,,,,,.... __________ .....,.....,.... _________ _.__ :--~ . .. .._• ,-- .. -~ ... ·•• 
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SUBMITTED . 23874244 . Rachel Davis . 8/8/2023 1:48 PM 
C 3 4 9 



129353 
\ 

I 

impeachment of trial witnesses, but a claim of vindicaiQn -~~oneration. People v. Go~lez, . . • . I 

2016 IL~p (1st) 14_166~, ,r 2~. Theoverwhehning fun o~evidencepr~e~tedaga~ 

petitioner at trial clearly refutes petitioner's actual ~oce • .claim.- • 
• . l . . . 

Where, a~ here, a ·d~~ndant's successive petition ~s a claim of actual innocence, such a 

claim may onlybe co:0Sic;lered if the evidence i!l suppotf of e claim was ~ewly discovered,· , 
. . I • .. 

material to the issue and not merely cum.ulati:ve of oth~r tri l evi9ence, and of such a cqnclusive 
. . .. . ·1 . • 

. - I . • .I 

character ~at it probably would cha'Qge the r~t on tetr • 1. People v. Ortiz, 235 DL 2d 319,. 
f • .,, 

J . 
333-34 .(2009). Petitioner fails to satisfy these elements. Co elusively, petitiQnet's claim of • 

. . . . • :· .1 . . • 
actual innocence.based on what he believes to .be newly dis • vered evidence through Jw:n:mlo 

.. . I • 
• i . • . . I . 

Ricks' affidavit fail$ because it does not meet the staqqatds required. Thus, ~claim~ 
! 

dismissed . . 
l 

'b. Newly Discovered Evidente 1'bat the ~~te aJ,ri~ated Evidence.Against Him 
; 

·· and CoQcealed Excu.lpatory and:lmp~ach ent ~den~, in• ViolatiQn ·of 
• I . • I . 
Petitioner's Right tQ Due Process of ~w 

l 
Petitioner· next claims that Romano Ricks' affl<l8-vit o~~ newly discovered evidence · 

! . . 

that the State fubricated evidence againSt him and conbeale exculpatory and impeac~t 
• . I ' 

evidence~ in viQlatiQn of petitioner'~:·due process righJ . . ifically,'petitioner alleges-that . j . • 

Romano Ricks~ affidavit establishes Detective ,Akin 4i4 not • close to petitioner or his att~r!1ey 
! ,· 

that he had discussed the shooting with Ricks, that Ricks • • • lly denied.knowing anything about 
• . . . . ! ·. 

I®~ 1hat ~tecti~ -.toldRl~ µo could "hot . • regarding~~ pen~ case, 

and l,astly, that Ricks :learned informatiop about the shpotin from Detective Akin. Peti1ioner •. 
. . . i ~ . . 

claims.that ~JI of this is evidence that the State fdbrica ed a d concealed evidence, as this 

22 , : 
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undisclosed evidence was both :filvorable and material to titioner's case and would have 

' 
impeached Ricks' trial testimony, resulting in petitio~br no being convicted. 

j 
i 

Firstly, to win relief under the theory of"ne~y dis . overed evidence," the evidence 
! • 

' adduced by a defendant lll1,lSt actually be newly discovered People v. Morgan, 212 Ill. 2d 148, 
l . 

155 (2004). That means it nmst be evidence that was *ot a ilable at defendant's original trial 

and that the defendant could not have discovered sooJer ough diligence. Id. The evidence 
i . 

must also be material, noncumulative, and it lastly mqst be of such conclus_ive character that it 
! 

would probably change the outcome on retrial. Id. Next, d e process prohibits the :fu.brication or 
• I 

i 
suppression by the State of informatiQn or materials ~vor le to the petitioner and material to 

• i 

guilt or punishment. Brady v. J.\1aryland, 373 U.S. 83,J 87 ( 963); United States v. Bagley, 473 
i . . 

U.S. 667,682 (1985). "Moreover, the disclosure obligatio applies to impeachment evidence as 

well." People v. Pecoraro, 175 Ill. 2d 294, 305 (1997[) (ci tions omitted). The standard for 
j 

materi~lity under Brady is whether there is a teasona\)le p obability that disclosure of the 
. \ 

evidence 1? the defense would have altered the outconie of e proceeding. People v. Sanchez, 
. \ 

169 Ill. 2d 472,486 (1996); Bagley, 473 U.S. at 682. A "re sonable probability" is a probability . . I 
sufficient to undermine ,confidence in. the outcome. Batley, 73 U.S. at 682. 

\ 

In the instant J;Datter, petitioner has :fulled to d~mo trate that Ricks' affidavit constitutes 
I 

newly discovered evidence of a Bratly claim that is ma~eria , noncumulative, and of such 
' . . 
' 

conclusive character that it would probably cl\ang~ thr out ome on retrial for the same reas~ns 

stated in the previous section. Petitioner has further fu'.iled substantiate his allegation that the 
I 

State fabricated and concealed evidence against him -4\ltho gh petitioner has included the • 
• l • 

I 
affidavit of Romano Ricks, this docwnentation does no~ a unt to legitimate evidence of 

i 
• I ! 

concealment or suppression of evidence. As stated abo.ve, e recantation of testimony is . 
\ 
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I 
·regardel~s inhe.r~tly unreli~ble, and-~ court-~ ~ol gr , ~ ·a' new trial on that b~sis except in 

extraordinary circumstances: People v. Steidl, 177 Ill. 2d.2 9, (j85 (1997)'; s,ee.also People v. 
' • . ' 

_Morgan, 212 ill. 2d 148'(2004). Ricks' sudden and Iatb r 
I • 'I • . ! 

' . i 
deemed to.be unrelial;,le, {or reasons previously.statedl-P.e 

• . ! 
ino;e than a bald conchmon. As sue~ it does not ~*ant 

I 

ntatlon ofbis previolJS testimony is 
) ., . . 

• oner's Brady claim is, thus·, nothing 

CondQsively,. petitioner's Brady claim based on what believes to be ~ewly discovered 
. I . . 

evidence through Ro~no Ricks' ajfidavit mils. The at;tach d docume~µon further does not 
. . - . . . l : / . . . . _. 

support the requirements for -newly discovered evidence. s, this claim is dismissed. . . . . i 
I 

c. Newly _Discovered'Evidence That the &tate owingly Used Material, 
/" i 

· Perjured 'r~timony in Violation of P~titi er's Right to ~ne Process of Law 
. \ : 

·: . i 
Petitioner next.claims that Romanp Ricks' afli1avit nstitutes newly discovered e~den9e 

. . l . . . 
that the ~te 19iowinglY used material, perjured testiJ$ny, violation. of petitioner's due 

. . . ~ 

! 

• process rights. Petitioner contends that his constitutio~l ri ts were viola tea by the perjured • . . • l . • . . .\ 
~stimony_ of Ricks~ Spooifically, peti1;ioner alleges tha~ Ric 

I 
only solicited help from the State in his other pending dase; ut that De~tive Akin told Ricks he .- • • . • . l 

. • I 

would help· him. Petitioner. claims that this is evidence .ih.at e .State knowingly used ~jured • 
. , • , l 

- • . • I 
testimony, as it elicited.Ricks'. testimony knowing his rriotiVi • for testifying and knowing the ' . . 

tesf:imony would be mlse: 

Firstly, to win reliefund~r the theory of.".newlYi ~SC vered E}vide1;1~," the evidence .. . / 
• ! . 

adduced by a defendant must :a~lly be newly discovJred. • eqple v. Mo;gan, 212 m. 2d 148, 
. l . 

155 (2004)/ Ibat means it must be evidence that was n6t a ilable at defendant's original trial 
. . . . .. . . I . . . . . . 
and that'the derendantcoul4 not have.discovered sooner thr ughdilig~ce;Jd. The evidence 

: ' '. • • ' ' I l · . . . ' . ' . 
must also be material; noncumulati~, and it lastlyimiSt be fsuch conclusive character.that it 
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. 'I 
. • J 

I 

. - - I . . . -
would probably change the outcome on retrial. Id.' N' xt, it is ~xfomatic that a conviction based •. 

. • . i ' ' .• . . ' 

upon false testimQny offends nQtions ·offundamenJal ~irne s. • People v. Jimerson, 166 in. 2d 
' . : ' .j . . . ', ' . . • . 

211,_ ~23 (l995); Giglio v. U,nited-States, 4
1

05U.S. 15
1
, 1~. (19?!)- Perjury ha& been aptly 

cha.racten7.edas."tbe mortal enemy ofj'ustice." Peop!e V; ' non, 28 Ill App. 3d 873, 878 (1st 
, I 

Dist. 1975)!. To ,establish a violationofdueprodess, ·the p; secutoineed not have known that the • •• 
I I • . . • ' . i 

testimony was false; it is enough that there was knowledge n the part of representatives oi . . . . I 

::::::::7:cl;:l~::~::t: 218-,: :::o::::th• 

specific lacts, the petitioo. may be dismissed witliout +vi I )lllaty.hearing, People v. Aihley, 34 

ru. 2d 402,j 11 _ (1966}. :ijence, it is incumbent .on petiµone .. to substantiate ·bis allegations_ with . 
' • I .. I • 

. specific Jacts which_~tablish.the .fal~ty ofthe_ ~ia.l tes~ . People~- ]yfartin_~ 46 m. 2d 565,_ 
• I 

568 .(1970) .. In the context of a conviction·claimed to lia:ve . .. ob~fued through the us¢ of. . . , I 
. I 

perjured testimony, the petitjon must specify the natur~ of ~ evidence of ~rjUry, its source, and 
• • i 

its availability. Peop,e _v. Mitchell; 123Ill."App. 3d 86~~ 87 '._79 (-1st Dist. 1984). 
. . . ! . 

. In the instant matter, petitioner ha~ ~iled· to depID ate that Ricks' affl~vit co_nstitutes 
-, . . ~ - 1 

i.ewly ~owr~;~denuoflmowingt <>f J)Oli~ r ' ny1hat is ,mte,ial, DO~tive, 

and .of ~clYconclus1ve character ~t 1t would probably cba ge ~e .outcome Otl- ret;nal.for .the 

same ~~sons. sta_ted iµthe pr~vi?us sooion. Petiti~1,1er ~s • ther failed to s~bstantiate -~s _ : 

• allegati~n ~t ibe Sta~ lmowingly ·use4 perj~ed res4ny. Altho\lgh petitioner· bas ~cl~ed. ~e 
' ~ . ' . . i . . ;. 
affidavit of Rieb, this documentation,do~s notaIDQuntfQ te· 'timate evidence Qfperjury 

. . . . _.. I . • . .· . . . . ·. 

-whatsoever. -As_ state~ ab<)~, recantation _of testimony ii reg . rq~: as.~~~~y unreli.able;: and ~ 
court will not grant a :n~w trial on that ~asis exce_pt ili-~a ~din~ry circumstances. People v.. • 

' . . . . 'i . . 
Steidl, 17.7 Ill. 2d 239, 68$ (1997); see·aJso People_v. Morg. , 212 ID. 2d 1~8 (2004). Indeed, 

. . .. . l . • 
I . • • 

i ( 
l 
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nothing in the instant petition remotely points to the State' knowing use of perjury. Only an 
' ! 

actual, knowb;tg use of l'erjured testimony will consti~te a onstituti.onal violation. People v. 
i 

Olinger, 176 ID. 2d 326, 345 (1997); United States v. ~agl y, 473 U.S. 667, 678-80 (1985). , 

Even "\\here a petitioner supports his claim of perjury~th pecific mets, his convic~on will only 

be set aside if he can e~blis~ that the prosecutors kn~w, • should have known, of the perjured 
i 

' testimony. People v.' Brown, 169 Ill. 2d 94 (1996); P~titio er 's claim of perjury is, thus, nothing 
1 
;1 

more ~an.a bald. conclusion. As such, it does ~ot wa4ant elie{ 

Conclusi~ly, petitioner's cl~im that the State mo¼ngl used perjured testimony based on 
' i 

what he believes to be newly discovered evidence throµgh mano Ricks' affidavit mils. The 
I ; 

attached documentation further does not support the r~uh- ments fur newl; discovered 
I 

evidence. Thus, this claim is dismissed. 

CONCLUSION 
\ I 

. I 
Based on the foregoing discussion, ·this Court :qnds at petitioner's claims have not 

satisfied the cauie and prejudice standard and are 4'j fri-rolous and patently without 

merit. Accordingly, leave to file.the instant petition is ~er_ D. • 

DATED: • i \ 2-4 [ d-- l 
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IN THE CIRCIBT COURT OF COOK COUNTY 
COUNTY DEPARTMENT, CRIMINAL DIVISION 

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF ILLINOIS, 

Plaintiff, 

v. Case No. 92 CR 0744.~;01 ........ _ 
0 ::""'µ 
-l"l~u;; JOHNNY FLOURNOY, 0 c 
o=:-< 
c ~=-~ 

Defendant· Petitioner. ;;.-:: :c-;~ 
C)~::o 
C.:::=--i 
c--:•··-z;;z 
-lc,ffi 

NOTICE OF APPEAL -<~N 
~ 

An appeal is taken from the order .or judgment described below. 

....... ; 
t;::> · 
....... ! -· 

,r-.:, 
CX> 

(1) Court to which appeal is taken: Appellate Court of Illinois, First 
Judicial District . 

(2) : Name of appellant and address to which notices shall be sent: 
Johnny Flournoy 
Reg. No. B61265 
Lawrence Correctional Center 
10930 Lawrence Road 
Sumner, Illinois 62466 

(3) Name and address of appellant's attorney on appeal: 
Office of the State Appellate Defender 
203 N. LaSalle, 24th Floor 
Chicago, Illinois 60601 
Phone: (312) 814-5472 
Email: lstDistrict@osad.state.il. us 

(4) Date of judgment or order: April 30, 2021 

(5) Offense of which convicted: first-degree murder and armed robbery 

(6) Sentence: Natural life 

SUBMITTED. 23874244 . Rachel Davis. 8/8/2023 1:48 PM 

ENllfl~tED 
MAY 17 2021 

IRIS Y. MARTINEZ 
CLERK OF THE CIRCUIT COURT 

OF COOK COUNTY, IL 

~ J t. ........,,.... 

C 384 
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(7) Naturn of order appealed from: Defendant-Petitioner appeals the trial 
court's order denying his motion for leave to file a successive post­
conviction petition 

Da~: 5/17 /21 
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Johnny Flournoy 

Isl Nicholas Cun·an 
Nicholas Curran 
Kathleen T. Zellner & Associates, P.C. 
1901 Butterfield Road, Suite 650 
Downers Grove, Illinois 60515 
Phone: (630) 955-1212 
Email: attorneys@zellnerlawoffices.com 
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2022 IL App (1st) 210587-U 

No. 1-21 -0587 

SECOND DIVISION 
December 2 7, 2022 

NOTICE: This order was filed under Supreme Court Rule 23 and is not precedent except in the 
limited circumstances allowed under Rule 23(e)(J). 

IN THE 
APPELLATE COURT OF ILLINOIS 

FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT 

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF ILLINOIS, 

Respondent-Appell ee, 

) Appeal from the Circuit Court of 
) Cook County. 
) 

V. 

) 
) No. 92 CR 7449 
) 

JOHNNY FLOURNOY, ) 

Petitioner-Appellant. 
) Honorable James B. Linn, 
) Judge Presiding. 

JUSTICE HOWSE delivered the judgment of the court. 
Presiding Justice Fitzgerald Smith and Justice Ellis concurred in the judgment. 

ORDER 

~ 1 Held: We affinn the judgment of the circuit court denying defendant leave to file 
a successive postconviction petition on grounds of actual innocence. The "new" 
evidence is not of such a character that it would be likely to change the result on 
retrial. Defendant's claim that the State used false evidence against him at trial is 
barred by the doctrine of res judicata a.nd, in any event, defendant cannot show 
prejudice. Defendant's claim of ineffective assistance of counsel due to counsel's 
failure to investigate a witness does not entitle him to relief because he cannot 
show prejudice. 

~ 2 Defendant Johnny Flournoy was convicted of first-degree murder and armed robbery for 

the 1991 killing of Samuel Harlib and robbery of a used car dealership. Defendant filed a motion 
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seeking leave to file a successive postconviction petition. ln his motion, defendant argues that he 

has supplied newly discovered evidence which presents a colorable claim of actual innocence. 

Defendant also argues that he has made a substantial showing that the State used false 

infom1ation to secure his conviction and that his tria l counsel was constitutionally ineffective. 

The circuit court denied defendant's motion for leave to file a successive postconviction petition. 

For the following reasons, we affirm. 

3 BACKGROUND 

14 On November 14, 199 1, Samuel Harlib1 was shot and killed as he was working at a car 

dealership on the north side of Chicago. Ar defendant's trial, Harlib's coworker, Raphael 

Mendoza testified he was present when Harlib was shot and identified defendant as the shooter. 

15 Mendoza testified that he and Harlib were working at Ron/Mar Auto Sales, a used car 

dealership located at 3845 N. Western Avenue in Chicago. Mendoza and Harlib were in the $ales 

office when they noticed a man outside looking at cars on the lot. Mendoza went outside and 

talked with the man, who Mendoza later identified to be defendant Johnny Flournoy. Mendoza 

was only two or three feet away from defendant and was looking at his face as they talked about 

the car. Mendoza notified Harlib that defendant was interested in one of the cars and had money 

for a down payment, so the three men talked together near the vehicle. 

~ 6 Harlib and defendant went to the office together whi le Mendoza did some work to get the 

car ready. When Mendoza fin ished getting the car ready, he went to join the other men in the 

office. As Mendoza walked into the offic-e, defendant was standing inside holding a gun and he 

ordered Mendoza to sit down. Defendant was alternating between pointing the gun at Mendoza 

1 Defendant refers to the victim as Samuel Harib. The State refers to the victim as Samuel Harlib. 
"Harlib" is used more prominently in the record and appears to be the correct name, so we have used that 
name in this order. 

2 
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and Harlib. Mendoza testified that Harlib lunged at defendant going for the gun, and the gun 

went off, firing into the floor. Defendant then pointed the gun at Harlib and shot at him twice 

from close range. Har lib screamed. Defendant grabbed around $) ,000 in cash that was sitting on 

the desk. Defendant then fired multiple shots in Mendoza's direction but did not hit him before 

fleeing the scene. 

7 Mendoza called 911 and police and an ambulance arrived. Harlib was taken from the 

scene in the ambulance. Mendoza went with the police to the station to answer some questions 

and then went to the hospital where he learned that Harlib had died. In his trial testimony, 

Mendoza repeatedly identified defendant as the person who killed Harlib and expressed no 

doubts that defendant was the person he encountered at the car dealership the day defendant 

committed the murder. 

~ 8 Mendoza viewed a physical lineup that included Reginald Smith and another witness who 

testified at trial, Ramano Ricks. Mendoza did not identify any of the individuals in the lineup as 

the person who was at the car dealership and shot Harlib. Mendoza did, however, identify 

Reginald Smith as a person he recognized. Mendoza told detectives that Smith was an 

acquaintance ofHarlib and that Smith had previously purchased a car from their dealership. 

Mendoza told detectives that Smith sometimes came to the car lot to make payments, but 

Mendoza confirmed to detectives that Smith was not the person who shot Harlib. 

9 The witness who was included in the lineup, Ramano Ricks,2 briefly spoke to detectives 

after the lineup. Detective Lawrence Akin testified that he told Ricks that detectives were 

conducting an investigation but did not tell him anything about the incident they were 

2 Defendant refers 10 Ricks as "Romano" Ricks. However, in his affidavit, Ricks states his name 

as "Ramano," and Ramano is the name used more prominently in the record so we have used that name in 

this order. 

3 
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investigating. Detective Akin testified that he gave Ricks his business card and told Ricks to call 

if he heard anything unusual or out of the ordinary. 

1 IO Ricks contacted Detective Akin two months later after he was arrested for the robbery of 

a Jewel food store. Ricks was in Cook County Jail and wanted to be placed in protective custody. 

Ricks told Detective Akin that after he was in the lineup with Reginald Smith, Smith told him 

they were in the lineup for a murder that "[Smith] and Johnny did." Ricks knew Smith was 

talking about defendant, Johnny Flournoy. Smith told Ricks that he and defendant went to the car 

dealership to commit a robbery and that defendant killed the man working there. Ricks wanted to 

be placed in protective custody because someone tried to stab him while he was in jail. Ricks 

believed that defendant may have been behind the attempted stabbing because defendant had 

urged Ricks to take the fall for the robbery of the Jewel food store, but Ricks refused. 

1 11 Detective Akin conducted another physical lineup for Mendoza to view, this time 

including defendant. Detective Akin stated that as soon as he opened the cu1tain, Mendoza 

immediately began shouting "that's him, that's him*** The last guy on the right is him" as he 

identified defendant as the person who ki-Jled Harlib. 

,1 12 Ramano Ricks testified at trial. He testified that he met defendant in Detroit a month 

before the murder, in October 1991. Defendant lent him money. Ricks came to Chicago for 

defendant's wedding in November 1991 . Defendant asked Ricks to pay back the money he had 

borrowed. When Ricks told defendant he did not have the money, defendant told him he could 

commit an armed robbery to get the money. Defendant showed Ricks that he was carrying a gun, 

and defendant told Ricks that he did not have a choice but to commit a robbery to get the money. 

1 13 Ricks testified that defendant gave him tips on performing an armed robbery and told him 

not to fire the weapon. Defendant told Ricks about committing a recent armed robbery at a car 

4 
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dealership and that he fired his weapon at a guy during the course of that robbery. Ricks and 

Reginald Smith went forward with committing an armed robbery of a Jewel grocery store that 

day and they were arrested. Ricks and Smith were in custody for that robbery when they were 

placed in the first lineup that Mendoza viewed in this case. 

1 14 Defendant presented alibi testimony from his wife, his mother, his stepdaughters, and his 

boss. The alibi witnesses testified that they knew defendant's whereabouts on the day of the 

murder and that defendant could not have been the perpetrator. One of his stepdaughters testified 

she was with defendant at the time of the murder, but they did not go to a car dealership. The 

State presented impeachment evidence that called into question the veracity of the alibi evidence, 

including prior statements from the alibi wiu1esses made to police that they did not know 

defendant's whereabouts at the exact time of the murder. The jury found defendant guilty of 

first-degree murder and armed robbery but acquitted him of the attempted murder of Mendoza. 

1 15 Defendant filed a prose posttrial motion claiming that he received ineffective assistance 

of counsel for the failure of counsel to call two witnesses, Elizabeth Barrier and Reginald Smith. 

According to police reports, during the early stages of the investigation, a person contacted 

police and told them Elizabeth Barrier might have information about someone named Sam being 

murdered at a car dealership. The police reportedly spoke to Barrier and she informed them that 

her friend Reginald Smith called her and informed her that his good friend had been killed and 

he wanted to see her. Smith allegedly told Barrier that his best friend Sam was a car dealer on 

Western Avenue who was killed during a robbery there. Barrier told police that when Smith 

arrived at her apartment, he told her that someone had shot his friend and that he had left the car 

dealership just five minutes before the shooting. Defendant alleged in his motion that his counsel 

should have called Reginald Smith and Elizabeth Ban-ier as witnesses at trial. 

5 
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~ 16 In response to the motion, trial counsel explained that he had spoken to Barrier and 

determined that her testimony would have only been helpful for the purpose of impeaching 

Reginald Smith ifhe was called as a witness. Trial counsel considered calling Smith as a witness 

but decided not to do so because much of Smith's testimony would have been harmful to 

defendant. The trial court denied the posttrial motion. 

~ 17 A death penalty hearing was held, and the jury rejected a death sentence for defendant. 

Defendant was sentenced to life in prison. Defendant's conviction was affirmed on direct appeal. 

People v. Flournoy, No. 1-94-4427 (Nov. 15, 1996) (unpublished order under Ill. S. Ct. R. 23). 

The Illinois Supreme Court denied defendant's petition for leave to appeal. People v. Flournoy, 

172 Ill. 2d 557 (Table) (1997). Defendant filed a postconviction petition in which he argued: (I) 

the State used perjured testimony against him at trial; (2) the State suppressed evidence favorable 

to the defense; and (3) that he received ineffective assistance from his appellate counsel, who 

failed to raise these issues on direct appeal. Defendant also argued that his trial counsel was 

ineffective for several reasons, including that trial counsel: (I) failed to obtain a parole 

revocation hearing tape which could have been used to impeach Ramano Ricks and Detective 

Akin; and (2) failed to call Elizabeth Barrier as a witness. Defendant's postconviction petition 

was dismissed by the circuit court at the first stage. The dismissal of defendant's postconviction 

petition was affirmed on appeal. People v. Flournoy, No. 1-97-1987 (June 30, 1999) 

(unpublished order under Ill. S. Ct. R. 23). In addressing defendant's claim based on counsel's 

failure to call Barrier as a witness, we explained that defendant's claim failed because he "did 

not attach the affidavits of these witnesses to the post-conviction petition" and that "without 

these affidavits this court cannot determine whether Elizabeth Barrier*** could have provided 

any information or testimony favorable to [defendant)." People v. Flournoy, No. 1-97-1987, at p. 

6 
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l0. The Illinois Supre-111e Court denied defendant's petition for leave to appeal. People v. 

Flournoy, 187 Ill. 2d 577 (Table) (2000). 

~ 18 On February 21, 202l- 27 years after he was convicted, defendant filed the motion 

seeking leave to file the successive postconviction petition that is the subject of this appeal. In 

his proposed successive postconviction petition, defendant claims he has newly discovered 

evidence that: (I) demonstrates his actual innocence; (2) shows the State concealed and 

fabricated evidence; and (3) shows that he received ineffective assistance of counsel at trial. In 

support of his successive postconviction petition, defendant attached affidavits from Ramano 

Ricks and Elizabeth Barrier. 

~ I 9 In his affidavit, Ricks claims that after he appeared in the lineup for the investigation in 

this case, Detective Akin informed him about the murder at a car lot on the north side of Chicago 

that occurred during an armed robbery and indicated that Reginald Smith was involved. Ricks 

claims that while he was in jail for the armed robbery of the Jewel, he believed that either 

defendant or Smith was trying to have him killed, so he contacted Detective Akin to discuss 

Harlib's murder. Ricks admits that he told Detective Akin that Smith set up the robbery and 

defendant carried it out. Ricks further admits that he told Detective Akin that Smith had 

informed him that defendant confessed to Smit!h that he committed the murder right after the 

robbery occurred. Ricks admits that he gave a written statement summarizing what he told 

detectives. 

~ 20 Ricks, however, now claims that the statements he gave detectives "are false." Ricks 

claims in his affidavit that Smith "never made any statements to me to indicate that [defendant] 

was involved in the robbery and murder." Ricks claims that he gave the statement to detectives 

because he was angry at defendant because he believed defendant was behind the attacks against 

7 
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him in jail. Ricks claims that he also fabricated the story about defendant himself telling Ricks 

that defendant and Smith had committed a robbery and that defendant shot someone during the 

robbery. Ricks now claims that defendant "never made any statementS to me about having been 

involved in the robbery of a car dealer, or that he had shot someone." Ricks claims in his 

affidavit that both his grand jury and trial testimony were fa lse. He states that he gave the fa lse 

testimony because of his anger towards defendant and for help from the State with his own 

robbery case. 

~ 2 1 Defendant also attached an affidavit from Elizabeth Ba.rrier3 in support of his proposed 

successive postconviction petition. In her affidavit, Barrier claims that she met Reginald Smith at 

an inpatient rehab program in Chicago. She was addicted to crack cocaine. Barrier claims that 

Smith showed up to her apartment one night with cocaine and heroin. Smith told her that he had 

robbed a used car dealer and had shot the car dealer in front of his safe. Barrier told another 

individual named John what Smith had told her, and she bel ieves John informed the pol ice. 

Barrier claims, to the best of her recollection, that she refused to answer the police's questions 

about the shooting. She had slipped back into addiction and was scared of Smith. Barrier claims 

that regardless of what is recorded in the police reports from her interviews with police, Smith 

"specifically told [her] that he shot the car dealer he had robbed." Barrier also claims that trial 

counsel' s statements that he had spoken to her on the phone were fa lse and that she was never 

contacted by anyone in connection with this case about being a witness at trial. 

~ 22 Defendant contends in his successive post-conviction petition that the affidavits from 

Ricks and Barrier constitute newly discovered, credible evidence of his innocence. Defendant 

3 Barrier refers to herself as Elizabeth Foster in her affidavit. She states that Barrier was her 
maiden name. For purposes of consistency and to avoid confusion, we have referred to her as Elizabeth 
Barrier throughout this order. 

8 
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also contends in his proposed petition that the State Yiolated his due process rights by not 

correcting the trial record when Ricks testified that he was not rece iving any consideration for 

his testimony. Lastly, defendant contends that he received constitutionally ineffective assistance 

from his trial counsel for not locating and calling Barrier as a witness. 

1 23 In a 26-page written order, the circuit court denied defendant leave to tile his successive 

postconviction petition. Among other findings, the circuit court found that the affidavits did not 

constitute "newly discovered" evidence as is required for defendant' s successive postconviction 

proceedings. The court also noted that, even if the evidence was considered to be newly 

discovered, it did not raise the probability that !be result would be different on retrial. Ultimately, 

the circuit court found that defendant 's proposed successive petition, along with the supporting 

evidence be supplied, did not meet the standard for going forward on a successive postconviction 

petition. Defendant tiled th is appeal. 

~ 24 ANALYSIS 

25 On appeal, defendant raises three arguments from the circuit coun's order denying him 

leave to fi le his successive postconviction petition. First, he argues the affidavits from Ricks and 

Barrier constitute newly discovered evidence that support a colorable claim of actual innocence. 

Second, defendant argues he made a substantial showing that the State violated his due process 

rights by fai ling to correct inaccurate testimony by Ricks during the trial. And third, he argues he 

made a substantial showing that he received ineffective assistance of counsel at trial based on 

counsel's failure to investigate or call Barrier as a trial witness. 

~ 26 The Post-Conviction Hearing Act provides a method by which defendants may assert 

that, in the proceedings that resulted in their convictions, there was a substantial denial of their 

rights under the federal or state constitutions. People v. Hodges, 234 Ill. 2d l, 9 (2009); 725 

9 
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ILCS 5/122-1 et seq. (West 2020). A postconviction proceeding al lows inquiry only into 

constitutional issues that were not and could not have been adjudicated on direct appeal. People 

v. Williams, 394 Ill. App. 3d 236, 242 (2009). Therefore, where a petitioner has previously taken 

an appeal from a judgment of conviction, the ensuing judgment of the reviewing court will bar, 

under the doctrine of res judicata, postconviction review of al I issues decided by the reviewing 

court and any other claims that could have been presented to the reviewing court will be deemed 

waived. People v. Edwards, 2012 IL 1117 11, t 21. Moreover, when a defendant is seeking to file 

a successive postconviction petition, the issues he could have but did not raise in his initial 

petition are waived. See 725 JLCS 5/ 122-3 (West 2018) ("Any claim of substantial denial of 

constitutional rights not raised in the original or an amended [postconviction] petition is 

waived."). 

~ 27 Under the Post-Conviction Hearing Act, petitioners are entitled to file only one 

postconviction petition, and any subsequent petitions are allowed only with leave of court. 725 

ILCS 5/122-l (f) (West 2020). The limitation on filing multip le postconviction petitions is 

intended to limit the filing of both successive and frivolous postconviction petitions (People v. 

Smith, 20 14 IL 11 5946, 1 24) and successive postconviction petitions are disfavored by Ill inois 

courts (People v. Johnson, 2019 IL App ( I st) 153204, ~ 3 I). A petitioner must meet a higher 

burden to go forward on a successive postconviction petition than he must meet at the first stage 

of original postconviction proceedings. Edwards, 2012 IL I 11711, ~~ 25-29. 

"A request for leave to file a successive petition should be denied only where it is 

clear from a review of the petition and supporting documentation that, as a matter of law, 

the petition carmot set forth a colorable claim of actual innocence. [Citation.] 

Accordingly, leave of court should be granted where the petitioner' s supporting 
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documentation raises the probability that it is more likely than not that no reasonable 

juror wou ld have convicted the petitioner in light of the new evidence. (Citation.] At the 

pleading stage of postconviction proceedings, all well-pleaded allegations in the petition 

and supporting affidavits that are not positively rebuued by the trial record are to be taken 

as true. [Citations.) In deciding the legal sufficiency of a postconviction petition, the 

court is precluded from making factual and credibility determinations. [Citations.]" 

People v. Robinson, 2020 IL 123849, ~,r 44-45. 

~ 28 We review the denial of leave to file a successive postconviction petition de novo. Id. at 1 

25. 

~ 29 Before turning to the merits of the appeal, we must address the contention that defendant 

cannot raise his claim of actual innocence because it is based on the same evidence defendant 

uses to support his claims of violations of his constitutional rights. In People v. Robley, our 

supreme court he ld that a postconviction petitioner cannot raise a "free-standing" claim of actual 

innocence based on newly discovered evidence that is being used to supplement an assertion of a 

constitutional violation with respect to the trial. People v. Hobley, 182111. 2d 404, 443-44 (1998). 

"A 'free-standing' claim of innocence means that the newly discovered 

evidence being relied upon "is not being used to supplement an assertion of a 

constitutional vio lation with respect to [the] tria l. ' See Washington, 171 111. 2d at 

479. For example, in Washington, a witness came forward years after the 

defendant's conviction and stated that two other men had committed the murder 

for which the defendant was convicted, and that she had not come fonvard sooner 

out of fear for her life. [Citation.) This newly discovered evidence was deemed 

sufficient to grant relief." Hobley, 182 Ill. 2d at 443-44. 
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30 In this case, the issue arises because defendant is claiming Ricks' affidavit recanting his 

prior testimony that defendant admitted shooting the victim directly to Ricks is newly discovered 

evidence of his actua l innocence and using Ricks' affidavit to supplement his claim the Slate 

knowingly used perjured testimony when it allowed Ricks to testify that defendant admitted 

shooting the victim. In Hobley, our supreme court initially found that the newly discovered 

evidence in that case could establish a violation at trial of the defendant's constitutional right to 

due process. Id. at 444. Regarding the defendant's subsequent claim of actual innocence based 

on the same evidence, our supreme court held the evidence did not support a "free-standing" 

claim of actual innocence and the defendant has " therefore not properly raised a claim of actual 

innocence." 

31 Defendant in this case argues our supreme court rejected this holding in People v. 

Coleman and found that a defendant who can make both a freestanding claim of actual innocence 

and a cla im of a deprivation of a constitutional right at trial based on the same evidence "is not 

required to choose which claim to pursue." In Coleman, our supreme court rejected the federal 

courts' distinction between "free-standing" claims of actual innocence and "gateway" claims of 

actual innocence. See People v. Coleman, 20 l 3 IL 113307, 90-91. The court stated it "may 

have used the label ' freestanding' to describe the c laim in Washington, but not as an alternative 

to the label 'gateway.' " Id.~ 90. In rejecting the federal dichotomy, our supreme court did not 

overrule or abrogate Hobley. See People v. Griffin , 2022 IL App (1st) 191101-8, 33 ("We 

acknowledge the court's comment in Coleman but reject any suggestion that by that comment 

the court overruled either Hobley or Orange. We read the court's comment as merely identifying 

the applicable standard for the different types of claims. In point of fact, the court made no 
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reference to Hobley or its apparent rule that the different claims rnay not rely on the same 

supporting documentation in order for the actual innocence claim to be freestanding."). 

~ 32 We also independently find that Coleman stands for no more than the proposition that the 

burden on a defendant raising a postconviction claim of actual innocence is the same whether 

that claim of actua l innocence could be classified under federal law as a "gateway" cla im as 

opposed to a "free-standing" claim. Coleman, 2013 IL 113307, t 91 ("the evidentiary burden for 

an actual-innocence claim is always the same whether or not it would be considered a 

freestanding or gateway claim under federal law."). Furthermore, as this court has recently 

reaffirmed, "[t]he Hobley court created a rule tnat disallowed petitioners from using newly 

discovered evidence demonstrating actual innocence to also support alternative claims of 

constitutional trial error within the same postconviction petition." Griffin, 2022 IL App (I st) 

191101-B,~34. 

~ 33 We will return to this matter at the appropriate moment in our disposition. Suffice now to 

say that given the vociferation of defendant's actual innocence argument compared with the 

argument the State knowingly used perjured testimony, specifically when it allowed Ricks, 

unchallenged, to testify defendant admitted shooting the victim to Ricks, we will consider 

defendant's evidence of Ricks' recantation of that testimony as it pertains to his claim he is 

actually innocent: 

~ 34 I. Actual Innocence 

~ 35 Our supreme court has explained the substantive component of the courts' approach to 

postconviction claims of actual innocence and, recently, how that component is to be executed in 

practice. 
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"Sµbstantively, in order to succeed on a claim of actual innocence, the defendant 

must present new, material, noncumulative evidence that is so conclusive it would 

probably change the result on retrial. [Citation.) New means the evidence was discovered 

after trial and could not have been discovered earlier through the exercise of due 

di ligence. [Citation.) Material means the evidence is relevant and probative of che 

petitioner' s innocence. [Citation.] Noncumulative means the evidence adds to what the 

jury heard. [Citation.] And conclusive means the evidence, when considered along with 

the trial evidence, would probably lead to, a different result. [Citation.]" Coleman, 2013 

IL 113307, ,r 96. 

,r 36 We focus here on the requirement that the evidence must be "so conclusive it would 

probably change the result on retrial." Id. Our supreme court has stated that "the conclusive 

character element refers to evidence that, when considered along with the trial evidence, would 

probably lead to a different result." People v. Robinson, 2020 IL 123849, ,r 47. This is "the most 

important element of an actual innocence claim." Id. Our supreme court has cautioned that: 

"Ultimately, the question is whether the evidence suppo1ting the postconviction 

petition places the trial evidence in a different light and undermines the court's 

confidence in the judgment of guilt. [Citation.] The new evidence need not be entirely 

dispositive to be likely to alter the result on retria l. [Citations.] Probabil ity, rather than 

ce1tainty, is the key in considering whether the fact finder would reach a different resu lt 

after considering the prior evidence along with the new evidence. [Citation.)" Robinson, 

2020 IL 123849, ~ 48. 

,r 37 At this stage of proceedings the question is whether defendant bas set forth a colorable 

claim of actual innocence. Id. ,r 50. To answer it, "we consider his motion for leave to fi le the 

14 



A-48

129353

SUBMITTED - 23874244 - Rachel Davis - 8/8/2023 1:48 PM

1-21-0587 

successive petition, along with the supporting affidavits, to ascertain whether he has raised the 

probability that it is more likely than not that no reasonable juror would have convicted him in 

light of the new evidence"--or in other words, whether defendant has placed the tria l evidence in 

a different light sufficient to undermine our confidence in the judgment of guilt. See id. ~~ 48-50. 

We note that our supreme court has directed that: 

"the inquiry applicable at the leave-to-file stage of successive proceedings does 

not focus on whether the new evidence is inconsistent with the evidence presented 

at trial. Rather, the well-pleaded allegations in the petition and supporting 

documents will be accepted as true unless it is affirmatively demonstrated by the 

record that a trier of fact could never accept the ir veracity. In assessing whether a 

petitioner has satisfied the low threshold applicable to a colorable claim of actual 

innocence, the court considers only whether the new evidence, if believed and not 

positively rebutted by the record, could lead to acquittal on ren·ial." (Emphasis 

added.) Id. ~ 60. 

Finally, we must also consider evidence in support of the petition that would be hearsay 

at a subsequent trial. See id. ~ 80 (citing Ill. R. Evid. I J0J(b)(3) (eff. Sep. 17, 2019)). 

~ 38 The trial court found that the evidence derived from the affidavits was not newly 

discovered. Defendant argues that the affidavits from Ricks and Barrier, viewed 

alongside the trial evidence, present a colorable claim of actual innocence. He maintains 

that Ricks ' recantation and Barrier's statement that Reginald Smith confessed to the 

shooting in her presence should have caused the trial court to grant him leave to file his 

successive postconviction petition. The State argues that the evidence is not "new" 

because our supreme court has defined "new evidence" for purposes of a successive 
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postconviction petition as evidence which is discovered "after trial and could not have 

been discovered earlier through the exercise of due dil igence" (see Coleman, 2013 IL 

I I 3307, 1j 96) and defendant has failed to demonstrate due di ligence. The burden of 

showing due diligence falls on the defendant. People v. Walker, 2015 IL App (I st) 

130530, 1j 18. Or, put another way, the defendant bears the burden of showing that there 

has been no lack of diligence on his part. People v. Wingate, 2015 IL App (5th) I 30 I 89, t 

26. 

t 39 The parties dispute the issue of whether the evidence is newly disc-overed. 

However, even ifwe assume defendant's evidence in support of actual innocence is 

newly discovered, petitioner cannot prevail in this case because the evidence is not so 

conclusive it would probably lead to a different result at trial. Edwards, 2012 lL I 11711, 

t 32 (a defendant cannot prevail on his successive postconviction claim unless he can 

satisfy the requirement that the evidence be "conclusive"- that the evidence, when 

considered along with the trial evidence, would probably lead to a different result on 

retrial). Taking the information in Ricks and Barriers ' affidavits as true, and in spite of 

the hearsay nature of the evidence in Barrier 's affidavit, there is no probability that the 

evidence would change the result on retrial. Here we must consider the pertinent 

averments in Ricks and Ban-ier's affidavits . We address each affidavit in turn. 

1i 40 Turning first to Ricks, he averred, in pertinent part, as follows: 

"Detective Aikin told me that the murder occurred during an armed 

robbery, the victim had been shot, and Reggie [Smith) was involved in the 

murder. Detective Aikin described for me how the shooting occurred. 
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After Detective Aikin gave me rhat info1mation, J 1rurhfully told him that I 

did not know anything about the shooting. 

* * * 

After [an) attempt to stab me, I called*"* Detective Aikin *"'* . "''* I told 

him that I was willing to help him with the murder involving the car dealer. 

* " * 

**" Detective Aikin told me how the shooting occurred. 

* * * 

I told Detective Aikin that Reggie [Smith) told me that he had set up the 

robbery of a car dealer he knew, and that he drove (defendant) to the car lot to do 

the robbery. I further told Detective Aikjn that Reggie (Smith) told me that when 

[defendant] came out, he told Reggie [Smith] that he had shot the guy. 

,. *" 

My statements that Reggie [Smith] told me that he drove [defendant) to 

the car lot to do the armed robbery and that [ defendant] to ld Reggie [Smith) he 

had shot the guy during the robbery are false. 

Reggie [Smith] never made any statements to me to indicate that 

[defendant) was involved in the robbery and murder. 

I specifically asked Detective Aikin ifhe could help me on my pending 

armed robbery case. Detective Aikin told me that he could not 'officially ' help 

me, but that he would see what he could do to get me a lesser sentence. He told 

me that he would help me get into a work release program. 
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Detective Aikin told me that they could not bring a case against 

[defendant) unless I testified that [defendant) to ld me about being involved in the 

murder. 

I then made up a story about [ defe.ndant) telling me that he and Reggie 

[Smith) had robbed a car dealer, and during the robbery [defendant) shot the 

owner. 

The sto1y I made up was false. [Defendant) never made any statements to 

me about having been involved in the robbery of a car dealer, or that he had shot 

someone. 

Again; I made up the story because I was mad at [ defendant,] and because 

I wanted help on my pending armed robbery case. 

My testimony before the grand jury was false, in that neither Reggie 

{Smithj nor {defendant} ever made statemencs to me suggesting that {defendant] 

was involved in the robbery and murder of the car dealer. 

* •• 

*** I served approximately 2.5 years ofmy 10-year sentence before I was 

allowed work release." (Emphases added.) 

1 41 The new statement from Ricks is not probative of defendant's innocence nor could it lead 

to an acquittal on retrial. Contrary to defendant's assertion in his reply brief that "[b)oth 

affidavits support a conclusion that Reginald Smith, not [defendant), was the shooter," Ricks' 

affidavit does not speak to the identity of the shoo-ier whatsoever. Ricks merely says he 
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fabricated his prior statements and testimony that defendant confessed to the shooting and that 

Smith told Ricks that defendant was the shooter. That is not the same as saying Smith was the 

shooter or even that defendant was not the shooter. All Ricks averred is at best that defendant did 

not confess to Ricks that defendant shot the victim and Smith did not tell Ricks defendant shot 

the victim. We find, based on Ricks' affidavit, as a matter oflaw Ricks cannot testify at trial to 

anything that tends to prove defendant's innocence or that would lead to an acquittal upon retria l, 

considering all the evidence. Accepting Ricks' affidavit as true can only remove one piece of 

damaging evidence against defendant but Ricks' evidence is not the only, or even the strongest, 

evidence against defendant. 

~ 42 Ricks' substantive utility for defendant's claim of actual innocence is effectively naught. 

Thus, even if Ricks ' recantation is accepted as true, his evidence is not of such conclusive 

character that no reasonable juror could fail to acquit defendant after considering the prior 

evidence along with the new evidence. See Robinson, 2020 IL 123849, ~~ 48-50. 

~ 43 Turning next to Barrier ' s affidavit, she avers, in pertinent part, that: 

"In late 1991, Reggie [Smith] showed up at my apartment one night with 

cocaine and heroin. 

At that time Reggie [Smith] told me that he had robbed a used car dealer, 

and that he had shot the car dealer in front of his safe. 

To the best ofmy memory, when police asked me about the shooting I 

refused to answer the ir questions. 

*** 
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*** Reggie [Smith] specifically told me that he shot the car dealer he had 

robbed. 

* * * 

I never spoke with anybody representing [defendant] about what Reggie 

[Smith] told me. 

In fact, until recently I had never heard of [defendant] or that he was 

prosecuted for the murder of the car dealer Reggie (Smith] confessed to me he 

had shot and killed. 

• •• 

*** I was never contacted about being a witness at (defendant's] trial." 

~ 44 Barrier's affidavit does point to someone else as the shooter in the murder. It is therefore 

conceivable that if a jury was ab le to somehow consider the statements in Barrier's affidavit at a 

trial, it could lead to an acquittal on some counts of the indictment against defendant However, • 

the State indicted defendant on three counts of first degree murder: that he, without lawful 

justification, (I) intentionally and knowingly shot and killed Samuel Harlib with a gun ( count I), 

(2) shot and killed Samuel Harlib with a gun knowing that such shooting with a gun created a 

strong probability of death (count II), and (3) while committing a forcible felony, to wit: armed 

robbery, shot and killed Samuel Harlib with a gun in violation of section 9- l-A(3) of the Ill inois 

statutes (count III). Section 9-l -A(3) read, at the t ime of defendant's conviction, as follows: "A 

person who kills an individual without lawful justification commits first degree murder if, in 

performing the acts which cause the death: *** he is attempting or committing a forcible felony 

other than second degree murder." 720 ILCS 5/9-1 (a)(3) (West I 992). In brief, the State charged 

defendant with felony murder. The jury returned a "general verdict" of guilty of first degree 
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murder See People v. Woods, 2021 IL App (1st) 190493, ,i 70, People v. Bobo, 375 Ill. App. 3d 

966, 978 (2007) (a general verdict is one in which the jury does not determine the defendant is 

gui lty under a specific theory of the offense). "It is 'well settled' that, when an indictment alleges 

multiple forms of a single murder, and a general verdict is returned finding defendant guilty of 

first-degree murder, 'the net effect is that the defendant is guil ty as charged in each count.' 

(Citations.)" People v. Valdez, 2022 IL App (1st) I 81463, iJ I 73. 

,i 45 Barrier's affidavit says nothing about defendant's pa1ticipation in the robbery. Barrier has 

expressed no knowledge of the armed robbery in this case. Accepting as true, for purposes of 

defendant' s motion for leave to fi le a successive petition, that Smith "shot and killed Samuel 

Harlib with a gun" (counts I and II), when considered along with the trial evidence, that fact does 

not raise the probability that it is more likely than not that no reasonable juror would convict 

defendant of felony murder (count III). The jury's verdict constitutes a finding of guilty of felony 

murder. Valdez, 2022 IL App (1st) 181463, ,i 173. Therefore, we find as a matter oflaw thatthe 

averments by Barrier fail to meet the requirement of being likely to bring about a different 

outcome on retrial. 

,i 46 Defendant has failed to demonstrate that based on Ricks and Barrier's affidavits there 

would likely be a different result on retrial. The circuit court did not err when it denied defendant 

leave to file his successive postconviction petition. 

,147 II. Claimed Due Process Violation 

,i 48 Defendant argues that be made a substantial showing with newly discovered evidence 

that the State violated his due process rights when it concealed evidence that Ricks did receive 

consideration for his cooperation in the case against defendant. Defendant also argues that the 

State knowingly relied on perjured testimony from Ricks and Detective Akin in its case in chief 
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that Ricks did not ask for consideration in exchange for his cooperation and Ricks' testimony 

defendant admitted he was the shooter. 

~ 49 Unlike claims of actual innocence, leave of court to file a successive postconviction 

petition for a violation ofa constitutional right may only be granted when a petitioner: (I) 

demonstrates cause for failing to bring the claim in initial postconviction proceedings; and (2) 

prejudice results from that failure. 725 fLCS 5/122- l(f) (West 2020). This standard is known as 

the "cause-and-prejudice test." Smith, 20 14 IL 115 946, t 24 (citing People v. Tidwell, 236 Ill. 2d 

J 50, I 56 (20 I 0)). To establish cause, a defendant must identify an objective factor that impeded 

their ability to raise a specific claim during his in itial postconviction proceedings. People v. 

Wilson, 20 14 IL App (1st) 113570, ~ 33. To establish prejudice, a defendant must demonstrate 

that the claim that was not originally raised infected the trial to the extent that the resulting 

conviction or sentence violated due process. Jd. From our review of the record we conclude 

defendant has failed to demonstrate the requisite cause and prejudice to present this claim. 

t 50 "Prejudice" for purposes of a motion for leave to file a successive postconviction petition 

is defined similarly to the "prejudice" required to support a claim of ineffective assistance of 

counsel. People v. Pitsonbarger, 205 Ill. 2d 444, 464 (2002). In Pitsonbarger, our supreme court 

adopted the Strickland standard of prejudice for successive postconviction petitions, which was 

first articulated in People v. Flores, 153 Il l. 2d 264,280 (1992) ("Whether the seemingly 

narrower test of prejudice required in a Strickland analysis satisfies the requis ite showing of 

prejudice under McCleskey is uncertain."), and reaffirmed that adoption in Smith, 20 I 4 IL 

115946, ~ 34 ("We analogized the cause-and-prejudice test in the context of a successive 

postconviction petition to the cause-and-prejudice test for ineffective assistance of counsel 

articulated in Strickland v. Washington." (citing Pitsonbarger, 205 Ill. 2d at 464.)). Applying that 
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standard in this context, "the question is not whether a court can be certa in [the e1TOr] had no 

effect on the outcome or whed1er it is possible a reasonable doubt might have been established 

[absent the error.]" People v. Lewis, 2022 IL 126705, ~ 46 (quoting People v. Johnson, 202 1 IL 

126291, ~ 54). 

"Instead, (the court] asks whether it is 'reasonably likely' the result would 

have been different. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 696. A defendant must show that 

there is a reasonable probability that, but for (the error] the result of the 

proceeding would have been different. [Citation.] A reasonable probabil ity is a 

probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome. [Citation.]" Lewis, 

2022 IL 126705, ~ 46. 

~ 51 Additionally, this court has found that a constitutional error so infected the trial that the 

conviction violates due process where the alleged error was a material element of the defendant's 

conviction. See People v. Montanez, 2022 IL App (1st) 191930, ~i 45-46 (noting "ample 

evidence" of the defendant's guilt and finding that allegedly wrongfully withheld impeachment 

evidence "was not material to [the] defendant's guilt or innocence"). At the "leave to file" stage 

of successive postconviction proceedings the defend ant is only required to demonsu·ate a prima 

facie showing of cause and prejudice. People v. Searles, 2022 IL App (1st) 2 10043, i 6 1 (citing 

People v. Bailey, 2017 IL 121450, ~ 24). To proceed with the claim the defendant must 

demonstrate both "cause" and "prejudice" as to each claim. Pitsonbarger, 205 Jll . 2d at 463-64; 

Montanez, 2022 IL App (1st) 191930, i 43 ("We can decide this issue without resolu tion of 

whether defendant established cause sufficient to file the successive postconviction petition 

because he cannot establish prejudice."). 
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"[L)eave of court to file a successive postconviction petition should be 

denied when it is clear, from a review of the successive petition and the 

documentation submitted by the petitioner, that the claims alleged by the 

petitioner fail as a matter of law or where the successive petition with supporting 

documentation is insufficient to justify further proceedings. [Citation.] The denial 

of a defendant's motion for leave to file a successive postconviction petition is 

reviewed de novo." Montanez, 2022 IL App (1st) 191930, 1 29 (citing Bailey , 

20 17 IL 121450, 1 13). 

1 52 Assuming, as we must at this stage of proceedings, the truth of defendant's allegations, 

defendant has fai led to demonstrate prejudice from any due process violation stemming from the 

State's a lleged failure to disclose that Ricks received consideration for his cooperation in the 

case against defendant and defendant has failed to identify cause for his failure to bring forth his 

claim at an earlier time. As foreshadowed, we find defendant is procedurally barred from arguing 

that Ricks' recantation supports an independent claim of a violation of his constitutional rights 

based on the State knowingly using perjured testimony. Griffin, 2022 IL App (1st) 191101-B, 1 

34. 

1 53 We also note that defendant's claim the State knowingly used perjured testimony when 

Ricks testified defendant admitted shooting the victim fails to demonstrate prejudice to 

defendant. If a defendant 's claimed violation of a constitutional right itself lacks merit the 

defendant cannot show prejudice. People v. Page, 2022 IL App (4th) 2 10374, 1 29. On the merits 

of defendant's claim, "the State only has an obligation to correct the testimony of a witness when 

it has knowledge that the witness is mistaken in hus testimony." (Internal quotation marks 

omitted.) People v. Wright, 201 3 IL App (1st) 103232, 1 47. Although not stated explicitly 
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defendant suggests me State knew Ricks' testimony defendant admitted shooting the victim to 

Ricks was false because Ricks initially stated Smith told him Ricks admitted the shooting but 

Ricks changed his story after Detective Aiken told Ricks that the State could only prosecute 

defendant if defendant admitted the shooting directly to Ricks. However, defendant asserts Ricks 

provided this particular piece of newly discovered evidence- the timing of Ricks changing his 

story-in his affidavit. Other than the change in the source of the infonnation itself, defendant 

does not rely on anyth ing in the record to show the State knew Ricks' testimony was fa lse. 

"Accordingly, the State did not have an obl igation to correct the allegedly false testimony of the 

witness when it did not know that the witness's testimony was untrue." Wright, 2013 IL App 

( I st) I 03232, ~ 50. Even if we accepted the alleged change in Ricks' statements as some 

evidence his testimony might be untrue we find it unconvincing to establish the State had 

knowledge that the witness was necessarily mistaken in his testimony or that our confidence in 

the result of the trial is undermined, and therefore, we find no due process violation. 

1 54 Turning to defendant' s claim the State concealed evidence Ricks obtained work release in 

exchange for his testimony, we find as a matter of law that defendant fai led to make a prima 

facie showing that this potentia lly impeaching information was not already known to him. The 

evidence available to defendant prior to trial infom1s defendant that Ricks sought something in 

exchange for his testimony against defendant but it does not establish that Ricks actually did 

receive anything. Initially, we note that Ricks ' affidavit, even when taken as true, does not 

establish on its fac.e that he actually received any consideration from the State in return for his 

testimony. Ricks ' affidavit states as follows: 

"I specifically asked Detective Aiken if he could help me on my pending 

armed robbery case. Detective Aikin told me that he could not 'officially' help 

25 



A-59

129353

SUBMITTED - 23874244 - Rachel Davis - 8/8/2023 1:48 PM

1-21-0587 

me, but that be would see what be could do to get me a lesser sentence. He also 

told me that be would help me get into a work release program. 

* * * 

To the best of my recollection, I served approximately 2.5 years of my I 0-

year sentence before I was allowed work release." 

~ 55 Ricks averred he asked for work release, and later he received work re,lease. A reasonable 

fact finder could assume Ricks received work release in exchange for his cooperation and we 

acknowledge such a determination can only be made after an evidentiary hearing. See People v. 

Colasurdo, 2020 IL App (3d) 190356, ~ 45.(citing People v. Pendteton, 22 Ill . 2d 458, 473 

(2006) (fact-finding and credibility determinations are involved in a thi rd-stage evidentiary 

hearing). Nonetheless," ' it is incumbent upon [a petitioner], by whatever means, to prompt the 

circuit court to consider whether "leave" should be granted, and obtain a ruling on that question.' 

[Citation.] Defendant not only has the burden to obtain leave of court, but also 'must submit 

enough in the way of documentation to allow a circuit court to make that detennination.' 

[Citation.) This is so under either exception, cause and prejudice or actual innocence." Edwards, 

2012 IL 111711, ~ 24. 

~ 56 In this case, Ricks has not minimally avecred he received work release in exchange for 

his testimony to "prompt tbe circuit court to consider whether 'leave' should be granted," and 

defendant bas failed to submit any evidence or documentation that would have allowed the court 

to make a determination on that claim. Ricks does not aver that Aiken or anyone from the State 

ever informed him that bis work release resu lted from his cooperation in defendant's case. There 

are facts that militate against that conclusion. As the State notes on appeal, defendant's aimed 

robbery conviction was el igible for day-for-day good conduct credit (730 ILCS 5/3-6-3(a)(2) 
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(West 1994)) which results in defendant only having to serve 5 years in the Illinois Department 

of Corrections for his sentence and, consequently, that defendant did in fact serve half of his 

effective sentence in prison. The State argues this fact, and Ricks' own testimony on cross­

examination tharhe did not have " too much longer to go" on his sentence (approximately two 

years at the time of trial), and we agree, affirmatively rebuts defendant's current claim Ricks did 

receive consideration in exchange for his testimony. 

~ 57 We have no need to decide whether the record affirmatively positively rebuts th is claim. 

"The motion for leave to file is directed to the court, and it is the court that must decide the legal 

question of whether a defendant has satisfied the section I 22-J(f) requirement of showing cause 

and prejudice." Bailey, 2017 IL 121450, ~ 24. We hold, as a matter oflaw, defendant's petition 

and supporting documentation fai l to demonstrate a prima facie showing of prejudice. Defendant 

has failed to establish prejudice from the State's failure to disclose the consideration for any 

"deal" with Ricks in exchange for his testimony. The utility of evidence of what Ricks asked for 

and what Ricks received in exchange for his testimony is to undermine Ricks' credibility by 

demonstrating Ricks' motivation to fabricate test imony. See People v. Collins, 366 Ill. App. 3d 

885, 893 (2006) ("In this case, evidence that Harrington's battery arrest had been stricken with 

leave to reinstate was relevant to show his potential interest, bias, or motive to testify, as this fact 

could cause one to infer that Harrington had motive_ to testify favorably for the State." (citing In 

re TS., 287 111. App. 3d 949, 956 (1997) ("In TS., for example, this court held that the juvenile 

respondent in that case should have been allowed to cross-examine the victim about his arrests 

that had been stricken with leave to reinstate because they may have revealed the witness' s 

motivation to lie and whether he contemplated any leniency in exchange for his testimony."))). 

Collins, 366 lll . App. 3d at 893. 
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~ 58 Defendant had ample evidence of Ricks ' motive to testify falsely and that he may have 

actually testified falsely. Defendant possessed evidence Ricks asked for assistance with his own 

armed robbery charge. Defendant also possessed evidence that suggested that the only 

information Ricks could provide about the robbery and murder in this case came from statements 

by Smith that would have been inadmissible as hearsay. It was allegedly only after Detective 

Aiken explained to Ricks that the State could not use him unless he had evidence about what 

defendant said that Ricks provided statements by defendant effectively confessing to the murder. 

Defendant possessed evidence to attack the motive and substance of Ricks' testimony but the 

trier of fact chose to believe Ricks. 

~ 59 We find as a matter of law that absent the "concealment" of additional impeachment 

evidence that Ricks received a minor (by his own admission) concession in exchange for his 

testimony it is not possible a reasonable doubt might have been established. Defendant has not 

shown how the addition of th is evidence casts Ricks ' testimony in any worse light than it already 

was. It is not reasonably likely that had the trier of fact heard, in addition to evidence that Ricks 

was motivated to testify favorably for the State to gain assistance with his robbery charge, that 

Ricks received work release toward the end of his sentence, that the result of the trial would have 

been different. The fact defendant did not have this specific piece of information, viewed in the 

light of all of the trial evidence, does not undermine our c-onfidence in the outcome .. Accordingly, 

we find as a matter of law defendant has failed to demonstrate a prima facie showing of 

prejudice and, further, defendant cannot demonstrate prejudice on this pa1ticular claim. 

~ 60 Turning next to defendant's' claim the State knowingly relied on perjured testimony that 

Ri,cks did not seek consideration in exchange for his cooperation-noting again defendant may 

not rely on Ricks' recantation to support a claim of a violation of his constitutional right- we 
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find defendant failed to demonstrate cause for failing to bring th is claim in the in itial 

postconviction proceedings. Defendant 's only cla im of"cause" for failing to raise this claim 

sooner is that "the information contained in [the) affidavits was not avai lable to (defendant) at 

the time of trial or when he filed his first petition." However, where the materia l needed to raise 

the claim is available at the time of the initial petition, and the absence of that material is the 

purported "cause" of the failure to raise the claim at that time, this court will find the cause 

element has not been demonstrated. See People v. Blalock, 2022 IL 126682, ,r,r 44-45 ( citing 

People v. Brandon, 2021 IL App (1st) 172411, ,r 59 (citing Pitsonbm·ge1·, 205 Il l. 2d at 462)); 

compare People v. Weathers, 20 I 5 IL App ( I st) I 33264, ,r 36 ("Because this newly discovered 

evidence was not available at the time of defendant's prior petitions, he has established the 

requisite cause, in that an objective factor impeded his ability to raise this claim at an earlier 

time."). 

,r 61 The record directly rebuts defendant's c l.aim the affidavits make clear that defendant "did 

not have any outside evidence to prove that Ricks has been ly ing until [Ricks) himself came 

forward." This court will only accept as true allegations that are not positively rebutted by the 

record. People v. Griffin, 2022 IL App (I st) 191 I 01-B, ,r 24. In this case the record demonstrates 

that defendant had knowledge in 1992 that Ricks was seeking consideration from the State in 

connection with his cooperation in this case. The transcript from defendant's revocation hearing 

demonstrates that defendant knew about Ricks' efforts to seek consideration. Defendant was 

present at the hearing and was represented by counsel. He attached a copy of the transcript to his 

original postconviction petition. Defendant knew about the claim when he fi led his initial 

postconviction petition because he raised almost the identical claim and supported it with some 

evidence. "A defendant is not permitted to develop the evidentiary basis for a claim in a 
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piecemeal fashion in successive postconviction petitions, as defendant has attempted to do here." 

Davis, 2014 IL 115595, ~ 55; see also People v. Green, 20 12 IL App (4th) 10 1034, ~ 40. 

Defendant does not argue nor do we find that the affidavit provides anything additional in 

support of this particular claim that would be sufficient to establish "cause." 

~ 62 We find as a matter of law defendant cannot establish "cause" for this claim. The record 

demonstrates that this claim was known to defendant and available to be supported by evidence 

at the time of trial and at the time he filed his initial petition. Defendant has failed to make a 

primafacie showing of cause for failing to raise this claim in his initial petition. Accordingly, the 

trial court did not err in denying leave to file the successive petition. 

~ 63 III. Ineffective Assistance of Trial Counsel 

~ 64 Finally, defendant argues he made a substantial showing in his successive postconviction 

petition that he was denied the effective assistance of tria l counsel based on counsel's failure to 

investigate or call Barrier as a witness for the defense. Defendant attempts to bolster this claim 

by submitting evidence that his trial counsel was suspended from the practice oflaw and 

subsequently disbarred several years after this case. Defendant attaches reports to his proposed 

successive petition evidencing trial counsel's disciplinary proceedings. 

1 65 The United States Constitution guarantees criminal defendants the right to effective 

assistance of counsel. Thus, where a criminal defendant is convicted of an offense but did not 

receive constitutionally adequate representation, he can seek relief to vindicate his constitutional 

right to counsel. People v. Burnett, 385 Ill. App. 3d 610,614 (2008). To prove that he was 

denied the effective assistance of counsel guaranteed by the sixth amendment, a petitioner must 

show (J) that "counsel made errors so serious that [he] was not functioning as the 'counsel' 

guaranteed [petitioner] by the Sixth Amendment," and (2) "a reasonable probability that, but for 
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counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the p roceeding would have been different." 

Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984). We analyze claims of ineffective assistance 

of counsel by considering the entire record. People v. Hommerson, 399 Ill. App. 3d 405, 415 

(2010). A defendant who brings a claim of ineffective assistance must prove both prongs: (I) that 

the attorney's performance was deficient and (2) that he was prejudiced as a result of the 

deficient performance. If a defendant is not prejudiced by the allegedly defic ient performance of 

his attorney we should address that issue first. People v. Hale, 2013 IL 113 I 40, ~ 17 (courts may 

"proceed* ** directly to the prejudice prong without addressing counsel' s performance."). "An 

error by counsel, even if professionally unreasonable, does not warrant setting aside the 

judgment of a criminal proceeding if the error had no effect on the judgment." Id. at 

691 (citing United States v. Morrison, 449 U.S. 361, 364-65 (1981)). 

~ 66 Barrier's statements coul~ not change the outcome on retrial nor do they undermine our 

confidence in the outcome of the proceedings. As we previously discussed, the State charged 

defendant with felony murder and the jury returned a general verdict of guilty, meaning the jury 

found defendant guilty of felony murder. Accepting Barrier's statements as true, they do not 

exculpate defendant from his participation in the robbery that led to the victim's death nor do 

they mitigate his participation. Defendant has not demonstrated prejudice from trial counsel' s 

failure to elicit these statements at trial. 

~ 67 Furthermore, "an ineffective-assistance-of-counsel claim which arises from a matter of 

defense strategy wi ll genera lly not support a claim of ineffective representation." Flores, 128111. 

2d at I 06. "[T1he decis ion to call particular witnesses is a matter of trial strategy, and *** 

defense counsel need not call a witness if he reasonably believes that under the circumstances the 

individual 's testimony is unrel iable." Id. Barrier 's statements are hearsay and would not have 
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been adm issible at defendant's trial if she had been present. See People v. Bowel, 111 Ill. 2d 58, 

66 (1986). Defendant's trial counsel reasonably could have concluded that Barrier's testimony 

would not be admitted and had good reason not to call her as a witness. Because we cannot say 

that trial counsel's decision was unreasonable under the circumstances, "we cannot say that the 

defendant was denied a fair trial as a consequence of counsel's election not to call [Ban-ier.)" 

Flores, 128 Ill. 2d at I 07. Therefore, defendant has failed to make a primafacie showing to 

establish his ineffective assistance claim and the trial court did not err in denying defendant leave 

to file his successive petition. 

1 68 Because of our disposition, there is no need to consider the request this matter be 

remanded to a different trial judge or any other arguments raised in this appeal. For the foregoing 

reasons we affirm the judgment of the circuit court. 

~ 69 CONCLUSION 

170 The judgment of the circuit court of Cook County is affirmed. 

~ 71 Affirmed. 
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No. 1-21-0287 

December 27, 2022 

Second Division 

NOTICE: This order was filed under Supreme Court Rule 23 and is not precedent except in the 
limited circumstances allowed under Rule23(e)(l). 

IN THE 

APPELLATE COURT OF ILLINOIS 

FIRST DISTRICT 

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF lLLINOJS, ) Appeal from the 
) Circuit Court of 
) Cook County. Plaintiff-Appellee, 

V. 

) 
) No. 99 CR 19667 
) 

DANIEL DA.NAO, ) Honorable 

Defendant-Appellant. 

) Vincent M. Gaughan, 
) Judge Presiding. 

JUSTICE HOWSE de livered the judgment of the court. 
Justices Ell is and Cobbs concurred in the judgment. 

ORDER 

~ I Held: We affirm the ·circuit court' s dismissal of defendant's successive postconviction 
petition at the second stage; where defendant failed to make a substantial showing 
of ineffective assistance of trial counsel or actual innocence. 

~ 2 Defendant Daniel Danao appeals from the circuit court's second-stage dismissal of his 

successive petition under the Post-Conviction Hearing Act (Act) (725 ILCS 5/122-1 et seq. (West 

2020)). On appeal, defendant contends that he made a substantial showing of (I) ineffective 

assistance of trial counsel where counsel failed to seek gunshot residue (GSR) testing on a 
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sweatshirt; and (2) actual innocence based on the affidavit of a newly discovered witness and 

testing results showing no GSR on the sweatshi rt. For the following reasons, we affirm. 

~ 3 In July 1999, defendant was charged by indictment with first degree murder for ki ll ing 

Augustine Garza "with a gun." 

~ 4 At trial, Gene Nathaniel testified that around 3:45 a.m. on Ju ly 3, 1999, he was at the bus 

stop on the southwest corner of Sacramento Avenue and 63rd Street in Chicago. Streetlights and 

lights from the gas station across the street lit the area. Teenagers walked from the gas station to a 

van parked on the southeast corner. Nathaniel, who had an unobstructed view of the van, heard a 

" loud pop," and saw a young man wearing a "black hoodie" aim a weapon at a lllan sitting in the 

driver's seat of the van. The shooter fired several times and the flare from the weapon lit- the 

shooter 's face. Nathaniel identified defendant in court as the shooter. Defendant fired additional 

shots before running into the alley. Nathaniel spoke with pol ice at the scene and later identified 

defendant in a lineup at the police station. 

~ 5 On cross-examination, Nathaniel stated that the man with the black hoodie stood "outside 

the passenger compartment with the weapon aimed inside of the van at the guy who got shot." The 

van was positioned between Nathaniel and defendant, but Nathaniel observed defendant through 

the front window "clear as a bell." 

~ 6 Christina Cortes testified that on July 3, 1999, she was a member of the Latin Souls gang. 

Around 3:15 a.m., she and Garza exited a restaurant near 63rd and Sacramento with six people. 

Cortes and two others walked to the gas station while the rest of the group, including Garza, walked 

to the van parked across Lhe street. A "greenish teal" four-door vehicle passed her, and Coties 

. 2 . 
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identified defendant in court as the passenger in the vehicle. Co11es knew defendant as "Smurfy." 

The men who were with Cortes " made gang signs," but defendant just "smiled." 

~ 7 After leaving the gas station, Cones heard three gunshots, a pause, and then more shooting. 

Defendant, wearing a black hoodie and dark pants, jumped out of the passenger side of the van 

and ran to the alley. In the van, Cortes saw Garza "shot up" against the driver's side door. Cortes 

knew defendant's address and accompanied po lice officers to defendant's house. At the police 

station, she identified defendant in a lineup as the shooter. 

~ 8 On cross-examination, Cortes stated that she left the Latin Souls after Garza's death. When 

the shooting occurred, the van's front passenger door was open and defendant "put his body in to 

do the shooting.'' Cortes could not see defendant' s face as he fired because his body was in the 

van. However, she got "a good look at him" when he exited the van and glanced at her before 

running into the alley. 

~ 9 April Gritzenbach testified that she_was a member of the Latin Souls in Ju ly 1999, but no 

longer belonged to the gang. Around 3 a.m. on July 3, I 999, she was at a restaurant near 

Sacramento and 63rd with a group of friends, including Cortes and Garza. Afterwards, Gritzenbach 

walked with a friend to the gas station approximately 45 feet away. Outside the gas station, 

Gritzenbach saw a vehicle she did not recognize. She could see the driver and the passenger, but 

she did not know them. The passenger was "medium complected" with a "bald head" and facial 

hair. Cortes and others displayed gang signs at the people in the vehicle. 

~ IO Gritzenbach crossed the street and entered the parked van. Garza was in the driver's seat. 

Through the back window, Gritzenbach saw a man approach wearing a black hoodie with a white 

"Nike" logo. The man had been in the vehicle involved in the sign flashing incident. There was a 
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"big rip" at the bottom of his hoodie; underneath, he wore a baby blue shirt with white letters. 

Gritzenbach thought the man had a firearm because he was "moving" his hands around his 

stomach. Gritzenbach ident ified defendant in court as that man. 

, 11 Defendant stepped into the van, looked around, and shot Garza three times. He stopped_ and 

then fired at least four more times. Gritzenbach lowered her head as defendant fired. When the 

shooting stopped, Gritzenbach looked up and saw the left side of defendant's face before he ran 

into the alley. Gritzenbach spoke to police at the scene and at the police station. Later, she viewed 

a lineup and identified defendant as the shooter. 

, 12 The State sought Gritzenbach's in-court identification of the clothing worn by defendant 

when he shot Garza. ln a sidebar, trial counsel objected on two grounds. First, counsel objected to 

the prosecutor wearing gloves while handling the clothing in court because he thought it would be 

"prejudicial to the jury." Counsel argued that he had been allowed to examine the clothing earl ier 

without wearing gloves. Second, counsel objected because he "had no way of knowing if those are 

the same clothes [ defendant] was wearing" during the shooting. Although police recovered the 

clothes from defendant's house, he was not wearing them when he was arrested, and no one 

identified the clothes as belonging to defendant. Over counsel's objections, the trial court allowed 

the State to present People's Exhibit Nos. 12 and 13 to Gritzenbach for identification, without 

gloves. She identified the exhibits, respectively, as the sweatshirt and baby blue shirt worn by 

defendant during the shooting. 

, 13 On cross-·examination, Gritzenbach stated that she had not met defendant before the 

shooting. When presented with her signed ·statement to an assistant state's attorney, Gritzenbach 

acknowledged that she said she "first met Smurf back in Februa1y 1999," but further testified that 

. 4. 
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she meant she could have " bumped into him" or seen him in the neighborhood. Gritzenbach to ld 

pol ice that through the rip in the hoodie, she saw a baby blue shirt with white letters spelling 

"University of North Carolina." 

~ 14 The parties stipulated that, if called to testify, Detective Romic 1 would state that 

Gritzenbach described the shooter as wearing "[b]]ack shores, white socks, white gym shoes, 

pullover black hoody and a baby blue jersey with the letters No1th Carol ina." 

~ I 5 Chicago pol ice officer Guillermo Cerna testified that on July 3, 1999, just before 4 a.m., 

he and his partner saw "a crowd of kids" near Sacramento and 63rd. Co1tes told them her friend 

had been shot. Cerna approached the van and found the driver unresponsive. He called for an 

ambulance and obtained descriptions of the offender, whom people identified as Smurfy. 

According to witnesses, the shooter wore "all black," with a "black hoodie," above "a North 

Carolina jersey, baby blue." Cortes knew Smurfy's address and accompanied plainclothes officers 

to his home. 

1 16 Chicago police officer Adolfo Garcia testified that around 4 a.m. on July 3, 1999, he and 

his partner responded to a call for assistance at Sacramento and 63rd. After speaking with Co1tes, 

Garcia and his partner accompanied her to a home on the 6400 block of Mozart. The woman who 

answered the door told Garcia that Smurfy was her brother. She gave officers pennission to enter 

and "look around." On the second floor, they found defendant shirtless, sitting in front of a 

television in a bedroom. Two young boys were sleeping in the room. The woman confirmed that 

defendant was her brother Smurf. 

1 The record does not state Detective Ramie's first name. 

- 5 -
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~ 17 When Garcia handc-uffed defendant, he noticed that defendant's heart was beating " real 

hard." Garcia looked for clothes that matched the shooter's and found a "black hoodie with a N011h 

Carolina jersey" next to defendant's chair. He gave the clothing to his partner who later invento ried 

the items. Outside, Cortes identified defendant as the shooter. Garcia identified People's Exhibit 

Nos. 12 and 13 as the black hoodie and No1th Carolina jersey he found in defendant's house. 

Garcia returned to the crime scene to search for a firearm, but he did not find one. 

18 On cross-examination, Garcia stated that defendant was wearing only white boxer shorts 

when officers found him in the bedroom. They allowed defendant to "grab some clothes" before 

transporting him to the police station. 

~ 19 Detective Steve B_uglio testified that he arrived at the crime scene around 7:30 a.m. The 

weather was "very hot and very humid." Later, when Buglio interviewed defendant at the police 

station, defendant stated that he was a member of the Satan Disciples known as Smurf or Murphy. 

Defendant had been inside his home "from midnight on." When asked if anyone could verify that 

he was in the house around 3 a.m., defendant answered, "no because everybody was sleeping." 

Buglio conducted a lineup that was viewed separately by Gritzenbach, Cortes, and Nathaniel, who 

each identified defendant as the shooter. 

~ 20 On cross-examination, Buglio denied showing Cortes, Gritzenbach, or Nathaniel pictures 

of defendant before they viewed the lineup. At the police station, defendant was wearing a white 

athletic shirt, white undenvear, and white jeans with a black belt. 

~ 21 Chicago police detective Michael Rose testified that he interviewed defendant on July 5, 

1999. Defendant stated that around l a.m. on July 3, 1999, he was in his brother's bedroom 

watching television while everyone slept. He remained in the room unti l the police knocked on his 
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door. When asked if his hands would test negative or positive for GSR, defendant answered 

"positive" because he had been setting off firecrackers. Infonned that only firing a gun would leave 

GSR, defendant again stated his hands would test positive. 

~ 22 On cross-examination, Rose testified that defendant denied firing a weapon and 

defendant's hands tested negative for GSR. Rose did not know whether defendant's clothing was 

tested for residue. 

Illinois state police evidence analyst Robert Berk testified as an expert in the field of GSR. 

He stated that when a weapon is fired, lead, barium, and antimony are emitted. Thus, a person 

handling a fired weapon will have residue on his or her hands. The elements are not burned into 

the skin, but are "deposited on the skin," adhering to "skin oi l and skin moisture." 

~ 24 Berk analyzed the GSR test taken on defendant. Although defendant's hands tested 

negative for GSR, Berk explained that a negative result does not mean defendant did not fire a 

weapon. A person would test negative for GSR if (1) he did not fire a weapon, (2) the weapon did 

not produce sufficient GSR for detection, or (3) the residue was removed from his hands prior to 

testing. Residue could also transfer, through "normal hand activity," from the hands to other 

surfac.es so that "positive resu lts may turn into inconclusive and eventually negative findings." 

Sweating due to hot weather or running could also remove GSR. 

~ 25 On cross-examination, Berk stated that transfer of GSR to clothing "would not be definite," 

but would depend upon "the envfronmental situation when the weapon is discharged." He did not 

test defendant's clothing for GSR. On redirect, Berk confirmed that he found "trace amounts of 

the barium and antimony" on defendant's hands .which, although elevated and significant, did not 

meet the standards for a positive GSR test. • 

. 7 . 
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~ 26 Cook County medical examiner Dr. Lawrence Cogan testified that he performed Garza's 

autopsy. He concluded that Garza died from multiple gunshot wounds and the manner of death 

was homicide. 

127 Outside the presence of the jury, the trial court and the parties discussed which exhibits 

would be provided to the jury during deliberations. Trial counsel argued that the black hoodie and 

blue shirt were "never !Ded [sic) as being the Defendant's," and would, therefore, be "prejudicial." 

The tria l court overruled the o~jection. 

~ 28 Trial counsel then moved for a directed verdict, arguing that Nathaniel's testimony about 

observing the shooter's face was incredible given Gritzenbach's testimony that the shooter was 

inside the van when he shot Garza. Furthermore, in light of Gritzenbach's and Cortes's gang 

affiliations and biases, their testimony identifying defendant as the shooter carried little weight. 

The trial cou1t denied the motion. 

129 During closing argument, trial counsel commented on the sweatshirt and jersey recovered 

from the bedroom. Counsel noted that the bedroom belonged to defendant's brother, who was also 

in the room along with a friend. Counsel remarked, 

"Lord knows whose sweatshi11 and jersey this is. I don't know. And you don't 

know. And April Gritzenbach who they had I.D. the stuff, how does she know? 

How many of these do they sell a year do you think. Do you think its [sic) possible 

that maybe a houseful of boys had a black sweatshirt around that fit the description." 

~ 30 The jury found defendant guilty of first degree murder. After denying defendant's motion 

for a new trial, the trial court sentenced him to 28 years' imprisonment. 

. 8. 
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~ 31 On direct appeal, appointed counsel filed a motion for leave to withdraw as counsel 

pursuant to Anders v. California, 386 U.S. 738 ( 1967). In his prose response, defendant claimed, 

in relevant part, that the State presented "fabricated evidence" by "altering" the hooded sweatshirt, 

and, additionally, the clothes defendant wore on the night of the shooting were on the floor next to 

his bed and did not include a "hooded sweatshirt." This court allowed counsel's motion to 

withdraw and affirmed defendant 's conviction and sentence. People v. Danao, 1-00-3477 (May 6, 

2002) (unpublished order under Supreme Court Rule 23). 

t 32 On April 9, 2003, defendant filed a pro se petition for postconviction relief alleging (I) 

ineffective assistance of trial counsel for failing to challenge biased venirepersons and failing to 

impeach witnesses, (2) the trial court erred in instructing the jury on evaluating eyewitness 

identification testimony, and (3) appellate counsel was ineffective for failing to raise the jury 

instruction issue on direct appeal. The circuit court dismissed the petition as frivolous and patently 

without merit, and this court affirmed. People v. Danao, 1-03-2230 (Dec. 3, 2004) (unpublished 

order under Supreme Court Rule 23). We found that although the trial court 's instruction was 

improper, the error was harmless where the evidence "was not closely balanced." Id. at *8. 

33 Defendant then filed two petitions for relief from judgment pursuant to section 2- 1401 of 

the Code of Civil Procedure (735 !LCS 5/2-140 1 (West2008)). In the first petition, he argued that 

the murder statute vio lated the single-subject ru le. In the second, he argued that his three-year 

mandatory supervised release term was void. The circuit court denied each petition. Defendant 

appealed from those judgments, and, in each appeal, this court allowed appointed counsel's motion 

to withdraw under Pennsylvania v. Finley, 481 U.S. 551 (1987), and affirrned the judgment. People 

. 9 . 
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v. Danao, 1-09-0412 (May 14, 2010) (unpublished order under Supreme Court Rule 23); People 

v. Danao, 1-15-0807 (Nov. 23, 20 16) (unpublished order under Supreme Court Rule 23). 

134 On February 15, 20 19, through private counsel, defendant filed a "successive petition for 

post-conviction relief' and a separate motion fo r forensic testing of the hoodie, which had been 

impounded at the close of trial. The circuit court a llowed the motion for GSR testing at defendant's 

expense and continued the matter regarding the successive petition. In a separate order, the court 

directed the clerk of the circuit court to release the sealed bag containing the sweatshirt to a state's 

attorney representative for transport to Microtrace LLC (Microtrace). On September 25, 20 19, 

after counsel received the test results, the court allowed counsel ' s request for leave to fi le an 

amended successive petition. 

1 35 On January 23, 2020, again through private counsel, defendant filed a combined 

"successive petition for post-conviction relief ' and "petition pursuant to 735 ILCS 5/l401(a)." 

Therein, defendant asserted actual innocence based, in relevant part, on the newly discovered 

affidavit of Juan Pena and the results of recent GSR testing on the black Nike sweatshirt. 

Alternatively, defendant claimed ineffective ass istance of trial counsel for failing to test the 

sweatshirt for GSR. Defendant attached, inter a/ia, the affidavit of Pena and a GSR analysis report 

from Microtrace.2 

2 Defendant also presented the affidavit of another newly discovered witness, Francisco Gutierrez, 
who averred that Cortes and Gritzenbach, contrary to their testimony, remained actively involved in the 
Latin Souls gang at the time of trial. On appeal, defendant makes no argument based on Gutierrez's 
affidavit. Consequently, we will not consider it as a basis to support the claims in his petition. Defendant's 
petition also alleged that appellate counsel was ineffective for fai ling to investigate the Nike sweatshirt, but 
defendant does not argue this point on appeal. See Supreme Court Rule 341 (h)(7) ( eff. Oct. I, 2020) 
("[p]oints not argued are fo1feited"). 
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~ 36 In his affidavit, Pena stated that he was born on March 8, 1987, and was currently 

incarcerated. Early on Ju ly 3, 1999, he was outside playing with fireworks when he heard several 

gunshots near 63rd and Sacramento. Pena "saw a man running toward me with a gun in his hand. 

As he was running, he was trying to put the gun a.way in the front of his body; maybe his waistband 

or a pocket." The man ran by Pena into the alley. Pena described him as "a dark complected, male 

Hispanic with a goatee," around 30 years old. Pena ran into his house because he was scared. He 

did not tell anyone outside his family what he had observed. Pena met defendant in 20 IO because 

they "were on the same wing" of the correctional center. In 20 I 6, defendant spoke about his 

imprisonment and Pena "realized it was connected to the incident" he witnessed in 1999. 

~ 37 The report from Microtrace stated that on June 7, 2019, it received a "black hooded 

sweatshirt" in a plastic bag for GSR testing. Samples were taken from the " right cuff, left cuff, and 

the inside and outside of the fabric" next to the horizontal tear on the front of the sweatshirt. Testing 

revealed no tricomponent particles in the samples. Reasons for the negative resu lts might include 

(I) the sweatshirt was not in the immediate vicinity of a discharged fireann; (2) any particles 

deposited were "removed prior to sampling, through typical wear, intentional cleaning/washing, 

or handl ing after it was collected as evidence (e.g., at trial)"; or (3) the ammunition did not produce 

traditional tricomponent particles. Microtrace concluded that "while it cannot be stated that this 

sweatshirt was not in the immediate vicinity of a discharged firearm, this testing did not find any 

evidence supporting the proposition that [the sweatshirt] was in the immediate vicinity of a 

discharged firearm ." 

~ 38 On October 20, 2020, the circuit court advanced defendant's combined petition to second­

stage proceedings. The State filed a motion to dismiss. On February 11 , 2021, after a hearing, the 
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circuit court dismissed the combined petition. It found that defendant did not demonstrate actual 

innocence and his ineffective assistance claims i.nvolved reasonable trial strategy. Moreover, the 

evidence was "not that conclusive to establ ish relief under section 2-140 I." 

1 39 On appeal, defendant argues that the circu:it court erred in dismiss ing his successive petition 

where he made a substantial showing of actual innocence based on Pena's affidavit and the GSR 

test resu lts, and of ineffective ass istance of trial counsel for counsel's fai lure to seek GSR testing 

on the black sweatshirt.3 

1 40 The Act provides a three-stage process for a criminal defendant to assert a violation of his 

constitutional rights at trial. People v. Pendleton, 223 Ill. 2d 458, 47 1-72 (2006). A postconviction 

proceeding does not substitute for a direct appeal but instead "offers a mechanism for a criminal 

defendant to assert a collateral attack on a final judgment." People v. Robinson, 2020 IL 123849, 

~ 42. "The purpose of a postconviction proceeding is to permit inquiry into constitutional issues 

involved in the original conviction and sentence that were not, and could not have been, 

adjudicated previously on direct appeal." People v. English, 20 13 IL 112890, 1 22. Therefore, 

issues raised and decided on direct appeal or in a prior proceeding are barred as res j udicata, and 

issues that could have been raised but were not are forfeited . People v. Daniels, 2020 IL App (1st) 

171738, 121. 

141 The Act contemplates the filing of only one postconviction petition. Robinson, 2020 IL 

123849, 142. To file a successive petition, a defendant must obtain leave of court. 725 lLCS 5/122-

; On appeal, defendant does not argue that he was entitled to relief for any claim under section 2-
140 1 
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I (f) (West 2020). Here, the circuit court granted defendant leave to fi le a successive postconviction 

petition but dismissed his petition at the second stage. 

~ 42 At the second stage, the defendant must make a substantial showing of a constitutional 

violation to warrant a third-stage evidentiary hearing. People v. Domagala, 2013 IL 113688, ~~ 33-

34. Such a showing is made when the well-pied .allegations of a constitutional violation, if proven 

at an evidentiary hearing, would entitle the defendant to relief. Jd. ~ 35. The circuit court examines 

and rules upon the legal sufficiency of each claim at the second stage. People v. Johnson, 206 Ill. 

2d 348, 356-57 (2002). We review the dismissal of a postconviction petition at the second stage 

de novo. Pendleton, 223 Ill. 2d at 4 73. 

~ 43 We first consider the dismissal of defendant's ineffective assistance of trial counsel claim. 

To make a substantial showing of ineffective ass istance, the defendant must show that counsel' s 

perfonnance fe ll below an objective standard of reasonableness, and he was prejudiced by 

counsel' s substandard performance. People v. Martinez, 389 Ill. App. 3d 413, 415 (2009). The 

defendant 's failure to establish either deficient performance or prejudice will defeat an ineffective 

assistance claim. People v. Johnson, 2021 IL 126291 , 53. 

~ 44 We view claims of ineffective assistance "not in hindsight, but from the time of counsel ' s 

conduct, and with great deference accorded counsel' s decisions on rev iew." People v. Fuller, 205 

Ill. 2d 308, 330-31 (2002). We begin with the presumption that counsel's actions were motivated 

by sound trial strategy. People v. Eddmonds, 143 Ill. 2d 501,529 (1991). Furthermore, a defendant 

is entitled to reasonable, not perfect, representation. Fuller, 205 Ill . 2d at 331 . The "fact that 

another attorney might have pursued a different strategy, or that the strategy chosen by counsel 

has ultimately proved unsuccessful, does not establish" deficient performance. Id. 
' 
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45 Defendant contends that trial counsel perfonned unreasonably by failing to seek GSR 

testi ng of the black Nike sweatsh irt prior to trial. We disagree. 

46 Wimesses described the shooter as wearing a "black hoodie." Counsel thus sought to 

distance defendant from the black sweatshirt at tria l. When the prosecutor wanted Gritzenbach to 

identify the sweatshirt in court, trial counsel objected because defendant was not wearing it when 

he was arrested, and no one identified it as belonging to defendant. During closing argument, trial 

counsel reminded jurors that police recovered the sweatshi1i in the bedroom of defendant's brother, 

and that his brother and his brother's friend were in the room with defendant. Counsel remarked, 

"Lord knows whose sweatshirt and jersey this is. I don' t know. And you don 't know." 

1 4 7 Counsel's theory of the case was that the black sweatshirt did not belong to defendant. 

Defendant agreed with this theory. In his pro se response to appointed counsel's motion to 

withdraw as counsel on direct appeal, defendant denied that he wore the black sweatshirt on the 

night of Garza 's murder. Given the theory of the case, counsel's decision to forego GSR testing 

on the black sweatshirt reflected reasonable trial strategy. See Fuller, 205 Ill. 2d at 33. ("courts 

have held that such claims of ineffective ass istance of counsel must be judged on a circumstance­

specific basis, viewed not in hindsight, but from the time of counsel's conduct, and with great 

deference accorded counsel's decisions on review"). 

48 Relying on Microtrace's testing results, defendant now contends that trial counsel should 

have acknowledged defendant wore the black sweatshirt and should have tested it for residue prior 

to trial. Defendant argues that a thorough investigation by counsel would have included testing the 

sweatshirt for residue before deciding whether to pursue a strategy of denying defendant's 

ownership of the sweatshirt. 
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~ 49 The State responds that trial counsel' s strategy was reasonable because had counsel 

requested testing of the sweatshiit and it tested positive, prosecutors could credibly argue that the 

result incriminated defendant in Garza's murder. We also note that defendant's hands tested 

negative for GSR, but Berk .gave plausible reasons why that could occur even if defendant had 

fired a weapon. Specifically, residue could transfer through "normal hand activ ity" to other 

surfaces, and sweating due to hot weather or running could remove GSR. If defendant claimed 

ownership of the sweatshi1t and the sweatshirt tested positive for GSR, that evidence would have 

fu rther undermined the negative result obtained from defendant's hands. 

~ 50 " 'A fair assessment of attorney performance requires that every effo1t. be made to 

eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight, to reconstruct the circumstances of counsel's 

challenged conduct, and to evaluate the conduct from counsel's perspective at the time.' " 

Eddmonds, 143 Ill . 2d at 529 (quoting Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 689 (1984)). Trial 

counsel's decision to not test the sweatshirt for GSR was sound trial strategy. "The fact that 

counsel's strategy did not prove successful, or that counsel might have chosen a different strategy 

in hindsight, does not render a strategy constitutionally ineffective." People v. Massey, 20 19 IL 

App (I st) 162407, ~ 31 . We find that defendant has not made a substantial showing that his counsel 

performed deficiently. 

~ 51 Defendant also has made no substantial showing he was prejudiced by counsel's failure to 

test the sweatshirt. 

~ 52 Defendant asserts !hat Pena heard gunshots and saw a man attempt "to conceal the firearm 

inside his pocket or waistband as he fled tJ1e scene." Defendant argues that due to "the proximity 

of the faearm to the sweatshirt before, during, and after the shooting, one would expect to find 
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GSR somewhere on the sweatshi1t." He contends that he was prejudiced by counsel ' s inaction 

because GSR testing would have established no residue on the sweatshirt prior to trial , thus 

rendering defendant's identity as the shooter questionable. 

~ 53 As an initial matter, to the extent defendant claims that Pena's affidavit bolsters a claim of 

ineffective assistance, we observe that defendant does not allege that trial counsel knew or should 

have known about Pena's observations or existence. See, e.g., People v. Williams, 14 7 II I. 2d I 73, 

247 (1991) (rejecting claim of ineffective assistance predicated on counsel's failure to call a 

witness when, even accepting that counsel knew the witness existed, "(w]e cannot fault defense 

counsel for· failing to pursue a witness who was apparently unavailable"). Moreover, defendant 

presumes that Pena observed the shooter. Pena's affidavit, however, stated only that he heard shots 

and then saw a man running as "he was trying to put the gun away in *"'* his waistband or a 

pocket." Pena did not observe the shooting, nor did he observe the man shoot the firearm. 

~ 54 Even if we presume that tria l counsel had knowledge of Pena, defendant has not shown 

prejudice. Prejudice is established by showing that, but for counsel's deficient performance, there 

is a reasonable probability the result of defendant' s trial would have been different. People v. 

Houston, 229 Il l. 2d 1, 4 (2008). 

155 Defendant claims that he was prejudiced by trial counsel 's inaction because the sweatshirt 

would have tested negative for GSR, and the negative results would have "bolstered" his 

misidentification defense. We cannot presume, however, that GSR testing of the sweatshirt prior 

to trial would have yielded the same negative result Microtrace found in September 20 I 9, 

approximately 20 years after defendant's trial. 

~ 56 Microtrace explained that negative results could have occurred because particles were 

removed through "handling after [the sweatshirt] was collected as evidence (e.g., at trial)." Trial 

- I 6 -



A-82

129353

SUBMITTED - 23874244 - Rachel Davis - 8/8/2023 1:48 PM

No. 1-21-0287 

counsel admitted to handling the sweatshirt at trial. Prosecutors also presented the black sweatshirt 

as People ' s Exhibit No. 12 for Gritzenbach and Officer Garcia lo identify, and it was provided to 

the jury during de liberations. Defendant's conclusion that the sweatshirt would have tested 

negative in 1999, before extensive handling by attorneys, is mere conjecture. As such, his claim 

that a potential negative test would have exonerated him amounts to speculation that falls short of 

demonstrating actual prejudice. Johnson, 2021 IL 126291 , ~ 58. 

~ 57 Defendant has not made a substantial showing that tri al counsel performed unreasonably 

by failing to test the sweatshirt for GSR, or that he was prejudiced by counsel's allegedly deficient 

performance. Therefore, the circuit court properly dismissed his ineffective assistance of counsel 

claim. 

~ 58 Next, we consider whether newly discovered evidence consisting of Pena' s affidavit and 

Microtrace' s negative GSR test demonstrates defendant's actual innocence. 

~ 59 To establish actual innocence, the newly discovered evidence must make "a persuasive 

showing that the [ defendant] did not commit the charged offense and was, therefore, wrongfu lly 

convicted." People v. Taliani, 2021 IL I 2589 I, ~'\156-57. In Illinois, a free-standing claim of actual 

innocence in postconviction proceedings is "cognizable as a matter of due process" under the 

Ill inois Constitution of 1970 (Ill. Const. 1970, art. I, § 2). People v. Washington, 171 Ill. 2d 4 75, 

489 (1996). A free-standing claim is one where " the newly discovered evidence is not being used 

to supplement an assertion of a constitutional violation with respect to trial." Id. at 479. 

~ 60 People v. Hobley, 182 Ill. 2d 404 (1998), discussed what constitutes a free-standing claim 

of actual innocence. In Hobley, the defendant supported his actual innocence claim with newly 

discovered evidence of a negative fingerprint repoti and a second gasoline can, the same evidence 
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used to support his claim that the State failed to disclose exculpatory evidence under Brady v. 

}.,faryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963). Id. at 444. The supreme coutt found that the defendant did not 

properly raise a free-standing actual innocence claim where the newly discovered evidence was 

also "being used to supplement his assertions of constitutional violations with respect to [the) 

trial." (Internal quotation marks omitted.) Id. 

~ 61 Here, the State argues that defendant d!id not present a free-standing claim of actual 

innocence where he used the same evidence to support his actual innocence claim and his 

ineffective assistance of counsel claim. Defendant agrees that the same evidence suppo1ts both 

claims but argues that the supreme court left open the possibility to asse1t both a free-stand ing 

claim of actual innocence and a deprivation of a constitutional right at trial based on the same 

evidence. As support, defendant cites People v. 1\,fartinez, 2021 IL App (1st) 190490. 

1 62 In Martinez, the deferidant appealed from the dismissal of a successive postconviction 

petition that alleged constitutional vio lations and actual innocence. The claims derived from the 

same underlying evidence, namely evidence of a police detective's pattern and practice of 

engaging in misconduct and new expert testimony regarding witness identification. Id. ~ 46. In 

holding that the defendant could pursue both claims, Martinez acknowledged Robley, but 

determined that Robley "deviated from both the spirit and the letter of the Jaw as set forth in 

Washington." id. 1 102. Hobley identified "no principle or purpose" that prohibited "a defendant 

from using the same evidence to asse1t both a constitutional claim of trial error and an actual 

i1mocence claim." Id. Furthe1more, Robley was inconsistent with the supreme cou1t's "more recent 

pronouncements on actual innocence" in People v. Coleman, 20 13 IL I 13307. Id. 1104. 
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163 In Coleman, the supreme court noted that "a freestanding actual innocence claim is 

independent of any claims of constitutional error at trial and focuses solely on a defendant' s factua l 

innocence in light of new evidence." Coleman, 2013 IL I 13307, ~ 83. Accordingly, " [w)here a 

defendant makes a claim of trial error, as well as a claim of actual innocence, in a successive 

postconviction petition, the former claim must meet the cause-and-prejudice standard, and the 

latter claim must meet the Washing/on standard." Id.~ 91. 

~ 64 The court in Martinez found that Coleman thus contemplated that "the claims be 

independent, not that the actual innocence claim be independent of the evidence underly ing" the 

other constitutional claim of error. (Emphasis in the original.) Martinez, 2021 IL App (1st) 190490 

1 104; but see People v. Griffin , 2022 IL App (1st) 191101-B, ~ 33 (rejecting the suggestion that 

Coleman overruled Robley or Orange) . We agree with Martinez and therefore will address 

defendant's actual innocence claim. 

~ 65 "To establish a claim of actual innocence, the suppo11ing evidence must be (1) newly 

discovered, (2) material and not cumulative, and (3) of such conclusive character that it would 

probably change the result on retrial." Robinson, 2020 IL 123849, ~ 47. The conclusive character 

element is the most important in an actual innocence claim. Id. 

~ 66 Pena's affidavit and Microtrace's GSR test results lack such conclusive character, as they 

do not place the tria l evidence in a different light or undermine our confidence in defendant's 

conviction. Id. ~ 48 (stating the appropriate standard when considering, in an actual innocence 

claim, whether the factfinder would reach a different resu lt when looking at prior evidence along 

with the new evidence). Microtrace's negative test was far from conclusive. Although Microtrace 

did not find evidence that the sweatshirt "was in the immediate vicinity of a discharged firearm," 
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it could not determine that "this sweatshirt was not in the immediate vicinity of a discharged 

firearm." (Emphasis added.) Berk testified similarly at trial that transfer of GSR to clothing "would 

not be definite." Also, Pena did not observe the shooting. His statements therefore add nothing to 

the identification issue where Nathaniel, Gritzenbach, and Cortes testified that they observed the 

shooting, and they identified defendant as the shooter. As such, defendant has made no substantial 

showing of actual innocence. Therefore, the circuit court properly dismissed defendant's actual 

innocence claim . . 

~ 67 For the foregoing reasons, we find that defendant has not made a substantial showing of 

actual innocence or ineffective assistance of trial. counsel and affirm the circuit comt's dismissal 

of his successive petition without an evidentiary hearing. 

1j 68 Affirmed. 
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